Clinical Screening and Identification of Sarcopenic Obesity in Adults with Knee Osteoarthritis

by

Kristine D. Godziuk

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

In

Rehabilitation Science

Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine University of Alberta

© Kristine D. Godziuk, 2019

ABSTRACT

Background: Obesity [defined using body mass index (BMI)] is associated with knee osteoarthritis (OA) and increased surgical infection risk in total knee arthroplasty (TKA). However sarcopenic obesity, a phenotype of low muscle mass with high fat mass, may have greater relevance and implications for adverse outcomes in this clinical population. This condition may be present in patients with knee OA but not identified using BMI measures alone. Sarcopenic obesity is associated with surgical infection, disability, and risk of mortality in other clinical populations, but not well-examined in clinical populations with OA. The purpose of this thesis was to examine sarcopenic obesity in adults with knee OA with respect to prevalence, diagnostic screening, and functional implications.

Objectives: 1) determine the current breadth and extent of evidence on sarcopenic obesity in adults with knee OA; 2) assess the prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in a clinical cohort of adults with end-stage knee OA using accepted diagnostic criteria. Further, determine if there are differences in pain, physical function and quality of life between those identified with and without sarcopenic obesity, and; 3) determine which strength or physical function measures and patient characteristics are associated with low muscle mass (relevant to sarcopenic obesity), and could be used to screen patients with knee OA and obesity in clinical practice.

Methods: This thesis includes three separate but inter-related studies: 1) a scoping review; 2) a cross-sectional clinical study, and; 3) an additional analysis of the cross-sectional cohort. The scoping review utilized a systematic search of Medline, CINAHL, Web of Science and EMBASE databases for keywords and subject headings related to obesity, sarcopenia and osteoarthritis. The cross-sectional study included adults with a BMI \geq 30 kg/m² and unilateral or bilateral knee OA. Body composition was measured in 151 patients (59% female, mean age

ii

65.1±7.9 years, mean BMI 37.1±5.5 kg/m²) using dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA). Appendicular skeletal muscle mass (ASM) (adjusted to height², weight, and BMI) was used to identify muscle mass, and was compared to previously established sex-specific cut-points. Strength and physical performance were assessed with gait speed over four metres, the sixminute walk test, and maximal handgrip strength (absolute, and relative, adjusted by BMI). Patient-reported pain and function were assessed using the Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC), and health-related quality of life was assessed using the EuroQol Foundation 5-dimension 5-level instrument (EQ-5D-5L).

Results: The scoping review found only three clinical studies on sarcopenic obesity in adults with knee OA, identifying a knowledge gap and need to clarify prevalence in a North American clinical sample. The cross-sectional study found the prevalence of sarcopenic obesity varied depending on diagnostic approach (1.3% using ASM/height², 14.6% using ASM/weight, 27.2% using ASM/BMI, and 8.6% using a combined approach with low muscle and low strength or function). Regardless of the diagnostic approach used, patients with sarcopenic obesity had lower walking speed and endurance, and a higher proportion reported problems on the self-care dimension of the EQ-5D, compared to patients without this condition. In the analysis from the third study, relative grip strength and sex were associated with low muscle mass in this sample. Relative grip strength cut-points of $<0.65 \text{ kg/m}^2$ in females and $<1.1 \text{ kg/m}^2$ in males were identified as discriminators of low strength. When used in combination with low ASM/BMI, the prevalence of sarcopenic obesity was 19.9%. Patients identified with sarcopenic obesity had slower walking speed, lower walking endurance, and poorer health-related quality of life. Conclusions: This research demonstrates that sarcopenic obesity was present in a sample of adults with obesity and knee OA. Prevalence varied depending on diagnostic approach, however

sarcopenic obesity negatively influenced mobility and quality of life in this patient population. Early identification of sarcopenic obesity in the clinical setting is important to prevent and minimize further muscle loss. Relative grip strength could be used to screen for low strength in patients with knee OA and obesity. Patients with low strength could then complete a body composition assessment to determine the presence of low muscle mass, and confirm or refute the identification of sarcopenic obesity.

PREFACE

This thesis is an original work by Kristine D. Godziuk. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Human Research Ethics Board, titled "Sarcopenia screening and risk assessment in adults with osteoarthritis and obesity," PRO 00070266, January 26, 2017.

Chapter 2 of this thesis was published as K. Godziuk, C.M. Prado, L.J. Woodhouse, and M. Forhan, "The Impact of Sarcopenic Obesity on Knee and Hip Osteoarthritis: A Scoping Review," *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 19:270, 2018. K. Godziuk was responsible for study design, data collection, analysis and manuscript composition. M. Forhan was the supervisory author and involved with all aspects of the study. C.M. Prado and L.J. Woodhouse contributed to study design, interpretation of results, and manuscript edits.

Chapter 3 of this thesis was published as K. Godziuk, C.M. Prado, L.J. Woodhouse, and M. Forhan, "Prevalence of Sarcopenic Obesity in Adults with End-Stage Knee Osteoarthritis," *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, In Press, 2019. K. Godziuk was responsible for study design, data collection, analysis and manuscript composition. M. Forhan was the supervisory author and involved with all aspects of the study. C.M. Prado and L.J. Woodhouse contributed to study design, interpretation of results, and manuscript edits.

Chapter 4 of this thesis was submitted for publication as K. Godziuk, L.J. Woodhouse, C.M. Prado, and M. Forhan, "Clinical Screening and Identification of Sarcopenic Obesity in End-Stage Knee Osteoarthritis". K. Godziuk was responsible for study design, data collection, analysis and manuscript composition. M. Forhan was the supervisory author and involved with all aspects of the study. L.J. Woodhouse and C.M. Prado contributed to study design, interpretation of results, and manuscript edits.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Mary Forhan, for her encouragement, expertise, and guidance over the past four years. How quickly this time has passed. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Carla M. Prado and Dr. Linda J. Woodhouse. Together, this amazing trio of scientists challenged my thinking and believed in my abilities. I am thankful for their thoughtful perspectives, constructive critiques, and the opportunities they provided to support my growth and development in this research journey.

I am especially grateful to the patients and staff from the Edmonton Bone and Joint Centre in Edmonton, Alberta, for their participation and support of this research. Thank you also to the student research assistants from the Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine who assisted with the data collection.

Finally, thank you to the Alberta Bone and Joint Health Institute, Mitacs Canada, and the Alberta Health Services Diabetes, Obesity and Nutrition Strategic Clinical Network for the funding support to complete this work.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTR	LCT	ii
PREFACE		
ACKNC	WLEDGEMENTS	vi
TABLE	OF CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF	TABLES	x
LIST OF	FIGURES	xi
LIST OF	ABBREVIATIONS	xii
CHAPT	CR 1	1
1.1	Introduction	1
1.2	Background	2
1.3	Osteoarthritis and Obesity	2
1.4	Sarcopenic Obesity	5
1.5	Sarcopenic Obesity and Osteoarthritis	6
1.6	Sarcopenic Obesity Identification	8
1.6.	Low Muscle Mass	8
1.6.	Low Strength or Low Function	10
1.7	Treatment of Sarcopenic Obesity	12
1.8	Theoretical Framework	13
1.9	Statement of the Problem	14
1.10	Research Process	14
1.11	Research Questions	15
1.11	1 Study One	15
1.11	2 Study Two	15
1.11	3 Study Three	15
1.12	References	17
CHAPT	ER 2	27
2.1	Synopsis	27
2.2	Abstract	27
2.3	Background	
2.4	Methods	

2.5	Results	
2.6	Discussion	
2.7	Conclusion	
2.8	References	44
CHAPTER 3		
3.1	Synopsis	
3.2	Abstract	
3.3	3.3 Introduction	
3.4	Methods	
3.5	.5 Results	
3.6	6 Discussion	
3.7	Conclusions	
3.8	References	
CHAPT	ER 4	80
4.1	Synopsis	80
4.2	Abstract	80
4.3 Introduction		
4.4	Methods	
4.5	Results	
4.6	Discussion	
4.7	Conclusion	
4.8	References	
CHAPTER 5		
5.1	Discussion	
5.1	1 Study One	
5.1	2 Study Two	
5.1	3 Study Three	
5.2	Integrated Discussion	
5.3	Strengths and Limitations	
5.4	Recommendations for Future Directions	
5.4	1 Research	
5.4	2 Clinical Practice	

5.5	Conclusions	121
5.6	References	122
BIBLIOGRAPHY 12		
APPEN	DICES	
APPEN	DIX A - Participant Information and Consent	144
APPEN	DIX B - DXA Scan Information and Consent	
APPEN	DIX C - Participant Information and Map for DXA Scan Appointment	
APPEN	DIX D - Participant Demographic Information Form	153
APPEN	DIX E - Data Collection Form	
APPEN	DIX F - Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index	
APPEN	DIX G - EuroQol Foundation EQ-5D-5L	159

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Studies reporting low skeletal muscle mass and/or muscle weakness in adults with	
obesity and knee or hip osteoarthritis	36
Table 3.1. Patient characteristics, by sex	59
Table 3.2. Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity by diagnostic criteria	65
Table 3.3. Difference in outcomes by sarcopenic obesity status and diagnostic criteria	68
Table 4.1. Description of patient cohort, n=151 adults with knee OA and obesity	88
Table 4.2. Bivariate correlations in sample (n=151)	89
Table 4.3. Univariable associations and final model of patient characteristics and muscle	
function measures associated with low muscle mass	90
Table 4.4. Sensitivity analyses of proposed relative grip strength cut-points to identify low	
muscle mass in n=151 adults with knee OA	94
Table 4.5. Differences in physical performance and patient-reported measures by sarcopenic	
obesity status in n=151 patients with knee OA	96

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. Relationship between aging, obesity and osteoarthritis and the development of
sarcopenic obesity
Figure 2.2. Systematic search strategy and results
Figure 3.1.a. Fat mass variability
Figure 3.1.b. Muscle mass variability
Figure 3.2.a. Overlap of different diagnostic criteria for sarcopenic obesity identified by low
muscle mass alone
Figure 3.2.b. Overlap of identification of low muscle mass, function or strength in study
population
Figure 4.1. Receiver operating characteristic curve and area under the curve (AUC) of predicted
probabilities from logistic regression model to identify low muscle mass in n=151 adults with
knee OA
Figure 4.2. Receiver operating characteristic curve and area under the curve (AUC) for relative
grip strength to identify low muscle mass, stratified by sex, in n=151 adults with knee OA 92
Figure 4.3. Algorithm to detect and identify sarcopenic obesity in adults with knee OA and
obesity

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ASM	Appendicular Skeletal Muscle Mass
BMI	Body Mass Index
DXA	Dual-Energy X-ray Absorptiometry
EQ-5D	EuroQol Foundation Five Dimension Quality of Life Measure
FM	Fat Mass
ICD-10	International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision
OA	Osteoarthritis
OR	Odds Ratio
TKA	Total Knee Arthroplasty
VAS	Visual Analogue Score on the EQ-5D
WOMAC	Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index
6MWT	Six-Minute Walk Test

CHAPTER 1

1.1 Introduction

This doctoral thesis is an original body of work. It is a paper-based thesis that includes two peer-reviewed publications (Chapters 2 and 3), and one manuscript submitted to a peerreview journal (Chapter 4).

The purpose of this thesis was to contribute to a better understanding of sarcopenic obesity in adults with knee OA with respect to prevalence, diagnostic screening, and functional implications. This thesis includes five chapters. Chapter 1 provides background information on osteoarthritis, obesity and sarcopenia that informed the rationale for the thesis. This background assists in understanding the issues that led to the development of the research questions. This chapter also outlines the problem statement and specific research objectives of each study. Chapter 2 describes a scoping review study that aimed to determine the current breadth and extent of evidence on sarcopenic obesity in knee OA. Chapter 3 describes a cross-sectional clinical study that aimed to assess the prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in adults with end-stage knee OA. This study also explored the use of varied diagnostic approaches for sarcopenic obesity and the implications of this condition on pain, function and quality of life. Chapter 4 describes a further analysis of the clinical sample to determine which muscle function measures and patient characteristics were associated with low muscle mass (and relevant to sarcopenic obesity). These variables were then applied to identify subgroups of patients with and without sarcopenic obesity to compare outcomes of pain, function and quality of life. Chapter 5 provides a summary of the main results from this thesis research, with discussion on limitations, future directions, and relevance to clinical practice. This thesis contributes important findings and adds to clinical

knowledge on sarcopenic obesity in adults with knee OA, with potential to impact changes in OA care settings. Further, sarcopenic obesity is an important and relevant condition requiring attention and awareness from rehabilitation practitioners, as it can significantly influence functional mobility and quality of life.

1.2 Background

There is growing awareness and consideration of muscle as a relevant and vital organ for maintaining health and mobility in middle-aged and older adults. In particular, loss of muscle mass that can occur alongside aging and chronic diseases (originally defined as sarcopenia) has been identified as a key area of concern. Sarcopenia can occur across the age spectrum¹, and also in individuals with a body mass index (BMI) classified as obese (termed sarcopenic obesity). Yet muscle loss may not be recognized in the presence of higher adiposity². Sarcopenic obesity may be present in adults with knee osteoarthritis (OA) and obesity, but missed by current assessment procedures that consider BMI alone³. Importantly, OA-related factors and weight loss recommendations for obesity could be contributing to the development and progression of this condition. As sarcopenia is now considered a reportable disease by the World Health Organization (WHO) with an International Classification of Diseases ICD-10 diagnostic code (M62.84)^{4,5}, it is important to increase knowledge and identification of this condition in adults with OA and obesity.

1.3 Osteoarthritis and Obesity

Osteoarthritis (OA) is a chronic and progressive joint disease that results in inflammation and damage to joint structures, primarily the synovium, articular cartilage and subchondral bone⁶. It occurs most frequently in the knee joint, but can also occur in the hip, feet, spine and hands. OA is characterized by joint pain and stiffness, which can limit physical function and

activity. OA-related pain can lead to a vicious cycle of inactivity, driving further declines in physical function, and resulting in impaired mobility, reduced quality of life, and increased use of healthcare resources^{7,8}. OA is the leading cause of disability in Canada⁹. With a prevalence projected to double to one in four adults by the year 2040⁹, it remains an important condition to address in healthcare.

Prevalence of OA increases with age, although it also affects young and middle-aged adults (nearly 60% of individuals with OA are younger than age 65)¹⁰. OA development is linked with obesity, however sex, genetics and injury or trauma are also strong risk factors. Obesity contributes to OA development and progression through several mechanisms. This includes adiposity-related systemic inflammation that impacts the integrity of the joint synovium, cartilage, bone and surrounding muscle¹¹, and through increased biomechanical joint stress related to higher body mass¹². Obesity can alter centre of mass and gait kinematics, resulting in increased strain and wear on the medial and lateral aspects of the knee joint^{12,13}. The relationship between obesity and OA progression differs between joints, but it has a stronger association with the knee¹⁴. As a result, current OA treatment guidelines recommend weight loss in patients with knee OA who are overweight or have obesity, to reduce compressive forces on the joint^{15,16}.

Unfortunately OA is a progressive disease, with no known cure. In some patients the disease will advance to an end-stage where there is significant pain and disability that is not ameliorated by conservative treatment. When this occurs, a surgical joint replacement (called a total knee arthroplasty, or TKA) is currently the best treatment available¹⁷. Although TKA is performed most frequently in adults over 65 years of age¹⁸, individuals with obesity need TKA at an earlier age (typically between 45 and 64 years of age)¹⁰. This age group also has the highest rates of obesity in Canada^{19,20}. TKA at an earlier age could mean a revision surgery will be

needed within the individuals' lifespan to replace worn prosthetic joint components²¹. With TKA demand currently outpacing capacity, and projected to continue²², this could have important economic consequences for healthcare.

TKA in adults with obesity is associated with increased surgical infection risk when BMI is $\geq 30 \text{ kg/m}^2$, and greater risk when BMI is $\geq 40 \text{ kg/m}^{223,24}$. A patients' BMI is often used as a clinical indicator of surgical risk, whereby orthopedic surgeons may deny TKA based on patients' BMI²⁵, or require weight loss before deeming the patient eligible for surgery²⁴. This can result in delays in surgery for patients with obesity^{26,27}, which could result in further deterioration of function in these individuals, potentially confounding TKA outcomes. Recovery times have been reported as longer after TKA in patients with obesity²⁸, however this could be due to poorer pre-operative function levels in adults with obesity as a result of surgical delays²⁹.

The use of BMI as a surrogate measure of surgical risk continues despite clear evidence that BMI is a poor measure of individual-level body compositions that impact health^{30–33}. BMI is not correlated with muscle or bone mass compartments³⁴, and its relationship with adiposity is limited when considering individual health care and surgical decisions^{35,36}. Body composition may be more relevant than BMI when considering surgical treatments for end-stage knee OA. Studies by Ledford et al.^{37,38} found percent body fat (assessed using bioelectrical impendence analysis) had stronger associations with surgical risk and functional recovery after TKA compared to BMI. While the influence of muscle mass on surgical risk and recovery was not considered, this suggests the value of looking beyond BMI and examining body composition in this population.

1.4 Sarcopenic Obesity

A body composition phenotype termed sarcopenic obesity may be important in OA. Sarcopenia is a health condition defined by the presence of low muscle mass with low muscle strength or performance, originally investigated in older adults³⁹ but known to occur across the age spectrum¹. When sarcopenia occurs alongside high fat mass, it is termed sarcopenic obesity^{40,41}. However sarcopenic obesity may be more accurately considered a relative deficiency in the ratio between muscle mass and fat mass (not just an absolute value of low muscle mass)^{42,43}. Whether there are additional distinctions between sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity remains unclear^{44,45}.

The development of sarcopenic obesity is influenced by both age-related and diseaserelated factors that drive muscle loss and adiposity gains. With aging there is a shift in body composition, with increasing adiposity and reduced muscle mass resulting from changes that include altered endocrine function⁴⁶. These changes become pronounced after age 50 years⁴⁷ and can be further accelerated by the presence of chronic diseases such as diabetes, insulin resistance, and hypertension^{2,41,48,49}. Physical inactivity, nutritional status, and weight cycling can also contribute to body composition changes by increasing fat mass accretion and muscle loss^{2,50–52}.

Sarcopenic obesity has been identified in adults of middle-age (40-64.9 years of age)^{42,53,54}, and is associated with more severe physical function impairments compared to either sarcopenia or obesity alone^{53,55}. Importantly, this condition is often missed by routine clinical assessments, with obesity masking the accelerated reduction in muscle mass³. Until disability is present, this condition may not be discerned without more rigorous screening. Additionally, by not recognizing sarcopenic obesity in this group, clinical recommendations that aim to improve

health (i.e. weight loss recommendations for obesity) could exacerbate this condition by further reducing already low muscle mass⁵⁶, creating a vicious cycle.

Sarcopenic obesity is a condition that requires attention in health care settings. It is associated with increased surgical infection risk in cardiology⁵⁷, and surgical complications and shorter survival in oncology^{58–60}. In other clinical populations it is associated with systemic inflammation⁶¹, poorer physical performance⁶¹, increased risk of falls⁶², disability⁶³, and risk of mortality^{64,65}. This condition could be impacting function, disability and surgical outcomes in adults with OA.

1.5 Sarcopenic Obesity and Osteoarthritis

Individuals with OA may be at higher risk of sarcopenic obesity. Adipose-related metabolic and inflammation pathways associated with OA development and progression^{12,66} are also associated with sarcopenia development and progression². Whether sarcopenia influences OA development or the reverse is still unclear⁶⁷. Regardless, both Karlsson et al.^{68,69} and Erturk et al.⁷⁰ have identified a body composition phenotype of low muscle mass with high adiposity in adults with end-stage knee OA. Further, a cross-sectional study by Lee et al.⁷¹ reported a stronger association between sarcopenic obesity and knee OA (OR 3.51) compared to obesity or sarcopenia alone (OR 2.38 and 0.94, respectively), when controlled for age and sex.

Although fat mass and BMI are associated with knee OA development^{72,73}, the influence of muscle mass is still unclear. A five year longitudinal study by Misra et al.⁷⁴ found both obesity alone and sarcopenic obesity increased the risk of development of knee OA. There was no increased risk with sarcopenia alone, suggesting that adiposity or a higher body mass were primary influencers in the development of knee OA (rather than low muscle mass). A thirteen year longitudinal study by Munugoda et al.⁷² found that higher muscle mass was associated with

a lower relative risk for TKA (RR 0.96), compared to fat mass, waist circumference and BMI (RR 1.04, 1.03, and 1.08, respectively). This could indicate that a body composition with a higher component of muscle mass may be protective from needing TKA. Clarity is still needed on the role of muscle mass and sarcopenic obesity on OA development and progression.

Sarcopenic obesity may also be relevant in OA treatment, but this has not been wellexamined in the literature. It is reasonable that physical function impairments related to sarcopenic obesity⁷⁵ would be important to consider when determining therapeutic treatment approaches in patients with OA. However, if impairments are primarily due to sarcopenic obesity rather than OA, or impairments are compounded by the presence of both conditions, this could change the accuracy of established functional assessment (i.e. gait speed or timed up and go tests) thresholds used to determine OA severity, appropriateness for TKA, or post-surgical outcomes^{76,77}. In addition, sarcopenia may be a modifiable risk factor for prosthetic infection after arthroplasty⁷⁸. Together, these potential implications require further investigation, supporting the importance of clinical identification and monitoring of treatment outcomes in adults with sarcopenic obesity and knee OA.

Identification of sarcopenic obesity in adults with OA requires additional measures beyond BMI. Results from Lee et al.⁷¹ demonstrate that BMI and body weight in adults with knee OA were similar between groups with obesity versus sarcopenic obesity. This further supports that anthropometric indices alone may not be adequate to identify sarcopenic obesity in this population. Higher fat mass, body weight and BMI may actually disguise important reductions in muscle mass⁵⁹. Utilization of additional identification strategies are required. Identification of sarcopenic obesity early in clinical settings would enable provision of targeted

treatment strategies to maintain muscle mass (and prevent further muscle loss), increase strength and improve physical function⁷⁹.

1.6 Sarcopenic Obesity Identification

Several different approaches have been used in the research literature to identify sarcopenic obesity^{50,80–83}, with the majority using a definition of low muscle mass in combination with a classification of obesity or adiposity. Many of the definitions of low muscle mass are based on criteria defined for sarcopenia. There have been more advances in this area, with several consensus papers published by experts on identification and diagnostic approaches. These include papers by the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older Persons (EWGSOP³⁹ and EWGSOP2)⁴⁴, the International Working Group on Sarcopenia (IWGS)⁸⁴, the Foundation for the National Institute of Health (FNIH)⁸⁵⁻⁸⁸, the Society of Sarcopenia, Cachexia and Wasting Disorders⁸⁹, the European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism Special Interest Groups (ESPEN-SIG)⁹⁰, the Asian Working Group on Sarcopenia⁹¹, 2018 clinical practice guidelines from the International Conference on Frailty and Sarcopenia Research (ICFSR)⁷⁹, and the 2019 Sarcopenia Definitions and Outcomes Consortium Conference $(SDOC)^{92}$. There is agreement across these consensus groups that the presence or absence of sarcopenia in older adults (considered primary sarcopenia⁴⁴) should be based on a combination of low muscle mass with either low strength or low physical function. No consensus papers on sarcopenic obesity have been published, however there is consideration that sarcopenic obesity identification should also include low muscle mass with low strength or function^{82,93,94}.

1.6.1 Low Muscle Mass

Low muscle mass can be assessed using a whole body dual energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) scan, currently considered the reference standard for identification of low muscle in

sarcopenia⁹⁵. DXA enables differentiation of body composition compartments of bone, fat, and lean tissue. The lean tissue compartment includes muscle, connective tissue, skin and organs. Using total lean mass as a surrogate to define low muscle mass can affect the accuracy of the estimate of muscle as it also includes the trunk and organs. Therefore appendicular lean mass (lean mass of both of the arms plus both of the legs) is usually considered instead (herein termed appendicular skeletal muscle, or ASM). It has been suggested that ASM includes 75% of the lean mass in the body⁹⁶. Several definitions and cut-points to distinguish low muscle mass using ASM have been employed in the literature, including absolute ASM^{85,97}, ASM adjusted by height squared (ASM/height²)⁹⁸, ASM adjusted by weight x 100 (ASM/weight)⁹⁹, or ASM adjusted by BMI (ASM/BMI)^{85,97}. Adjusting ASM by a measure of stature or mass is considered important as mobility and physical performance are influenced by body size¹⁰⁰. Cut-points for low muscle mass using ASM/height² have been proposed based on two standard deviations below the mean of a young North American reference population (<7.26 kg/m² in males and <5.45 kg/m² in females)⁹⁸. However using cut-points based on a young reference population may be flawed, as low muscle mass alone is not always associated with adverse outcomes⁸⁵. Cut-points for low muscle mass using ASM/weight were also determined using reference data from young adults ages 20-40 years from the US National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) (<25.72% in males and <19.43% in females)⁹⁹. These may be preferable to ASM/height² as ASM/weight adjusts for the ratio between muscle and non-muscle mass, which may be more relevant for functional mobility. The cut-points for ASM/BMI (<0.789 kg/m² in males and <0.512 kg/m² in females) were established using NHANES data and based on an association with clinically relevant outcomes of weakness^{85,88}, potentially making them the best criteria to

use in adults with obesity¹⁰¹. This is due to a stronger relationship between ASM/BMI and weakness⁸⁸, fear of falling¹⁰², cardiovascular risk¹⁰³, and mortality¹⁰⁴.

Techniques for assessing body composition, other than DXA, have been utilized for identification of low muscle mass. These include magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), computed tomography (CT) scans, and bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA). While MRIs and CT scans are considered more accurate assessments of muscle mass, their higher cost and limited availability (specifically MRIs) and higher radiation exposure (specifically CT scans) limit their use in clinical research and routine practice¹⁰⁵. While BIA is more accessible and less expensive, its accuracy is more variable (particularly in patients with higher adiposity)¹⁰⁶. Newer methods for assessing muscle mass using ultrasound or D3-creatine are currently being developed and tested^{107,108}, but not routinely used.

Although DXA remains as the current reference method for routine assessment of muscle mass⁹⁵, there is evidence of variability in the relationship between DXA derived muscle mass values with important clinical outcomes of mobility, falls and mortality^{92,108}. As the relationship between age-related and disease-related loss of function is only partially explained by a loss of muscle mass, this supports the need to include an assessment of loss of strength or function¹⁰⁹ in the definition of sarcopenic obesity^{93,94}.

1.6.2 Low Strength or Low Function

Varied methods have been used to identify low strength or low function relative to sarcopenia in research and clinical settings. Gait speed (over various distances) is often used as an indicator of function as it has been shown to be predictive of mobility disability and mortality⁸⁹. Gait speed cut-points of $<0.8 \text{ m/s}^{39}$ and $<1.0 \text{ m/s}^{89}$ have been used to indicate low function in individuals with sarcopenia. The six-minute walk test (6MWT) has been shown to be

predictive of hospitalization and mortality in individuals with sarcopenia⁸⁹, and it is commonly used as an assessment of function for OA¹¹⁰. Although a single cut-point of 400 m has been suggested to indicate low function in sarcopenia⁸⁹, 6MWT distance can vary depending on age, sex and height¹¹⁰. Further, 6MWT distances below 400 m are commonly reported in patients with knee OA waiting for TKA¹¹¹. The challenge in identifying low function that is related to sarcopenic obesity in adults with knee OA is that reduced gait speed or 6MWT distance could instead be related to OA-associated pain or stiffness. Additionally, obesity is independently associated with impaired mobility in older adults¹¹². These influences of OA and obesity on function could introduce confounding or limit the applicability of physical function assessments to identify sarcopenic obesity-related impairments.

Measures of low strength are also subject to this potential confounding due to OA, depending on the test. Handgrip (grip) strength is commonly used in sarcopenia screening, and has recently been recommended by the EWGSOP2 as a diagnostic tool⁴⁴. Low grip strength is associated with higher odds of impaired mobility, poor or fair self-rated health, increased disability¹¹³, and increased mortality¹¹⁴. Grip strength may be better than lower body strength tests (i.e. leg extensor strength) for adults with knee OA, as OA-related pain and stiffness may limit the ability to exert a maximal contraction at the knee. However, systemic inflammatoryrelated OA could also affect the hand joints in addition to the knee joints. Low grip strength has been associated with knee OA¹¹⁵, suggesting there may be limitations to its use in assessing low strength related to sarcopenic obesity.

Few studies in sarcopenic obesity have included measures of low strength or function in their diagnostic definition¹¹⁶, so there is limited data to support which measures are preferential.

Therefore, strength and function tests recommended and used for sarcopenia are currently the best available methods.

1.7 Treatment of Sarcopenic Obesity

A detailed examination of treatment approaches for sarcopenic obesity is beyond the scope and purpose of this thesis. However an understanding of current treatments for sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity provides support and context for the importance of early clinical identification of this condition to preserve current muscle, and prevent inadvertent treatment recommendations that could hasten muscle loss progression.

Weight loss is routinely recommended for adults with obesity and knee OA, including patients with end-stage disease who are considering TKA. However recommending weight loss before TKA may inadvertently result in further muscle loss in patients who have sarcopenic obesity, exacerbating an already deleterious situation. Weight loss recommendations in adults with knee OA must examine the cost-benefit, as weight loss can contribute to muscle loss and functional decline, and perpetuate a vicious cycle. Muscle mass that is lost in conjunction with fat mass during caloric restriction is often not regained, even with a corresponding increase in weight as weight regain is primarily through increased adipose mass¹¹⁷. This further widens the disrupted body composition ratio between muscle and adipose mass, and could actually cause the onset of sarcopenic obesity if not already present⁸⁰. Further, while exercise in conjunction with diet can attenuate some of the loss of muscle, patients with knee OA may be limited in their ability to exercise due to OA-related pain.

While a pharmacologic treatment for sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity is the target of many studies and clinical trials, currently resistance training exercise and adequate protein intake are the primary effective approaches^{93,118,119}. Therefore the focus of sarcopenia treatment is

preventing, limiting and treating further alternations in muscle mass⁹³. Weight loss in older adults could worsen sarcopenia⁹⁴. A study by Villareal et al.¹²⁰ showed that using diet alone, older adults lost a mean 3.2 kg of muscle mass over the period of six months. Clinical trials examining weight loss have shown that muscle mass declines concomitantly with diet only approaches, which is only partially mitigated when combined with exercise¹²⁰. Additionally, weight loss can inadvertently result in loss of bone mass¹²¹. This could increase fracture risk, and potentially increase the risk of early prosthetic revision after TKA as bone is critical to hold the joint implant in place. Importantly, muscle and bone lost through voluntary or recommended weight loss may not be regained, even with future weight increases¹²¹. Further, there may be limitations in muscle gains with resistance training in older adults. A study in men and women ages 60-80 show the highest increase in muscle mass was only 1 kg after 6 months of training¹²². Considering that OA pain-related inactivity further influences muscle loss, preservation of existing muscle may need to be prioritized in adults with end-stage knee OA. Despite these indications, recommendations for weight loss in adults with obesity and end-stage knee OA prevail. Until clear evidence on sarcopenic obesity in knee OA can be provided, this is likely to continue.

1.8 Theoretical Framework

The research in this thesis is guided by the *International Classification of Functioning*, *Disability and Health (ICF)*¹²³, a conceptual framework published by the World Health Organization (WHO) in 2001. This framework contextualizes the complex development of disability through interactions between body structures/functions, activity and participation (within the milieu of personal and environmental factors). The ICF framework enables an exploration of the complex influences and interactions between OA, obesity and sarcopenia that contribute to a loss of function and the onset of disability¹²⁴. Each of these conditions uniquely impacts the structural integrity of the body (joint cartilage, synovium, bone, muscle and adipose tissues), and each can independently lead to impaired function, increased difficulty completing activities of daily living, and restricted participation in home, work or social tasks. Further, the co-presence of all three (OA, obesity and sarcopenia) can add complexity and possibly compounding influence on disability.

1.9 Statement of the Problem

Sarcopenic obesity is an important health condition requiring increased awareness, attention and identification in OA clinical care settings. It is likely occurring in patients with knee OA, potentially impacting TKA and rehabilitation outcomes, but missed by current assessment methods that only consider BMI measures alone.

The purpose of this thesis was to contribute to increased understanding of sarcopenic obesity in adults with knee OA with respect to prevalence, diagnostic screening, and functional implications.

1.10 Research Process

This thesis consists of three studies designed to 1) identify current evidence and knowledge gaps around sarcopenic obesity in clinical populations with knee OA, 2) explore and describe the occurrence, identification and implications of sarcopenic obesity on pain, function and quality of life in a clinical population with knee OA, and 3) examine methods to better identify this condition early in clinical knee OA settings (to support the provision of appropriate treatment approaches and recommendations). The results from these three studies will build upon each other respectively, and taken together will improve our understanding of sarcopenic obesity in adults with knee OA.

1.11 Research Questions

1.11.1 Study One

Study one (Chapter 2) aimed to determine the current breadth and extent of evidence on sarcopenic obesity in knee OA. This study used a scoping review methodology to systematically examine the extent of the published scientific literature on this topic. It was theorised that there would be few clinical studies and limited evidence on sarcopenic obesity in patients with knee OA.

1.11.2 Study Two

Study two (Chapter 3) aimed to assess the prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in a clinical sample of adults with end-stage knee OA. Specifically, we intended to determine the proportion of patients who had sarcopenic obesity using currently accepted diagnostic criteria. Further, we would determine if there were differences in pain, physical function and quality of life between those identified with and without sarcopenic obesity. It was hypothesized that sarcopenic obesity prevalence would be $\geq 10\%$ in this population based on prevalence rates reported in other clinical and community populations. It was further hypothesized that adults with sarcopenic obesity would have poorer physical function and quality of life compared to those without sarcopenic obesity.

1.11.3 Study Three

Study three (Chapter 4) aimed to determine which strength or physical function measures and patient characteristics were associated with low muscle mass (relevant to sarcopenic obesity), and could be used to screen patients with knee OA and obesity in the clinical setting. It was hypothesized that gait speed and grip strength would not be the best muscle function

measures to screen for sarcopenic obesity due to the influence of OA and obesity on gait parameters and grip strength.

1.12 References

- Cherin P, Voronska E, Fraoucene N, De Jaeger C. Prevalence of sarcopenia among healthy ambulatory subjects: The sarcopenia begins from 45 years. *Aging Clin Exp Res*. 2014;26(2):137-146. doi:10.1007/s40520-013-0132-8
- 2. Zamboni M, Mazzali G, Fantin F, Rossi A, Di Francesco V. Sarcopenic obesity: A new category of obesity in the elderly. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2008;18(5):388-395. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2007.10.002
- 3. Toomey C, Leahy S, McCreesh K, Coote S, Jakeman P. The body composition phenotype of Irish adults aged 18–81 years. *Ir J Med Sci.* 2016;185:537-544. doi:10.1007/s11845-015-1338-x
- 4. Cao L, Morley JE, Rosenberg H, et al. Sarcopenia Is Recognized as an Independent Condition by an International Classification of Disease, Tenth Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-10-CM) Code. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*. 2016;17(8):675-677. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2016.06.001
- 5. Vellas B, Fielding R, Bens C, et al. Implications of ICD-10 for sarcopenia clinical practice and clinical trials: Report by the International Conference on Frailty and Sarcopenia Research Task Force. *J Frailty Aging*. 2018;7(1).
- 6. Arden N, Blanco F, Cooper C, et al. Atlas of Osteoarthritis. Springer Healthcare; 2014.
- 7. Stubbs B, Hurley M, Smith T. What are the factors that influence physical activity participation in individuals with knee and hip osteoarthritis? A systematic review of physical activity correlates. *Clin Rehabil.* 2015;29(1):80-94. doi:10.1177/0269215514538069
- 8. daCosta Dibonaventura M, Gupta S, McDonald M, Sadosky A. Evaluating the health and economic impact of osteoarthritis pain in the workforce: results from the National Health and Wellness Survey. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2011;12(1):83. doi:10.1186/1471-2474-12-83
- 9. Bombardier C, Hawker G, Mosher D. The impact of arthritis in Canada: Today and over the next 30 years. *Arthritis Alliance of Canada*. 2011. http://www.arthritisalliance.ca.
- 10. Public Health Agency of Canada. *Life with Arthritis in Canada: A Personal and Public Health Challenge.* Ottawa; 2010. Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada.
- 11. Belluzzi E, El Hadi H, Granzotto M, et al. Systemic and Local Adipose Tissue in Knee Osteoarthritis. *J Cell Physiol*. 2017;232(8):1971-1978. doi:10.1002/jcp.25716
- 12. Thijssen E, van Caam A, van der Kraan PM. Obesity and osteoarthritis, more than just wear and tear: pivotal roles for inflamed adipose tissue and dyslipidaemia in obesity-induced osteoarthritis. *Rheumatology*. 2015;54(4):588-600. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keu464
- 13. Lai PPK, Leung AKL, Li ANM, Zhang M. Three-dimensional gait analysis of obese adults. *Clin Biomech*. 2008;23(SUPLL.1):2-6. doi:10.1016/j.clinbiomech.2008.02.004

- 14. Wang Y, Simpson JA, Wluka AE, et al. Relationship between body adiposity measures and risk of primary knee and hip replacement for osteoarthritis: a prospective cohort study. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2009;11(2):1-10. doi:10.1186/ar2636
- Nelson AE, Allen KD, Golightly YM, Goode AP, Jordan JM. A systematic review of recommendations and guidelines for the management of osteoarthritis: The Chronic Osteoarthritis Management Initiative of the U.S. Bone and Joint Initiative. *Semin Arthritis Rheum*. 2014;43(6):701-712. doi:10.1016/j.semarthrit.2013.11.012
- McAlindon TE, Bannuru RR, Sullivan MC, et al. OARSI guidelines for the non-surgical management of knee osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthr Cartil*. 2014;22(3):363-388. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2014.01.003
- 17. Skou ST, Roos EM, Laursen MB, et al. Total knee replacement and non-surgical treatment of knee osteoarthritis: 2-year outcome from two parallel randomized controlled trials. *Osteoarthr Cartil*. 2018:1-11. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2018.04.014
- 18. Canadian Institute for Health Information. *Hip and Knee Replacements in Canada: Canadian Joint Replacement Registry 2015 Annual Report.*; 2015. https://se-cure.cihi.ca/free_products/CJRR_2015_Annual_Report_EN.pdf.
- Overweight and Obese Adults (self-reported), 2014. Statistics Canada. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-625-x/2015001/article/14185-eng.htm. Accessed August 19, 2016.
- 20. Navaneelan T, Janz T. Adjusting the scales: obesity in the Canadian population after correcting for respondent bias. *Stat Canada, Heal a Glance*. 2014;May. doi:10.1787/health_glance-2009-en
- 21. Gioe TJ, Novak C, Sinner P, Ma W, Mehle S. Knee Arthroplasty in the Young Patient. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2007;PAP(464):83-87. doi:10.1097/BLO.0b013e31812f79a9
- 22. Pabinger C, Lothaller H, Geissler A. Utilization rates of knee-arthroplasty in OECD countries. *Osteoarthr Cartil*. 2015;23(10):1664-1673. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2015.05.008
- Samson AJ, Mercer GE, Campbell DG. Total knee replacement in the morbidly obese: A literature review. ANZ J Surg. 2010;80(9):595-599. doi:10.1111/j.1445-2197.2010.05396.x
- 24. Springer B, Parvizi J, Austin M, et al. Obesity and total joint arthroplasty. A literature based review. *J Arthroplasty*. 2013;28(5):714-721. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2013.02.011
- 25. Dowsey MM, Gunn J, Choong PFM. Selecting those to refer for joint replacement: Who will likely benefit and who will not? *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol*. 2014;28(1):157-171. doi:10.1016/j.berh.2014.01.005
- 26. Roth KC, Bessems G. Sorry, but you will have to lose weight before receiving your knee replacement. *Erasmus J Med.* 2013;3(2):54-57.
- 27. Springer BD, Carter JT, McLawhorn AS, et al. Obesity and the role of bariatric surgery in the surgical management of osteoarthritis of the hip and knee: a review of the literature. *Surg Obes Relat Dis.* 2016:1-8. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.soard.2016.09.011

- Jones CA, Cox V, Jhangri GS, Suarez-Almazor ME. Delineating the impact of obesity and its relationship on recovery after total joint arthroplasties. *Osteoarthr Cartil.* 2012;20(6):511-518. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2012.02.637
- 29. Guenther D, Schmidl S, Klatte T, et al. Overweight and obesity in hip and knee arthroplasty: Evaluation of 6078 cases. *World J Orthop*. 2015;6(1):137. doi:10.5312/wjo.v6.i1.137
- 30. Prado CM, Gonzalez MC, Heymsfield SB. Body composition phenotypes and obesity paradox. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2015;18(6):535-551. doi:10.1097/MCO.0000000000216
- 31. Hita-Contreras F. Traditional body mass index cut-offs in older people: Time for a rethink with altered fat distribution, sarcopenia and shrinking height. *Maturitas*. 2018. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2018.03.010
- 32. Okorodudu D, Jumean M, Montori V, et al. Diagnostic performance of body mass index to identify obesity as defined by body adiposity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Obes*. 2010;34:791-799. doi:10.1111/jipo.242
- 33. Ghachem A, Bagna M, Payette H, Gaudreau P, Brochu M, Dionne IJ. Profiling obesity phenotypes and trajectories in older adults of the Quebec NuAge cohort on nutrition and successful aging: A cluster analysis. *Clin Obes*. 2019:1-11. doi:10.1111/cob.12295
- 34. Abbate LM, Stevens J, Schwartz T a, Renner JB, Helmick CG, Jordan JM. Anthropometric measures, body composition, body fat distribution, and knee osteoarthritis in women. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2006;14(7):1274-1281. doi:10.1038/oby.2006.145
- Padwal R, Leslie WD, Lix LM, Majumdar SR. Relationship among body fat percentage, body mass index, and all-cause mortality. *Ann Intern Med.* 2016;164(8). doi:10.7326/M15-1181
- 36. Oreopoulos A, Fonarow GC, Ezekowitz JA, et al. Do anthropometric indices accurately reflect directly measured body composition in men and women with chronic heart failure? *Congest Hear Fail*. 2011;17(2):90-92. doi:10.1111/j.1751-7133.2010.00204.x
- 37. Ledford CK, Ruberte Thiele RA, Appleton JS, et al. Percent Body Fat More Associated with Perioperative Risks After Total Joint Arthroplasty Than Body Mass Index. *J Arthroplasty*. 2014;29(9):150-154. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2013.12.036
- Ledford CK, Millikan PD, Nickel BT, et al. Percent body fat is more predictive of function after total joint arthroplasty than body mass index. *J Bone Jt Surg.* 2016;98:849-857.
- 39. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis. *Age Ageing*. 2010;39(4):412-423. doi:10.1093/ageing/afq034
- 40. Prado CM, Siervo M, Mire E, et al. A population-based approach to define bodycomposition. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2014:1369-1378. doi:10.3945/ajcn.113.078576.1
- 41. Stenholm S, Harris TB, Rantanen T, Visser M, Kritchevsky SB, Ferrucci L. Sarcopenic obesity: definition, cause and consequences. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*.

2008;11(6):693-700. doi:10.1097/MCO.0b013e328312c37d

- 42. De Rosa E, Santarpia L, Marra M, et al. Preliminary evaluation of the prevalence of sarcopenia in obese patients from Southern Italy. *Nutrition*. 2015;31(1):79-83. doi:10.1016/j.nut.2014.04.025
- 43. Roubenoff R. Sarcopenic obesity: the confluence of two epidemics. *Obes Res.* 2004;12(6):887-888. doi:10.1038/oby.2004.107
- 44. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Bahat G, Bauer J, et al. Sarcopenia: revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis. *Age Ageing*. 2018;(0):1-16. doi:10.1093/ageing/afy169
- 45. Zamboni M, Rubele S, Rossi AP. Sarcopenia and obesity. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2019;22(1):13-19. doi:10.1097/MCO.00000000000519
- 46. Sakuma K, Yamaguchi A. Sarcopenic obesity and endocrinal adaptation with age. *Int J Endocrinol.* 2013;2013. doi:10.1155/2013/204164
- 47. Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Wang Z, Ross R. Skeletal muscle mass and distribution in 468 men and women aged 18–88 yr. *J Appl Physiol*. 2000;89(1):81-88. http://jap.physiology.org/content/89/1/81%5Cnhttp://jap.physiology.org/content/89/1/81.f ull.pdf%5Cnhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10904038.
- Kalyani RR, Corriere M, Ferrucci L. Age-related and disease-related muscle loss: The effect of diabetes, obesity, and other diseases. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol*. 2014;2(10):819-829. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70034-8
- 49. Ma J, Hwang SJ, McMahon GM, et al. Mid-adulthood cardiometabolic risk factor profiles of sarcopenic obesity. *Obesity*. 2016;24(2):526-534. doi:10.1002/oby.21356
- 50. Cauley JA. An overview of sarcopenic obesity. *J Clin Densitom*. 2015;18(4):499-505. doi:10.1016/j.jocd.2015.04.013
- 51. Lee D, Drenowatz C, Blair SN. Physical activity and sarcopenic obesity: definition, assessment, prevalence and mechanism. *Futur Sci.* 2016.
- 52. Poggiogalle E, Migliaccio S, Lenzi A, Donini LM. Treatment of body composition changes in obese and overweight older adults: insight into the phenotype of sarcopenic obesity. *Endocrine*. 2014;47(3):699-716. doi:10.1007/s12020-014-0315-x
- 53. Moreira MA, Zunzunegui M, Vafaei A, da Camara S, Oliveira T, Maciel A. Sarcopenic obesity and physical performance in middle aged women: a cross-sectional study in Northeast Brazil. *BMC Public Health*. 2016;16(43):1-11. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0119480
- 54. Scott D, Sanders KM, Aitken D, Hayes A, Ebeling PR, Jones G. Sarcopenic obesity and dynapenic obesity: 5-year associations with falls risk in middle-aged and older adults. *Obesity*. 2014;22(6):1568-1574. doi:10.1002/oby.20734
- 55. Rolland Y, Lauwers-Cances V, Cristini C, et al. Difficulties with physical function associated with obesity, sarcopenia, and sarcopenic-obesity in community-dwelling elderly women : the EPIDOS (EPIDemiologie de l'OSteoporose) Study. *Am J Clin Nutr*.

2009;89(3):1895-1900. doi:10.3945/ajcn.2008.26950.INTRODUCTION

- 56. Weinheimer EM, Sands LP, Campbellnure WW. A systematic review of the separate and combined effects of energy restriction and exercise on fat-free mass in middle-aged and older adults: Implications for sarcopenic obesity. *Nutr Rev.* 2010;68(7):375-388. doi:10.1111/j.1753-4887.2010.00298.x
- 57. Visser M, van Venrooij LMW, Vulperhorst L, et al. Sarcopenic obesity is associated with adverse clinical outcome after cardiac surgery. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2013;23(6):511-518. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2011.12.001
- 58. Carneiro IP, Mazurak VC, Prado CM. Clinical implications of sarcopenic obesity in cancer. *Curr Oncol Rep.* 2016;18(10). doi:10.1007/s11912-016-0546-5
- 59. Prado CM, Lieffers JR, McCargar LJ, et al. Prevalence and clinical implications of sarcopenic obesity in patients with solid tumours of the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts: a population-based study. *Lancet Oncol.* 2008;9(7):629-635. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70153-0
- 60. Nishigori T, Tsunoda S, Okabe H, et al. Impact of sarcopenic obesity on surgical site infection after laparoscopic total gastrectomy. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2016:524-531. doi:10.1245/s10434-016-5385-y
- 61. Joppa P, Tkacova R, Franssen FME, et al. Sarcopenic obesity, functional outcomes, and systemic inflammation in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2016;17(8):712-718. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2016.03.020
- 62. Öztürk ZA, Türkbeyler IH, Abiyev A, Kul S. Health-related quality of life and fall risk associated with age-related body composition changes; sarcopenia, obesity and sarcopenic obesity. 2017:973-981. doi:10.1111/imj.13935
- 63. Baumgartner RN, Wayne SJ, Waters DL, Janssen I, Gallagher D, Morley JE. Sarcopenic obesity predicts instrumental activities of daily living disability in the elderly. *Obes Res.* 2004;12(12):1995-2004. doi:10.1038/oby.2004.250
- 64. Van Aller C, Lara J, Stephan BCM, et al. Sarcopenic obesity and overall mortality: Results from the application of novel models of body composition phenotypes to the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999–2004. *Clin Nutr*. 2018. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2018.01.022
- 65. Tian S, Xu Y. Association of sarcopenic obesity with the risk of all-cause mortality: A meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* 2016;16:155-166. doi:10.1111/ggi.12579
- 66. Griffin TM, Huffman KM. Insulin resistance: Releasing the brakes on synovial inflammation and osteoarthritis? *Arthritis Rheumatol*. 2016;68(6):1-30. doi:10.1002/art.39586
- 67. Papalia R, Zampogna B, Torre G, et al. Sarcopenia and its relationship with osteoarthritis: Risk factor or direct consequence? *Musculoskelet Surg*. 2014;98(1):9-14. doi:10.1007/s12306-014-0311-6

- 68. Karlsson MK, Magnusson H, Coster M, Karlsson C, Rosengren BE. Patients with knee osteoarthritis have a phenotype with higher bone mass, higher fat mass, and lower lean body mass. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2015;473(1):258-264. doi:10.1007/s11999-014-3973-3
- 69. Karlsson MK, Karlsson C, Magnusson H, et al. Individuals with primary osteoarthritis have different phenotypes depending on the affected joint a case control study from Southern Sweden including 514 participants. *Open Orthop J.* 2014;8:450-456. doi:10.2174/1874325001408010450
- 70. Ertürk C, Altay MA, Sert C, Levent A, Yaptı M, Yüce K. The body composition of patients with knee osteoarthritis: relationship with clinical parameters and radiographic severity. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* 2015;27(5):673-679. doi:10.1007/s40520-015-0325-4
- Lee S, Kim TN, Kim SH. Sarcopenic obesity is more closely associated with knee osteoarthritis than is nonsarcopenic obesity: A cross-sectional study. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2012;64(12):3947-3954. doi:10.1002/art.37696
- 72. Munugoda IP, Wills K, Cicuttini F, et al. The association between ambulatory activity, body composition and hip or knee joint replacement due to osteoarthritis : a prospective cohort study. *Osteoarthr Cartil*. 2018;26(5):671-679. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2018.02.895
- 73. Lohmander LS, Gerhardsson de Verdier M, Rollof J, Nilsson PM, Engström G. Incidence of severe knee and hip osteoarthritis in relation to different measures of body mass: a population-based prospective cohort study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2009;68(4):490-496. doi:10.1136/ard.2008.089748
- 74. Misra D, Fielding RA, Felson DT, et al. Risk of Knee Osteoarthritis With Obesity, Sarcopenic Obesity, and Sarcopenia. *Arthritis Rheumatol*. 2019;71(2):232-237. doi:10.1002/art.40692
- 75. Vlietstra L, Stebbings S, Meredith-Jones K, Haxby Abbott J, Treharne J, Waters DL. Sarcopenia in osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis: The association with self-reported fatigue, physical function and obesity. *PLoS One*. 2019:1-14.
- 76. Oosting E, Hoogeboom TJ, Appelman-de Vries SA, Swets A, Dronkers JJ, van Meeteren NLU. Preoperative prediction of inpatient recovery of function after total hip arthroplasty using performance-based tests: a prospective cohort study. *Disabil Rehabil*. 2016;38(13):1243-1249. doi:10.3109/09638288.2015.1076074
- 77. Shyam Kumar AJ, Beresford-Cleary N, Kumar P, et al. Preoperative grip strength measurement and duration of hospital stay in patients undergoing total hip and knee arthroplasty. *Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol*. 2013;23:553-556. doi:10.1007/s00590-012-1029-5
- Babu JM, Kalagara S, Durand W, Antoci V, Deren ME, Cohen E. Sarcopenia as a Risk Factor for Prosthetic Infection After Total Hip or Knee Arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. 2019;34(1):116-122. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2018.09.037
- 79. Dent E, Morley JE, Cruz-Jentoft AJ, et al. International Clinical Practice Guidelines for Sarcopenia (ICFSR): Screening, Diagnosis and Management. *J Nutr Heal Aging*. 2018.
- 80. Prado CM, Wells JCK, Smith SR, Stephan BCM, Siervo M. Sarcopenic obesity: A critical

appraisal of the current evidence. *Clin Nutr*. 2012;31(5):583-601. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2012.06.010

- Bosy-Westphal A, Müller MJ. Identification of skeletal muscle mass depletion across age and BMI groups in health and disease - there is need for a unified definition. *Int J Obes*. 2015;39(3):379-386. doi:10.1038/ijo.2014.161
- Donini LM, Poggiogalle E, Migliaccio S, Aversa A, Pinto A. Body composition in sarcopenic obesity: Systematic review of the literature. *Med J Nutrition Metab*. 2013;6(3):191-198. doi:10.1007/s12349-013-0135-1
- 83. Batsis JA, Barre LK, Mackenzie TA, Pratt SI, Lopez-Jimenez F, Bartels SJ. Variation in the prevalence of sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity in older adults associated with different research definitions: Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999-2004. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2013;61(6):974-980. doi:10.1111/jgs.12260
- 84. Fielding RA, Vellas B, Evans WJ, et al. Sarcopenia: an undiagnosed condition in older adults. Current consensus definition: prevalence, etiology, and consequences. International Working Group on Sarcopenia. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2011;12(4):249-256. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2011.01.003
- 85. Studenski SA, Peters KW, Alley DE, et al. The FNIH sarcopenia project: Rationale, study description, conference recommendations, and final estimates. *Journals Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2014;69(5):547-558. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu010
- 86. Mclean RR, Shardell MD, Alley DE, et al. Criteria for Clinically Relevant Weakness and Low Lean Mass and Their Longitudinal Association With Incident Mobility Impairment and Mortality: The Foundation for the National Institutes of Health (FNIH) Sarcopenia Project. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2014;69(5):576-583. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu012
- Alley DE, Shardell MD, Peters KW, et al. Grip strength cutpoints for the identification of clinically relevant weakness. *Journals Gerontol - Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2014;69 A(5):559-566. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu011
- 88. Cawthon PM, Peters KW, Shardell MD, et al. Cutpoints for low appendicular lean mass that identify older adults with clinically significant weakness. *Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2014;69 A(5):567-575. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu023
- 89. Morley JE, Abbatecola AM, Argiles JM, et al. Sarcopenia with limited mobility: an international consensus. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*. 2011;12:403-409. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2011.04.014
- 90. Muscaritoli M, Anker SD, Argilés J, et al. Consensus definition of sarcopenia, cachexia and pre-cachexia: Joint document elaborated by Special Interest Groups (SIG) "cachexia-anorexia in chronic wasting diseases" and "nutrition in geriatrics." *Clin Nutr*. 2010;29:154-159. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2009.12.004
- 91. Chen L, Liu L, Woo J, et al. Sarcopenia in Asia: Consensus Report of the Asian Working Group for Sarcopenia. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*. 2014;15(2):95-101. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2013.11.025

- 92. Cawthon P, Travison T, Manini T, et al. Establishing the link between lean mass and grip strength cut-points with mobility disability and other health outcomes: Proceedings of the Sarcopenia Definition and Outcomes Consortium Conference. *J Gerontol Biol Sci.* 2019.
- 93. Barazzoni R, Bischoff S, Boirie Y, et al. Sarcopenic obesity: time to meet the challenge. *Eur J Obes*. 2018:294-305. doi:10.1159/000490361
- 94. Batsis JA, Villareal DT. Sarcopenic obesity in older adults: Aetiology, epidemiology and treatment strategies. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*. 2018. doi:10.1038/s41574-018-0062-9
- 95. Buckinx F, Landi F, Cesari M, et al. Pitfalls in the measurement of muscle mass: a need for a reference standard. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle*. 2018;9:269-278. doi:10.1002/jcsm.12268
- 96. Gallagher D, Visser M, Meersman REDE, et al. Appendicular skeletal muscle mass: effects of age, gender, and ethnicity. *J Appl Physiol*. 1997.
- 97. Batsis JA, Mackenzie TA, Lopez-Jimenez F, Bartels SJ. Sarcopenia, sarcopenic obesity, and functional impairments in older adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys 1999-2004. *Nutr Res.* 2015;35(12):1031-1039. doi:10.1016/j.nutres.2015.09.003
- 98. Baumgartner RN, Koehler K, Gallagher D, et al. Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the enderly in New México. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1998;147(8):755-763.
- 99. Levine ME, Crimmins EM. The impact of insulin resistance and inflammation on the association between sarcopenic obesity and physical functioning. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2012;20(10):2101-2106. doi:10.1038/oby.2012.20
- 100. Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Ross R. Low relative skeletal muscle mass (sarcopenia) in older persons is associated with functional impairment and physical disability. *J Am Geriatr.* 2002;50:889-896.
- 101. Johnson Stoklossa CA, Sharma AM, Forhan M, Siervo M, Padwal RS, Prado CM. Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in adults with class II/III obesity using different diagnostic criteria. J Nutr Metab. 2017. doi:10.1155/2017/7307618
- 102. Sampaio RAC, Sampaio PYS, Castano LAA, et al. Cutoff values for appendicular skeletal muscle mass and strength in relation to fear of falling among Brazilian older adults: crosssectional study. *Sau Paulo Med J.* 2017;135(5):434-443. doi:10.1590/1516-3180.2017.0049030517
- 103. Kim TN, Park MS, Lee EJ, Chung HS, Yoo HJ, Joo H. Comparisons of three different methods for defining sarcopenia: An aspect of cardiometabolic risk. *Sci Rep.* 2017;(February):1-9. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-06831-7
- 104. Cheung C, Lam KSL, Cheung BMY. Evaluation of Cutpoints for Low Lean Mass and Slow Gait Speed in Predicting Death in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999 – 2004. *Journals Gerontol Med Sci.* 2016;71(1):90-95. doi:10.1093/gerona/glv112
- 105. Prado CM, Heymsfield SB. Lean tissue imaging: A new era for nutritional assessment and intervention. *J Parenter Enter Nutr.* 2014;38(8):940-953. doi:10.1177/0148607114550189
- 106. Johnson Stoklossa C, Forhan M, Padwal RS, Gonzalez MC, Prado CM. Practical Considerations for Body Composition Assessment of Adults with Class II/III Obesity Using Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis or Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry. *Curr Obes Rep.* 2016:1-8. doi:10.1007/s13679-016-0228-5
- 107. Cawthon PM, Orwoll ES, Peters KE, et al. Strong Relation Between Muscle Mass Determined by D3 - creatine Dilution, Physical Performance, and Incidence of Falls and Mobility Limitations in a Prospective Cohort of Older Men. *Journals Gerontol Med Sci.* 2018;XX:1-9. doi:10.1093/gerona/gly129
- Evans WJ, Hellerstein M, Orwoll E, Cummings S, Cawthon PM. D3-creatine dilution and the importance of accuracy in the assessment of skeletal muscle mass. *J Cachexia* Sarcopenia Muscle. 2019. doi:10.1002/jcsm.12390
- 109. Manini TM, Clark BC. Dynapenia and aging: An update. *J Gerontol Med Sci.* 2012;(January):28-40. doi:10.1093/gerona/glr010
- 110. Bennell K, Dobson F, Hinman R. Measures of physical performance assessments: Self-Paced Walk Test (SPWT), Stair Climb Test (SCT), Six-Minute Walk Test (6MWT), Chair Stand Test (CST), Timed Up & Go (TUG), Sock Test, Lift and Carry Test (LCT), and Car Task. Arthritis Care Res. 2011;63(SUPPL. 11):350-370. doi:10.1002/acr.20538
- 111. Naylor JM, Mills K, Buhagiar M, Fortunato R, Wright R. Minimal important improvement thresholds for the six-minute walk test in a knee arthroplasty cohort: Triangulation of anchor- and distribution-based methods. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2016;17:1-10. doi:10.1186/s12891-016-1249-7
- 112. Vincent HK, Vincent KR, Lamb KM. Obesity and mobility disability in the older adult. *Obes Rev.* 2010;11(8):568-579. doi:10.1111/j.1467-789X.2009.00703.x
- 113. Wong SL. Reduced muscular strength among Canadians aged 60 to 79: Canadian Health Measures Survey, 2007 to 2013. 2016;(82). http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-003x/2016010/article/14666-eng.htm.
- 114. Garcia-Hermoso A, Cavero-Redondo I, Ramirez-Velez R, et al. Muscular Strength as a Predictor of All-Cause Mortality in an Apparently Healthy Population: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Data From Approximately 2 Million Men and Women. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2018. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2018.01.008
- 115. Wen L, Shin M, Kang J, et al. Association between grip strength and hand and knee radiographic osteoarthritis in Korean adults: Data from the Dong-gu study. *PLoS One*. 2017:1-12.
- 116. El Ghoch M, Rossi AP, Calugi S, Rubele S, Soave F, Zamboni M. Physical performance measures in screening for reduced lean body mass in adult females with obesity. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2018;28(9):917-921. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2018.06.008
- 117. Beavers KM, Lyles MF, Davis CC, Wang X, Beavers DP, Nicklas BJ. Is lost lean mass from intentional weight Loss recovered during weight regain in postmenopausal women? *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2011;94(3):767-774. doi:10.3945/ajcn.110.004895
- 118. Wakabayashi H, Sakuma K. Comprehensive approach to sarcopenia treatment. Curr Clin

Pharmacol. 2014;9(2):171-180. doi:10.2174/1574884708666131111192845

- Bouchonville MF, Villareal DT. Sarcopenic obesity: How do we treat it? *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes*. 2013;20(5):412-419. doi:10.1097/01.med.0000433071.11466.7f
- 120. Villareal DT, Chode S, Parimi N, et al. Weight Loss, Exercise, or Both and Physical Function in Obese Older Adults. *N Engl J Med.* 2011;13364(31):1218-1229.
- 121. Jiang BC, Villareal DT, Jiang BC, Villareal DT. Weight Loss-Induced Reduction of Bone Mineral Density in Older Adults with Obesity Weight Loss-Induced Reduction of Bone Mineral. J Nutr Gerontol Geriatr. 2019:1-15. doi:10.1080/21551197.2018.1564721
- Davidson LE, Hudson R, Kilpatrick K, et al. Effects of exercise modality on insulin resistance and functional limitation in older adults. *Arch Intern Med.* 2009;169(2):122-131.
- 123. World Health Organization. The International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization. 2001.
- 124. Clark B, Manini T. Functional consequences of sarcopenia and dynapenia in the elderly. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2010;13(3):271-276. doi:10.1097/MCO.0b013e328337819e.Functional

CHAPTER 2

2.1 Synopsis

A version of this chapter was published as Godziuk K, Prado CM, Woodhouse LJ, Forhan M, The impact of sarcopenic obesity on knee and hip osteoarthritis: A scoping review, *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 2018.

2.2 Abstract

Background: The progressive, debilitating nature of knee and hip osteoarthritis can result in severe, persistent pain and disability, potentially leading to a need for total joint arthroplasty (TJA) in end-stage osteoarthritis. TJA in adults with obesity is associated with increased surgical risk and prolonged recovery, yet classifying obesity only using body mass index (BMI) precludes distinction of obesity phenotypes and their impact on surgical risk and recovery. The sarcopenic obesity phenotype, characterized by high adiposity and low skeletal muscle mass, is associated with higher infection rates, poorer function, and slower recovery after surgery in other clinical populations, but not thoroughly investigated in osteoarthritis. The rising prevalence and impact of this phenotype demands further attention in osteoarthritis treatment models of care, particularly as osteoarthritis-related pain, disability, and current treatment practices may inadvertently be influencing its development.

Methods: A scoping review was used to examine the extent of evidence of sarcopenic obesity in adults with hip or knee osteoarthritis. Medline, CINAHL, Web of Science and EMBASE were systematically searched from inception to December 2017 with keywords and subject headings related to obesity, sarcopenia and osteoarthritis.

Results: Eleven studies met inclusion criteria, with indications that muscle weakness, low skeletal muscle mass or sarcopenia are present alongside obesity in this population, potentially impacting therapeutic outcomes, and TJA surgical risk and recovery.

Conclusions: Consideration of sarcopenic obesity should be included in osteoarthritis patient assessments.

2.3 Background

Osteoarthritis is a chronic, progressive joint disease and leading cause of pain and mobility disability for over 27 million Americans¹ and 4 million Canadians². Age, sex, genetics, joint trauma, and obesity all influence the development of this disease³, and its progressive nature means advanced treatment options may be required in later stages to reduce pain, improve function and maintain quality of life. Surgical replacement of articular joint components, called a total joint arthroplasty (TJA), is currently the most effective treatment for severe pain and disability associated with end-stage knee or hip osteoarthritis that ceases to respond to other therapeutic interventions.

There has been a rapid and sustained increase in demand for TJA surgery around the world over the past two decades. TJA rates in the USA doubled from 336,000 patients in 1993 to 735,000 patients in 2005⁴, and are projected to top 4 million patients by 2030⁵. In Canada, volumes are lower but the accrual rate tripled from 42,000 patients in 2000⁶ to 117,000 patients in 2016⁷, and similar persistent growth is apparent throughout Europe⁸. This increased demand is outpacing the supply of TJA, leading to longer wait times and pressure on health care systems to reduce delays in accessing care. To ensure timely and appropriate TJA access, optimization and prioritization of patient selection is critical. Clear, evidence-based guidelines for surgical appropriateness are lacking, resulting in a reliance on clinical judgement⁹. This has led to

subjectivity in risk stratification, conflicting approaches and barriers or delays in treatment access for patients with obesity due to evidence of increased surgical risk.

Two meta-analyses have found increased risk of superficial infections (OR 1.7-2.2)^{10,11} and deep infections (OR 2.4)¹⁰ after total knee arthroplasty (TKA) in patients with obesity (defined as a body mass index/BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) compared to patients without obesity (BMI < 30 kg/m²). Those with severe obesity (BMI \geq 40 kg/m²) appear to be at even higher risk, with four times the rate of infection after TKA compared to those without obesity^{11,12}. Increased infection after total hip arthroplasty (THA) is less clear¹³. Yet controversy exists around evidence of increased risk related to excess body weight. Methodological concerns regarding quality and comparability of studies have been raised, with underpowered sample sizes, BMI categorization/dichotomization, and absence of sub-classification by comorbidity status limitations in current evidence^{14,15}.

Suggestions for establishing a BMI threshold for withholding TJA surgery have been made^{11,14,16}, while others argue against using BMI as an outright contraindication for TJA^{17,18}. Without clear guidelines, orthopaedic surgeons may decide to deny or delay surgery based on their interpretation of evidence of surgical risk. Of greater concern, many surgeons recommend that patients lose weight to reduce their BMI before returning for re-assessment of surgical eligibility^{12,14,19}. This recommendation is in contrast to current evidence that suggests weight loss does not improve perioperative TJA risk. Lui et al²⁰ found weight loss of \geq 5% of body weight in the year prior to TJA resulted in either no difference or an increased risk of deep infection (OR 3.8). Weight loss may inadvertently increase perioperative infection, as muscle lost concomitantly with fat may lower lean muscle reserves, which are critical to the wound healing process²¹.

Reliance on BMI may result in misclassification bias and denial of surgery for patients with obesity. BMI is a poor indicator of individual health as it cannot discern individual body composition of muscle, bone or fat²². Significant deviations in body composition within BMI categories have been reported^{22–24}, including twofold differences in adiposity²⁵ and 30 kg differences in lean soft tissue²⁶ between patients who have the same BMI²⁷. Relying on BMI as a screening tool for TJA ignores the influence body composition has on surgical risk, particularly in relation to the amount of skeletal muscle mass as shown in other clinical scenarios^{28,29}. A high BMI could disguise important skeletal muscle mass depletion, as in the condition of sarcopenic obesity^{26,30}

What is sarcopenic obesity?

Sarcopenic obesity is defined as the co-occurrence of high adiposity and sarcopenia. Sarcopenia is a health condition of low skeletal muscle mass, strength and physical function originally diagnosed in the elderly³¹, but present across the age spectrum^{32,33}. Sarcopenia is associated with physical disability, falls, extended hospital stays, infection and non-infection related complications, and increased overall mortality^{34–36}. Importantly, sarcopenia is not restricted to people who appear thin or underweight. Aging is often paralleled by increased rates of muscle loss and concomitant gains in adiposity (both subcutaneous and intramuscular), which can culminate in sarcopenic obesity³⁷.

Compounding the effects of both sarcopenia and obesity, sarcopenic obesity is associated with poorer quality of life and greater disability, morbidity and mortality when compared with either obesity or sarcopenia alone^{37–39}. Although the majority of studies to date have been conducted in elderly individuals, sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity are not limited to this population. There are several clinical disorders where individuals are prone to muscle loss (with

or without concurrent obesity), including diabetes, cancer, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, HIV, cirrhosis, and arthritis⁴⁰. The presence of sarcopenic obesity may be particularly important to consider when surgery is indicated. In addition to increased length of hospital stay and increased mortality associated with this condition⁴⁰, there is convincing evidence of its relationship with increased infection rates^{28,29,41}.

With obesity present in 26% to 38% of adults in Canada and the USA respectively⁴², and an aging population with a longer life span, sarcopenic obesity may be a new epidemiological trend of current times⁴³. Importantly, it cannot be identified by simply measuring body weight or calculating BMI⁴⁴.

Is sarcopenic obesity a concern in osteoarthritis?

Individuals with osteoarthritis may be at particular risk for sarcopenic obesity. The prevalence of osteoarthritis rises with age and obesity, and osteoarthritis-related pain can lead to inactivity and a decline in physical function. These factors in combination create a vicious cycle of inflammation, inactivity and aging-related muscle loss accompanied by aging-related gains in adiposity, giving rise and perpetuating the sarcopenic obesity phenotype^{45–47} (Figure 2.1). Chronic diseases associated with osteoarthritis⁴⁸, such as diabetes, metabolic syndrome, and hypertension, along with weight loss and subsequent re-gain (weight cycling), could exacerbate skeletal muscle loss, increase adiposity and contribute to the development of sarcopenic obesity⁴⁹. Further, the development and progression of sarcopenia and osteoarthritis may occur through interrelated pathways^{50,51}.

Body composition phenotypes of low skeletal muscle and high adiposity have been reported in patients with knee and hip osteoarthritis by Karlsson^{52–54}, Purcell⁵⁵ and Visser⁵⁶, although sarcopenia or obesity were not specifically identified. Nevertheless, this is compelling

Figure 2.1. Relationship between aging, obesity and osteoarthritis and the development of sarcopenic obesity



evidence and may indicate that this condition is present in osteoarthritis but not recognized or identified as sarcopenic obesity.

To provide a more complete understanding of sarcopenic obesity in lower extremity osteoarthritis, a scoping review was conducted to determine the extent of reported prevalence and impact of low muscle mass, muscle weakness or sarcopenia in adults with obesity and knee or hip osteoarthritis. Scoping reviews enable a comprehensive and encompassing review of emerging literature on a topic⁵⁷, and can be preferable to systematic reviews when the research question is examining the breadth of evidence on a topic, as in this case. Scoping reviews utilize transparent processes and systematic search strategies much like systematic reviews, and while they don't typically include a grading system or formal quality assessment of included studies, a description of study limitations can be incorporated into the results.

2.4 Methods

This scoping review was conducted following the methodology of Arksey and O'Malley⁵⁸, including a systematic search of the published literature. Medline, CINAHL, Web of Science and Embase databases were searched from inception to December 2017 using MeSH terms and keywords related to osteoarthritis, obesity, and sarcopenia (including dynapenia, muscle weakness, muscle atrophy, low muscle mass, muscle loss, body composition, body compartment, lean soft tissue, lean body mass, lean mass, fat free mass, muscle size or muscle mass). Inclusion criteria was determined by the authors prior to search initiation. Studies were to be included if they were primary or secondary analyses, and subjects had knee or hip osteoarthritis. Additionally, studies must have conducted group/subgroup analysis by obesity (identified using body mass index/BMI, waist circumference, fat mass or percent body fat), and examined muscle mass, muscle strength/weakness or sarcopenia. Studies on animal models and

children were excluded, along with studies where participants did not have knee or hip osteoarthritis, or obesity, or if the study was an editorial, protocol or review article. Reference lists of relevant articles were hand searched to identify articles missed in the primary investigation. From each included study we extracted the author, publication year, study design, sample population, methodologies for assessing obesity and sarcopenia, study limitations and relevant findings. A summary of extracted information was tabulated and a descriptive analysis was conducted.

2.5 Results

A total of 796 articles were identified in the original search and 118 full text articles were screened for potential relevance (**Figure 2.2**). Eleven studies met inclusion criteria^{59,60,69,61–68}, and a summary of study characteristics and key findings are presented in **Table 2.1**.

Publication dates ranged from 2005 to 2017, with the majority (n=8, 73%) published in the last three years, potentially indicating a growing awareness and understanding of sarcopenic obesity. Ten of the eleven studies were cross-sectional^{60–69}, and one longitudinal⁵⁹. Four studies (36.4%) were secondary analyses of the Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (KNHANES) population cohort^{61,63,64,68}, two (18.2%) were secondary analyses of the North American Osteoarthritis Initiative (OAI) population cohort^{59,62}, one (9%) was a secondary analysis of the French Knee and Hip OsteoArthritis Long-term Assessment (KHOALA) cohort⁶⁹, and the remaining four (36.4%) were independent studies with cohorts from Korea⁶⁰, Thailand⁶⁵, Japan⁶⁷ and the Netherlands⁶⁶. Eight studies focused on osteoarthritis of the knee joint^{59,61–65,67,68}, with two additional studies examining both knee and hip^{60,69}, and one solely on hip osteoarthritis⁶⁶.



Figure 2.2. Systematic search strategy and results

Author, Year	Study purpose	Study design	Population	Definition of obesity	Body composition methodology	Definition of low muscle mass ^{a,b} or muscle weakness	Study limitations	Relevant findings
Batsis et al. ⁵⁹ , 2015	To describe the impact of dynapenic obesity on physical function in knee OA	Longi- tudinal,	North American population from OsteoArthritis Initiative (OAI), age \geq 60 years, n=526 in subgroup with knee OA (rKOA),	BMI ≥30 kg/m ²	NI	Lowest sex- specific tertile of knee extensor strength (dynapenia)	Secondary analysis of prospective data from longitudinal cohort. Excluded severe knee OA. No assessment of muscle mass or body composition	Prevalence of dynapenic obesity was 16%.
Clemence et al ⁶⁹ , 2017	To analyze the association between low lean mass and clinical symptoms in knee and hip OA	Cross- sectional	French adults with hip and knee OA (KL grade \geq 2) from KHOALA study, n=358, age 63.4 ±8.4 years	BMI ≥30 kg/m², or sex specific FM or WC cut- offs	DXA	ASM/BMI <0.789 for men and <0.512 for women (FNIH cutoffs)	Secondary analysis of prospective data from longitudinal cohort. No information on exclusion criteria. No assessment of muscle strength or function	SO prevalence was 16.2%. Low lean mass was associated with pain and impaired function in subjects with normal BMI, but not with obesity (no significant differences between NSO and SO groups).
Ji et al. ⁶⁰ , 2016	To identify the prevalence of SO in knee and hip orthopedic surgery (OS) patients	Cross- sectional	Korean orthopedic surgery patients (hip or knee TJA or femoral fracture repair) (OS, n=222) compared to control non-surgical outpatients (non-OS, n= 364)	BMI >25 kg/m ²	DXA	ASM/height ² , ASM/weight, and ASM/height and fat mass (residuals)	Retrospective analysis of data. No assessment of muscle strength or function	SO prevalence ranged from 1.3- 35.4% in TKA and 0-18.4% in THA patients depending on definition used. SO rates were higher in OS patients compared to non-OS patients.
Jin et al. ⁶¹ , 2017	To examine the associations between obesity, sarcopenia and OA in elderly	Cross- sectional	Korean population (KNHANES) age \geq 65 years group with knee OA (K/L grade \geq 2) (n=1865) compared to lumbar spondylosis group (n=1709)	BMI ≥25 kg/m²	DXA	ASM/weight, 2SDs below average of sex- matched young reference group	Secondary analysis of population survey data. No assessment of muscle strength or function	Results indicate correlation between SO and NSO with knee OA, but no relationship with lumbar spondylosis. Females with SO had increased OR for knee OA when adjusted for age and waist circumference (OR 1.80, CI 1.03-3.12).
Knoop et al. ⁶² , 2011	To identify distinct clinical phenotypes and their impact in knee OA	Cross- sectional	North American population with knee OA (K/L grade 0-4) from OsteoArthritis Initiative (n=842, age 63.2±9.1)	BMI ≥30 kg/m ²	NI	Low mean score of quadriceps and hamstring isometric strength	Secondary analysis of prospective data from longitudinal cohort. No assessment of muscle mass or body composition. No clear cut-off for defining weakness	Dynapenic obesity group ("obese and weak" phenotype) had higher pain and poorer physical function compared to "minimal joint disease", "strong muscle", and "non-obese and weak" phenotypes.

Table 2.1. Studies reporting low skeletal muscle mass and/or muscle weakness in adults with obesity and knee or hip osteoarthritis

Author, Year	Study purpose	Study design	Population	Definition of obesity	Body composition methodology	Definition of low muscle mass ^{a,b} or muscle weakness	Study limitations	Relevant findings
Lee et al. ⁶³ , 2016	To investigate association between lower limb muscle mass and knee OA	Cross- sectional	Korean population (KNHANES) age \geq 50 years, n=821 with knee OA (K/L grade \geq 2), (n=821), and control group without knee OA (n=4103)	BMI ≥ 27.5 kg/m ²	DXA	ASM/weight, 2SD below the mean in sex-matched young reference group (<29.5% in men, <23.2% in women)	Secondary analysis of population survey data. No assessment of muscle strength or function	SO prevalence was 5.2% in knee OA group compared to 1.8% in control group.
Lee et al. ⁶⁴ , 2012	To analyze the association between knee OA, sarcopenia and obesity	Cross- sectional	Korean population (KNHANES) with bilateral knee OA (K/L grade \geq 2) age \geq 50 years, n=2893	BMI ≥27.5 kg/m ²	DXA	ASM/weight, 2SD below the mean in sex-matched young reference group (<26.8% in men, <21% in women)	Secondary analysis of population survey data. No assessment of muscle strength or function	SO prevalence was 3% overall. When adjusted for age and sex, SO had stronger association with knee OA (OR 3.51, CI 2.15-5.75) compared to NSO (OR 2.38, CI 1.80-3.15).
Manoy et al ⁶⁵ , 2017	To assess association between leptin, vitamin D, muscle strength and physical performance in knee OA	Cross- sectional	Thailand knee OA patients (K/L grade <3) (n=208), age 65±7 years	BMI >25 kg/m ²	BIA	ASM/weight <30.4% in men and <25.8% in women, and EWGSOP gait speed and grip strength cutoffs	Unclear if data collected retrospectively or prospectively. No description of sampling methods. Excluded severe knee OA	SO prevalence was 13.9%. Patients with SO had poorer performance on the timed up and go (TUG), sit to stand (STS) and 6 minute walk tests (6MWT) compared to those with NSO or NO.
Oosting et al. ⁶⁶ , 2016	To determine the association of obesity and recovery after THA when stratified by muscle strength	Cross- sectional	Netherlands THA patients (n=297), age 69±11 years	BMI >30 kg/m ²	NI	Maximal handgrip strength (<20 kg for woman and <30 kg for men)	Secondary analysis of prospective cohort. No assessment of muscle mass or body composition	Obesity and muscle weakness (dynapenic obesity) was associated with prolonged length of stay >4 days (OR 3.59, CI 1.09-11.89) and delayed inpatient recovery (>2 days to walk with gait aid) (OR 6.21, CI 1.64-23.65), but not in those with obesity alone.
Segal et al ⁶⁷ , 2005	To analyze the impact of low limb lean mass in knee OA distinct from body weight	Cross- sectional	Japanese female orthopedic knee OA (K/L grade \geq 2) patients age \geq 45 years (n=341), compared to control group with fracture, sprains or back pain (n=604)	BMI >24.9 kg/m ²	BIA	Lower limb LST	Unclear if data collected retrospectively or prospectively. No clear cut-off for defining low LST. No assessment of muscle strength or function	Females with knee OA had 5- 15% less lower limb LST compared to control groups across BMI categories, with significant 1.8 kg and 1.5 kg differences in overweight and obesity groups, respectively.
Suh et al ⁶⁸ , 2016	To analyze the association between	Cross- sectional	Korean population (KNHANES) age ≥50 years with unilateral knee	BMI ≥ 27.5 kg/m ²	DXA	Lower extremity LST/weight, in lowest quartile	Secondary analysis of population survey data. No assessment of	In females, obesity and low muscle mass was strongly association with knee OA (OR

Author, Year	Study purpose	Study design	Population	Definition of obesity	Body composition methodology	Definition of low muscle mass ^{a,b} or muscle weakness	Study limitations	Relevant findings
	obesity, sex, and lower extremity lean mass in knee OA		OA (K/L grade \geq 2) (n= 4246; 1829 men and 2417 women)				muscle strength or function	2.31, CI 1.35-3.93) compared to obesity and normal muscle mass (OR 1.03, CI 0.26-4.02).
^a Varied indices for identifying low muscle mass: LSTI, LST/weight, ASM, ASMI, ASM/weight, ASM/BMI, ASM relative to height and FM (residuals), and FM:FFM ratio ²⁶ .								

Indices that consider LST or ASM relative to weight, BMI or FM may be most appropriate in adults with obesity²⁶, and relevant to identify clinically relevant weakness⁷⁰. ^bTerms from included studies were adjusted for consistency and accurate representation of body composition compartment, and may differ from original reports. ASM = appendicular skeletal mass, ASMI = ASM/height², BIA = bioelectrical impedance analysis, BMI = body mass index, CI = confidence interval, DXA = Dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry, EWGSOP = European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People, FM = fat mass, FFM = fat free mass, FNIH = Foundation for the National Institute of Health, KNHANES = Korean National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, K/L = Kellgren/Lawrence radiographic osteoarthritis score, LST = lean soft tissue, LSTI = LST/height², NI = not included in study design, NO = normal body composition, NSO = not sarcopenic obesity, OA = osteoarthritis, OR = odds ratio, rKOA = radiographic evidence of knee osteoarthritis, SD = standard deviation, SO = sarcopenic obesity, THA = total hip arthroplasty, TJA = total joint arthroplasty, TKA = total knee arthroplasty, VAS = visual analog scale, WC = waist circumference, WOMAC = Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index

2.6 Discussion

This scoping review identified eleven studies with clear indications that muscle weakness, low skeletal muscle mass, or sarcopenia occur in conjunction with obesity in lower extremity osteoarthritis. The majority of included studies examined prevalence and association of the sarcopenic obesity phenotype with the presence of knee or hip osteoarthritis^{60,61,63,64,67,68}, however others investigated the impact on pain, physical function, and quality of life^{59,62,65,69} or arthroplasty outcomes⁶⁶.

The prevalence of the sarcopenic obesity phenotype in adults with knee osteoarthritis may be as high as 35.4%⁶⁰, although a wide range was reported across included studies (prevalence of 3%⁶⁴, 13.9%⁶⁵, 16.2%⁶⁹, and up to 35.4%⁶⁰). Differences in prevalence are likely related to varied obesity and sarcopenia classification criteria utilized in each study, a problem previously addressed elsewhere²⁶. Obesity was classified by BMI (in kg/m^2) in all studies, but different cut-offs were used in Asian populations (either BMI $\ge 25^{60,61,65,67}$ or $\ge 27.5^{63,68}$), and North American and European populations (BMI $\ge 30^{59,62,66,69}$), making it difficult to compare across study groups and populations. Prevalence also varied depending on the sarcopenia assessment method used in the study. Ji et al⁶⁰ examined differences in sarcopenic obesity rates in hip and knee arthroplasty patients comparing low muscle mass (assessed with dual-energy xray absorptiometry/DXA) using three approaches: appendicular skeletal mass (ASM)/height², ASM/weight, and ASM relative to height and total fat mass, called the residual method⁷¹). They found prevalence of sarcopenic obesity differed between 1.3 - 35.4% in TKA patients and 0 -18.4% in THA patients depending on the approach. Whether distinctions exist between low muscle mass present only in the lower extremities versus the whole body remains unclear^{63,67,68}. Emerging evidence suggests that in patients with a larger body mass, the ratio between fat and

muscle compartments (a metabolic load-capacity model) may be most relevant for identifying clinically important sarcopenic obesity²⁶.

There is currently no definitive diagnostic criteria established to identify sarcopenic obesity^{72–74}. Several consensus papers on defining sarcopenia in the elderly have been published, including the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older Persons (EWGSOP)³¹, the European Society for Clinical Nutrition and Metabolism Special Interest Groups (ESPEN-SIG)⁷⁵, the International Working Group on Sarcopenia (IWGS)³⁶, and the Foundation for the National Institute of Health (FNIH)⁷⁰. There is general agreement that the presence or absence of sarcopenia in the elderly should be based on a combined assessment of physical function (measurement of gait speed), muscular strength (measurement of handgrip or lower body strength), and body composition (to determine low skeletal muscle mass). However whether these measures are equally applicable to patients with concurrent chronic degenerative conditions remains to be explored.

Of the studies in this scoping review, seven used only body composition/low muscle mass for sarcopenia identification^{60,61,63,64,67–69}, three used only an assessment of muscle weakness (testing handgrip⁶⁶ or quadriceps strength^{59,62}), and only one study utilized a combined approach following EWGSOP consensus criteria⁶⁵ including assessment of physical function with gait speed in addition to muscle strength and body composition. Using gait speed as an assessment of physical function may create challenges in the osteoarthritis population. Osteoarthritis-related joint pain and stiffness may impact testing methods or may require alterations or alternatives to currently used criteria thresholds⁷⁶ or modifications to gait speed parameters. Additionally, risk of falls is high in those with moderate to severe osteoarthritis⁷⁷, which may increase the challenge of assessing physical function in this population.

The relationship between the sarcopenic obesity phenotype and knee osteoarthritis may be unique compared to other orthopedic and musculoskeletal conditions. In the included studies, no association was found between sarcopenic obesity and lumbar spondylosis⁶¹, or in patients with fractures, sprains and back pain⁶⁷, or non-orthopedic hospital outpatients⁶⁰. The development and progression of sarcopenic obesity may be interrelated with osteoarthritis development and progression. Lee et al⁶³ found sarcopenic obesity was more prevalent in Korean adults with knee osteoarthritis compared to those without knee osteoarthritis (5.2% vs 1.8%, respectively). Batsis et al⁵⁹ found rates of muscle weakness with obesity were higher in adults with clinically diagnosed knee osteoarthritis compared to those at risk for knee osteoarthritis (16% vs 6%, respectively). Sex specific differences may exist in this relationship. Suh et al⁶⁸ found increased odds of knee osteoarthritis when low lower-extremity muscle mass was present in women with obesity (OR 2.31, CI 1.35-3.93), but not in men. Another study reported similar associations only in women over age 65⁶¹.

The findings of this scoping review support the theoretical impact of sarcopenic obesity on therapeutic outcomes for osteoarthritis, and surgical risk and recovery after joint arthroplasty. To date, only one study has investigated outcomes after TJA, with results showing obesity with muscle weakness was related to delayed independent walking (more than 2 days) and prolonged hospital stays (more than 4 days) compared to obesity alone⁶⁶.

It is reasonable to infer that reduced muscle strength or skeletal muscle mass would influence short and long-term recovery after arthroplasty and rehabilitation requirements to return to daily life. Muscle depletion is indicative of a reduction in physiologic protein reserves, which can contribute to impaired wound healing, increased risk of infections and longer recuperation after surgery⁷⁸. A study by Kumar et al⁷⁹ found that handgrip strength <15 kg was

associated with longer hospital stay after TJA, highlighting this potential relationship. Further, a study by Mau-Moller et al⁸⁰ reported that low thigh muscle mass was a better predictor than BMI for loss of bone mineral density after TKA. This is important as loss of bone mineral density can lead to early prosthetic loosening after TKA and a need for revision surgery, suggesting that muscle mass may be more relevant than BMI for long term TKA outcomes.

Identifying sarcopenic obesity early in the continuum of care for osteoarthritis is critical to avoid inappropriate treatment recommendations. The current practice of recommending weight loss prior to TJA based on assessment of body weight or BMI⁶⁴ may need further consideration as weight loss attempts may also result in loss of skeletal muscle mass^{40,49}, potentially exacerbating the sarcopenic obesity phenotype. Body composition measurement may be a critical assessment tool to distinguish between normal versus abnormal amounts of skeletal muscle mass and provide a more accurate assessment of adiposity⁸¹, as anthropometric measures of obesity (using waist circumference, height, weight and BMI) may not differentiate between muscle and adipose tissue compartments. As previously discussed, body weight loss \geq 5% in year preceding TJA was associated with increased surgical risk and higher readmission rates²⁰. This may be a result of individuals with sarcopenic obesity losing weight, further reducing their already low muscle reserve, in turn impacting healing rates and perpetuating the vicious cycle of sarcopenia and obesity. Alternatively, it could suggest individuals with obesity and normal skeletal muscle mass (non-sarcopenic obesity) became sarcopenic post weight-loss (by losing more skeletal muscle mass without a substantial decrease in body weight to be considered nonobese)⁴⁰.

Study Limitations

Every effort was made to comprehensively search and include all relevant studies in the literature, however there is a possibility that some were inadvertently missed. Further, while a limitation of scoping reviews is the lack of a formal risk of bias or study quality assessment, we have included a descriptive analysis of study design and limitations in Table 1 of the results section to enable assessment of level of evidence.

2.7 Conclusion

Sarcopenic obesity may be impacting therapeutic and surgical outcomes in osteoarthritis treatment approaches, yet this cannot be discerned until assessments for sarcopenic obesity are explored and regularly applied. There is a need to move beyond BMI and simple obesity diagnosis in osteoarthritis models of care, possibly including more sophisticated assessments of body composition. As gait speed and handgrip strength assessments to identify patients at risk for sarcopenic obesity have not been well-tested in the osteoarthritis population, further research is required to clarify the effectiveness of these screening approaches in populations with physical function limitations. In the interim, incorporating clinical assessments for sarcopenic obesity through body composition may be essential to prevent misclassification bias and provide clarity on TJA surgical risk and recovery in adults with obesity.

2.8 References

- Lawrence RC, Felson DT, Helmick CG, Arnold LM, Choi H, Deyo RA, et al. Estimates of the Prevalence of Arthritis and Other Rheumatic Conditions in the United States, Part II for the National Arthritis Data Workgroup. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2008;58(1):26-35. doi:10.1002/art.23176
- 2. Bombardier C, Hawker G, Mosher D. The impact of arthritis in Canada: Today and over the next 30 years. *Arthritis Alliance of Canada*. 2011. http://www.arthritisalliance.ca.
- 3. Bastick A, Runhaar J, Belo J, Bierma-Zeinstra S. Prognostic factors for progression of clinical osteoarthritis of the knee: A systematic review of observational studies. *Arthritis Res Ther*. 2015;17(152):1-13. doi:10.1002/art.22475
- 4. Tian W, DeJong G, Brown M, Hsieh CH, Zamfirov ZP, Horn SD. Looking upstream: factors shaping the demand for postacute joint replacement rehabilitation. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* 2009;90(8):1260-1268. doi:10.1016/j.apmr.2008.10.035
- 5. Bumpass DB, Nunley RM. Assessing the value of a total joint replacement. *Curr Rev Musculoskelet Med.* 2012;5(4):274-282. doi:10.1007/s12178-012-9139-6
- 6. Canadian Joint Replacement Registry. 2002 Report Total Hip and Total Knee Replacements in Canada.; 2002.
- 7. Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI). *Hip and Knee Replacements in Canada: Canadian Joint Replacement Registry 2015–2016 Quick Stats.*; 2017.
- 8. OECD/EU. *Health at a Glance: Europe 2016 State of Health in the EU Cycle*. Paris; 2016. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264265592-en
- 9. Dowsey MM, Gunn J, Choong PFM. Selecting those to refer for joint replacement: Who will likely benefit and who will not? *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol*. 2014;28(1):157-171. doi:10.1016/j.berh.2014.01.005
- 10. Kerkhoffs GMMJ, Servien E, Dunn W, Dahm D, Bramer JAM, Haverkamp D. The Influence of obesity on the complication rate and outcome of total knee arthroplasty. *J Bone Jt Surg.* 2012;94(20):1839-1844. doi:10.2106/JBJS.K.00820
- 11. Si H, Zeng Y, Shen B, Yang J, Zhou Z, Kang P, et al. The influence of body mass index on the outcomes of primary total knee arthroplasty. *Knee surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2015;23(6):1824-1832. doi:10.1007/s00167-014-3301-1
- 12. Samson AJ, Mercer GE, Campbell DG. Total knee replacement in the morbidly obese: A literature review. *ANZ J Surg.* 2010;80(9):595-599. doi:10.1111/j.1445-2197.2010.05396.x
- 13. American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. *Management of Osteoarthritis of the Hip: Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guideline.*; 2017. doi:10.5435/JAAOS-D-14-00432
- 14. Springer B, Parvizi J, Austin M, Backe H, Valle C Della, Kolessar DJ, et al. Obesity and total joint arthroplasty. A literature based review. *J Arthroplasty*. 2013;28(5):714-721.

doi:10.1016/j.arth.2013.02.011

- 15. Vaishya R, Vijay V, Wamae D, Agarwal AK. Is total knee replacement justified in the morbidly obese? A systematic review. *Cureus*. 2016;8(9):e804. doi:10.7759/cureus.804
- 16. Springer BD, Carter JT, McLawhorn AS, Scharf K, Roslin M, Kallies KJ, et al. Obesity and the role of bariatric surgery in the surgical management of osteoarthritis of the hip and knee: a review of the literature. *Surg Obes Relat Dis.* 2016:1-8. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.soard.2016.09.011
- 17. Kulkarni K, Karssiens T, Kumar V, Pandit H. Obesity and osteoarthritis. *Maturitas*. 2016;89:22-28. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2016.04.006
- 18. Vasarhelyi EM, MacDonald SJ. The influence of obesity on total joint arthroplasty. *J Bone Joint Surg Br.* 2012;94(11 Suppl A):100-102. doi:10.1302/0301-620X.94B11.30619
- 19. Roth KC, Bessems G. Sorry, but you will have to lose weight before receiving your knee replacement. *Erasmus J Med.* 2013;3(2):54-57.
- 20. Lui M, Jones CA, Westby MD. Effect of non-surgical, non-pharmacological weight loss interventions in patients who are obese prior to hip and knee arthroplasty surgery: a rapid review. *Syst Rev.* 2015;4(1):121. doi:10.1186/s13643-015-0107-2
- 21. Demling RH. Nutrition, anabolism, and the wound healing process: an overview. *Eplasty*. 1954;9:65-94.
- 22. Prado CM, Gonzalez MC, Heymsfield SB. Body composition phenotypes and obesity paradox. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2015;18(6):535-551. doi:10.1097/MCO.0000000000216
- 23. Kuk JL, Lee S, Heymsfield SB, Ross R. Waist circumference and abdominal adipose tissue distribution: influence of age and sex. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2005;81(6):1330-1334. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true%7B&%7Ddb=cin20%7B&%7DAN=2 009021611%7B&%7Dsite=ehost-live%7B&%7Dscope=site.
- 24. Romero-Corral A, Somers VK, Sierra-Johnson J, Korenfeld Y, Boarin S, Korinek J, et al. Normal weight obesity: A risk factor for cardiometabolic dysregulation and cardiovascular mortality. *Eur Heart J*. 2010;31(6):737-746. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehp487
- 25. Gallagher D, Heymsfield SB, Heo M, Jebb SA, Murgatroyd PR, Sakamoto Y. Healthy percentage body fat ranges: An approach for developing guidelines based on body mass index. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2000;72(3):694-701.
- 26. Johnson Stoklossa C, Sharma A, Forhan M, Siervo M, Padwal R, Prado C. Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in adults with class II/III obesity using different diagnostic criteria. *J Nutr Metab.* 2017.
- 27. Gonzalez MC, Correia MITD, Heymsfield SB. A requiem for BMI in the clinical setting. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2017;20(5):1. doi:10.1097/MCO.0000000000395
- 28. Nishigori T, Tsunoda S, Okabe H, Tanaka E, Hisamori S, Hosogi H, et al. Impact of sarcopenic obesity on surgical site infection after laparoscopic total gastrectomy. *Ann Surg*

Oncol. 2016:524-531. doi:10.1245/s10434-016-5385-y

- 29. Visser M, van Venrooij LMW, Vulperhorst L, de Vos R, Wisselink W, van Leeuwen PAM, et al. Sarcopenic obesity is associated with adverse clinical outcome after cardiac surgery. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2013;23(6):511-518. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2011.12.001
- Prado CM, Lieffers JR, McCargar LJ, Reiman T, Sawyer MB, Martin L, et al. Prevalence and clinical implications of sarcopenic obesity in patients with solid tumours of the respiratory and gastrointestinal tracts: a population-based study. *Lancet Oncol.* 2008;9(7):629-635. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70153-0
- Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, Boirie Y, Cederholm T, Landi F, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis. *Age Ageing*. 2010;39(4):412-423. doi:10.1093/ageing/afq034
- 32. Prado CM, Siervo M, Mire E, Heymsfield SB, Stephan BCM, Broyles S, et al. A population-based approach to define body-composition. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2014:1369-1378. doi:10.3945/ajcn.113.078576.1
- Cherin P, Voronska E, Fraoucene N, De Jaeger C. Prevalence of sarcopenia among healthy ambulatory subjects: The sarcopenia begins from 45 years. *Aging Clin Exp Res*. 2014;26(2):137-146. doi:10.1007/s40520-013-0132-8
- 34. Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Ross R. Low relative skeletal muscle mass (sarcopenia) in older persons is associated with functional impairment and physical disability. *J Am Geriatr.* 2002;50:889-896.
- 35. Santilli V, Bernetti A, Mangone M, Paoloni M. Clinical definition of sarcopenia. *Clin Cases Miner Bone Metab.* 2014;11(3):177-180. doi:1138/ccmbm/2014.11.3.177
- 36. Fielding RA, Vellas B, Evans WJ, Bhasin S, Morley JE, Newman AB, et al. Sarcopenia: an undiagnosed condition in older adults. Current consensus definition: prevalence, etiology, and consequences. International Working Group on Sarcopenia. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* 2011;12(4):249-256. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2011.01.003
- 37. Roubenoff R. Sarcopenic obesity: the confluence of two epidemics. *Obes Res.* 2004;12(6):887-888. doi:10.1038/oby.2004.107
- Baumgartner RN, Wayne SJ, Waters DL, Janssen I, Gallagher D, Morley JE. Sarcopenic obesity predicts instrumental activities of daily living disability in the elderly. *Obes Res.* 2004;12(12):1995-2004. doi:10.1038/oby.2004.250
- 39. Tian S, Xu Y. Association of sarcopenic obesity with the risk of all-cause mortality: A meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Geriatr Gerontol Int*. 2016;16:155-166. doi:10.1111/ggi.12579
- 40. Prado CM, Wells JCK, Smith SR, Stephan BCM, Siervo M. Sarcopenic obesity: A critical appraisal of the current evidence. *Clin Nutr*. 2012;31(5):583-601. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2012.06.010
- 41. Kallwitz ER. Sarcopenia and liver transplant: The relevance of too little muscle mass.

World J Gastroenterol. 2015;21(39):10982-10993. doi:10.3748/wjg.v21.i39.10982

- 42. Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. *Obesity Update, 2017.* www.oecd.org/health/obesity-update.htm.
- 43. Roubenoff R. Sarcopenic obesity: does muscle loss cause fat gain? Lessons from rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*. 2000;904:553-557. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2000.tb06515.x
- 44. Juby AG. A healthy body habitus is more than just a normal BMI: Implications of sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity. *Maturitas*. 2014;78(4):243-244. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2014.05.013
- 45. Thijssen E, van Caam A, van der Kraan PM. Obesity and osteoarthritis, more than just wear and tear: pivotal roles for inflamed adipose tissue and dyslipidaemia in obesity-induced osteoarthritis. *Rheumatology*. 2015;54(4):588-600. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/keu464
- 46. Zamboni M, Mazzali G, Fantin F, Rossi A, Di Francesco V. Sarcopenic obesity: A new category of obesity in the elderly. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2008;18(5):388-395. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2007.10.002
- 47. Lee D, Drenowatz C, Blair SN. Physical activity and sarcopenic obesity: definition, assessment, prevalence and mechanism. *Futur Sci.* 2016.
- 48. Griffin TM, Huffman KM. Insulin resistance: Releasing the brakes on synovial inflammation and osteoarthritis? *Arthritis Rheumatol*. 2016;68(6):1-30. doi:10.1002/art.39586
- 49. Cauley JA. An overview of sarcopenic obesity. *J Clin Densitom*. 2015;18(4):499-505. doi:10.1016/j.jocd.2015.04.013
- 50. De Ceuninck F, Fradin A, Pastoureau P. Bearing arms against osteoarthritis and sarcopenia: When cartilage and skeletal muscle find common interest in talking together. *Drug Discov Today*. 2014;19(3):305-311. doi:10.1016/j.drudis.2013.08.004
- Papalia R, Zampogna B, Torre G, Lanotte A, Vasta S, Albo E, et al. Sarcopenia and its relationship with osteoarthritis: Risk factor or direct consequence? *Musculoskelet Surg*. 2014;98(1):9-14. doi:10.1007/s12306-014-0311-6
- 52. Karlsson MK, Magnusson H, Coster M, Karlsson C, Rosengren BE. Patients with knee osteoarthritis have a phenotype with higher bone mass, higher fat mass, and lower lean body mass. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*. 2015;473(1):258-264. doi:10.1007/s11999-014-3973-3
- 53. Karlsson MK, Magnusson H, Coster MC, Vonschewelov T, Karlsson C, Rosengren BE. Patients with hip osteoarthritis have a phenotype with high bone mass and low lean body mass. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 2014;472(4):1224-1229. doi:10.1007/s11999-013-3395-7
- 54. Karlsson MK, Karlsson C, Magnusson H, Cöster M, von Schewelov T, Nilsson JÅ, et al. Individuals with primary osteoarthritis have different phenotypes depending on the affected joint - a case control study from Southern Sweden including 514 participants. *Open Orthop J.* 2014;8:450-456. doi:10.2174/1874325001408010450

- 55. Purcell S, Thornberry R, Elliott SA, Panton L, Ormsbee MJ, Vieira ER, et al. Body composition, strength, and dietary intake of patients with hip or knee osteoarthritis. *Can J Diet Pract Res.* 2016;77:1-5. doi:10.3148/cjdpr-2015-037
- 56. Visser AW, de Mutsert R, Loef M, le Cessie S, den Heijer M, Bloem JL, et al. The role of fat mass and skeletal muscle mass in knee osteoarthritis is different for men and women: The NEO study. *Osteoarthr Cartil*. 2014;22(2):197-202. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2013.12.002
- 57. Levac D, Colquhoun H, O'Brien KK. Scoping studies: advancing the methodology. *Implement Sci.* 2010;5:69. doi:10.1186/1748-5908-5-69
- 58. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. *Int J Soc Res Methodol*. 2005;8(1):19-32. doi:10.1080/1364557032000119616
- 59. Batsis JA, Zbehlik AJ, Pidgeon D, Bartels SJ. Dynapenic obesity and the effect on longterm physical function and quality of life: Data from the osteoarthritis initiative. *BMC Geriatr.* 2015;15(1):118. doi:10.1186/s12877-015-0118-9
- 60. Ji HM, Han J, Jin DS, Suh H, Chung YS, Won YY. Sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity in patients undergoing orthopedic surgery. *Clin Orthop Surg.* 2016;8(2):194-202. doi:10.4055/cios.2016.8.2.194
- 61. Jin WS, Choi EJ, Lee SY, Bae EJ, Lee T, Park J. Relationships among obesity, sarcopenia, and osteoarthritis in the elderly. *J Obes Metab Syndr*. 2017:36-44.
- 62. Knoop J, Van Der Leeden M, Thorstensson CA, Roorda LD, Lems WF, Knol DL, et al. Identification of phenotypes with different clinical outcomes in knee osteoarthritis: Data from the osteoarthritis initiative. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2011;63(11):1535-1542. doi:10.1002/acr.20571
- Lee SY, Ro HJ, Chung SG, Kang SH, Seo KM, Kim DK. Low skeletal muscle mass in the lower limbs is independently associated to knee osteoarthritis. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(11):1-11. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0166385
- 64. Lee S, Kim TN, Kim SH. Sarcopenic obesity is more closely associated with knee osteoarthritis than is nonsarcopenic obesity: A cross-sectional study. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2012;64(12):3947-3954. doi:10.1002/art.37696
- 65. Manoy P, Anomasiri W, Yuktanandana P, Tanavalee A, Ngarmukos S, Tanpowpong T, et al. Elevated serum leptin levels are associated with low vitamin D, sarcopenic obesity, poor muscle strength, and physical performance in knee osteoarthritis. *Biomarkers*. 2017:1-22. doi:10.1080/1354750X.2017.1315615
- 66. Oosting E, Hoogeboom TJ, Dronkers JJ, Visser M, Akkermans RP, Van Meeteren NLU. The influence of muscle weakness on the association between obesity and inpatient recovery from total hip arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. 2016. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2016.12.037
- 67. Segal NA, Toda Y. Absolute reduction in lower limb lean body mass in Japanese women with knee osteoarthritis. *J Clin Rheumatol*. 2005;11(5):245-249. doi:10.1097/01.rhu.0000182148.74893.3f
- 68. Suh DH, Han KD, Hong JY, Park JH, Bae JH, Moon YW, et al. Body composition is

more closely related to the development of knee osteoarthritis in women than men: A cross-sectional study using the Fifth Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (KNHANES V-1, 2). *Osteoarthr Cartil*. 2016;24(4):605-611. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2015.10.011

- 69. Jeanmaire C, Mazières B, Verrouil E, Bernard L, Guillemin F, Rat A-C. Body composition and clinical symptoms in patients with hip or knee osteoarthritis: Results from the KHOALA cohort. *Semin Arthritis Rheum*. 2017:1-8. doi:10.1016/j.semarthrit.2017.10.012
- Studenski SA, Peters KW, Alley DE, Cawthon PM, McLean RR, Harris TB, et al. The FNIH sarcopenia project: Rationale, study description, conference recommendations, and final estimates. *Journals Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2014;69(5):547-558. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu010
- 71. Newman AB, Kupelian V, Visser M, Simonsick E, Goodpaster B, Nevitt M, et al. Sarcopenia: alternative definitions and associations with lower extremity function. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2003;51(11):1602-1609. doi:10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51534.x
- 72. Bosy-Westphal A, Müller MJ. Identification of skeletal muscle mass depletion across age and BMI groups in health and disease there is need for a unified definition. *Int J Obes*. 2015;39(3):379-386. doi:10.1038/ijo.2014.161
- Donini LM, Poggiogalle E, Migliaccio S, Aversa A, Pinto A. Body composition in sarcopenic obesity: Systematic review of the literature. *Med J Nutrition Metab*. 2013;6(3):191-198. doi:10.1007/s12349-013-0135-1
- 74. Batsis JA, Barre LK, Mackenzie TA, Pratt SI, Lopez-Jimenez F, Bartels SJ. Variation in the prevalence of sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity in older adults associated with different research definitions: Dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999-2004. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2013;61(6):974-980. doi:10.1111/jgs.12260
- 75. Muscaritoli M, Anker SD, Argilés J, Aversa Z, Bauer JM, Biolo G, et al. Consensus definition of sarcopenia, cachexia and pre-cachexia: Joint document elaborated by Special Interest Groups (SIG) "cachexia-anorexia in chronic wasting diseases" and "nutrition in geriatrics." *Clin Nutr.* 2010;29:154-159. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2009.12.004
- 76. Ilich JZ, Kelly OJ, Inglis JE. Osteosarcopenic obesity syndrome: what is it and how can it be identified and diagnosed? *Curr Gerontol Geriatr Res.* 2016. doi:10.1155/2016/7325973
- 77. Tsonga T, Michalopoulou M, Malliou P, Godolias G, Kapetanakis S, Gkasdaris G, et al. Analyzing the history of falls in patients with severe knee osteoarthritis. *Clin Orthop Surg*. 2015;7(4):449-456. doi:10.4055/cios.2015.7.4.449
- 78. Chernoff R. Protein and older adults. *J Am Coll Nutr*. 2004;23(6 Suppl):627S-630S. doi:10.1080/07315724.2004.10719434
- 79. Shyam Kumar AJ, Beresford-Cleary N, Kumar P, Barai A, Vasukutty N, Yasin S, et al. Preoperative grip strength measurement and duration of hospital stay in patients undergoing total hip and knee arthroplasty. *Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol*. 2013;23:553-

556. doi:10.1007/s00590-012-1029-5

- 80. Mau-Moeller A, Behrens M, Felser S, Bruhn S, Mittelmeier W, Bader R, et al. Modulation and predictors of periprosthetic bone mineral density following total knee arthroplasty. *Biomed Res Int.* 2015. doi:10.1155/2015/418168
- 81. Prado CM, Heymsfield SB. Lean tissue imaging: A new era for nutritional assessment and intervention. *J Parenter Enter Nutr*. 2014;38(8):940-953. doi:10.1177/0148607114550189

CHAPTER 3

3.1 Synopsis

A version of this chapter was published as Godziuk K, Prado CM, Woodhouse LJ, Forhan M, Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in adults with end-stage knee osteoarthritis, *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*, 2019.

3.2 Abstract

Objective To identify the prevalence of sarcopenic obesity, a phenotype of low muscle mass and high adiposity, in adults with end-stage knee osteoarthritis (OA). Various diagnostic criteria, including assessment of muscle/fat mass, muscle strength and physical function, were used to identify patients with and without sarcopenic obesity, and to compare outcomes of pain, function and quality of life.

Design Cross-sectional clinical study including adults with a body mass index (BMI) \geq 30 kg/m² and knee OA. Body composition was measured by dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA). Assessments included gait speed, handgrip strength, six minute walk test, and self-reported pain, physical function, and health-related quality of life using the Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC) and EuroQol Foundation (EQ-5D).

Results 151 adults (59% female) aged 65.1 ± 7.9 years, mean BMI 37.1 ± 5.5 kg/m², were included. Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity using diagnostic cut-offs of appendicular skeletal muscle mass (ASM) relevant to height², weight and BMI varied from 1.3% (95% confidence interval: 0.2-4.7%) to 14.6% (9.4-21.2%) and 27.2% (20.2-35%), respectively. A combined diagnostic approach including low ASM with either low strength or low function yielded a

prevalence of 8.6% (4.7-14.3%). Sarcopenic obesity influenced walking speed, endurance, strength, and patient-reported difficulty with self-care activities, regardless of diagnostic approach.

Conclusion Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity varied depending on diagnostic criteria. Given the impact of this condition and OA on physical function, we suggest a combined diagnostic approach be used to clarify expected prevalence and enable early clinical identification and management of sarcopenic obesity in patients with knee OA.

3.3 Introduction

Obesity [defined using body mass index (BMI)] is associated with knee osteoarthritis (OA) progression and increased surgical infection risk in total knee arthroplasty (TKA)^{1,2}. However sarcopenic obesity, a phenotype of low muscle mass and high adiposity³, may have greater relevance and implications for adverse outcomes in this clinical population. This condition may be present in patients with knee OA but not identified using BMI alone. Sarcopenic obesity is associated with surgical infection^{4,5}, disability⁶, and mortality⁷ in other patient populations, but not well-examined in OA⁸. Importantly, OA, obesity and related chronic diseases, like diabetes⁹, are pro-inflammatory conditions that can influence muscle catabolism and the development and progression of sarcopenic obesity. Combined with normal muscle senescence beginning in middle age and accelerated during menopause or andropause, individuals with OA are at additional risk of sarcopenic obesity due to the added influence of OA-related pain and disability, resulting in inactivity and further muscle loss. Taken together, these data suggest that comprehensive assessments for sarcopenic obesity should be completed in patients with end-stage OA for whom TKA is recommended.

Presently, sarcopenic obesity is not assessed in patients with OA, in part due to a lack of consensus on the definition and diagnosis of this condition, and partially due to insufficient recognition that sarcopenia occurs at any body weight. Few studies have examined sarcopenic obesity in knee OA. Our recently conducted scoping review⁸ found only ten studies that examined sarcopenic obesity in knee OA. Prevalence rates between 1.3%-35.4% were reported⁸, however studies were primarily based on Asian population studies using lower BMI cut-offs for obesity and varied identification methods for low muscle mass, limiting comparability. A primary concern with the lack of recognition and screening for sarcopenic obesity in end-stage knee OA is related to clinicians advising weight loss based on patients' BMI^{2,10} without realization of the potential harm. Recommending weight loss prior to TKA eligibility could inadvertently exacerbate the sarcopenic obesity condition due to muscle loss that typically occurs during weight loss¹¹. In patients with low muscle mass, any additional loss may contribute to reduced wound healing following TKA¹², poorer functional outcomes due to decreased strength to support joint structure and mobility¹³, potential alterations to the pharmacokinetics of medications¹⁴, and increased risk of mortality⁷.

Greater awareness and screening for sarcopenic obesity in knee OA is essential. As sarcopenia is considered a reportable disease by the World Health Organization (WHO)¹⁵, routine screening should be included in OA clinical care pathways. Several consensus diagnostic criteria have been proposed for sarcopenia in the elderly^{16–20} with agreement that identification be based on a combination of low muscle mass with low strength or function. Although there is no current consensus on diagnostic criteria for sarcopenic obesity^{21,22}, there are several accepted diagnostic approaches using measures of body composition²³. Regardless, in view of the

importance of sarcopenic obesity and the potential prevalence and impact in individuals with OA, screening for this condition should be a priority in clinical settings.

The purpose of this study was to examine the prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in a clinical cohort of adults with end-stage knee OA. Different diagnostic criteria, including assessments of muscle/fat mass, muscle strength and physical function, were used to identify patients with and without sarcopenic obesity, and to compare reported outcomes of pain, function and health-related quality of life.

3.4 Methods

Patients

Study patients were community dwelling adults undergoing TKA screening for unilateral or bilateral knee OA at a centralized intake orthopedic clinic in Alberta, Canada from May 2017-March 2018. Patients were referred to the clinic by their primary care provider. Inclusion criteria were a BMI \geq 30 kg/m² measured in clinic, no history of hip or knee arthroplasty or bariatric surgery, and able to communicate and give written informed consent in English. All eligible patients were approached to enroll in the study in sequence after their clinical visit. Study data were collected prospectively and managed using REDCap²⁴ electronic data capture tools hosted and supported by the Women and Children's Health Research Institute at the University of Alberta. Ethics approval was provided by the Health Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta.

Patient characteristics

Socio-demographic and health information about each participant was collected, including age, sex, ethnicity, and comorbid conditions. Smoking status was categorized as current, previous, or never smoked. Height and weight were measured in clinic with footwear and light clothing using wall-mounted measuring tape and electronic scales (Alimed Model CNS1101KG, and Seca Model 813), and measured again at body composition appointment, without footwear and wearing only a hospital gown, using an electronic scale (Seca Model 766). BMI was calculated and categorized according to WHO criteria²⁵. Waist and hip circumference were measured to nearest 0.1cm over light clothing using a non-elastic tape measure. Waist circumference was measured at the top of the iliac crest, and hip circumference was measured at the largest diameter of the gluteal muscle. The average from three consecutive measures was recorded. In addition to collecting age as a continuous variable (in years), it was also dichotomized to enable comparisons between middle-aged (ages 40-64.9 years) and older adults (ages \geq 65 years).

Body composition

Body composition was assessed using dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) (GE Healthcare Lunar iDXA, analyzed with enCORE software version 16) on a separate date and location. Total body and regional lean soft tissue (LST), fat mass (FM) and bone mineral concentration (BMC) were collected. Percent fat mass (%FM) was calculated by total FM divided by the sum of total BMC, FM and LST, multiplied by 100. Fat mass index (FMI) was calculated as FM divided by height in meters². Appendicular skeletal muscle mass (ASM), considered an accepted proxy for skeletal muscle mass, was calculated as LST of arms plus legs. Obesity was identified by BMI \geq 30 kg/m² at intake, and confirmed by the additional criteria for obesity of a waist circumference >88 cm in females and >102 cm in males¹³, and %FM \geq 35% in females and \geq 25% in males²⁶.

Performance-based physical function

Normal ambulatory walking speed (in seconds) was timed over a four meter course, with untimed one meter allowances on either side as acceleration and deceleration zones. The faster of two attempts was recorded, and gait speed calculated. Patients used assisted walking devices (cane or walker) if normally used for ambulation. Maximal isometric handgrip strength was assessed in the dominant hand using a Jamar handgrip dynamometer. Grip position was adjusted to position 2 or 3 depending on patients' hand size. Patients were seated with elbow flexed to 90 degrees, and no contact with chair arm or backrest, if present. The highest of three attempts was recorded to nearest 0.5 kg. Functional physical performance was assessed in clinic using the sixminute walk test (6MWT), a valid and reliable measure in patients with knee OA²⁷.

Patient-reported quality of life, pain and function

Health-related quality of life was assessed using an electronic version of the EuroQol Foundation EQ-5D-5L²⁸. The EQ-5D questionnaire has patients rate their perceived quality of life from 1 'no problems' to 5 'extreme problems' across five dimensions of health: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression. Results were dichotomized into no problems (score of 1), and problems (scores of 2-5). Index scores that can be used for healthcare economic evaluations were calculated based on a Canadian value set²⁹. Patients also rated their perceived overall health on the visual analogue scale (VAS) from 0 (worst health) to 100 (best health). The disease-specific Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC)³⁰ has patients rate, on a 5-point Likert scale, their pain(0-20; 5 items each scored 0-4), stiffness (0-8; 2 items each scored 0-4) and function (0-68; 17 items each scored 0-4), for a total of 0-96, normalized to 0-100 scale by multiplying total score by 100/96.

Sarcopenic obesity diagnosis and prevalence

Sarcopenic obesity was identified using four diagnostic approaches. Three used accepted criteria from international consensus groups^{19,20} for identifying low muscle mass alone using ASM assessed by DXA, adjusted by body size, and compared to established sex-specific cut-offs^{13,26,31}. The fourth diagnostic approach used a combination of low muscle mass with the presence of either low strength or low function¹⁶. Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity was reported as the frequency and proportion of the cohort meeting each identification criteria:

Low muscle mass, alone, assessed by adjusted ASM:

 $ASM/height^2 = ASM$ (in kg) divided by height (in meters²), also called ASM index (ASMI). Cut-offs <5.45 kg/m² in females and <7.26 kg/m² in males identified low ASM/height^{2 31};

ASM by weight = ASM (in kg) divided by weight (in kg) x 100. Cut-offs <19.43% in females and <25.72% in males% identified low ASM by weight¹³;

ASM by BMI = ASM (in kg) divided by BMI (in kg/m²). Cut-offs <0.512 kg/m² in females and <0.789 kg/m² in males identified low ASM by BMI²⁶.

Combined diagnostic approach: a) low muscle mass with low strength, or b) low muscle mass with low function = low muscle mass (low ASM identified by any of the body-size adjusted criteria, as above) with either low muscular strength (maximal isometric handgrip strength <20 kg in females and <30 kg in males), or low physical function (gait speed <0.8 m/s), recommended by the consensus European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older Persons (EWGSOP and EWGSOP2)^{16,20}.

Statistical Analysis

A priori sample size (n=143) was calculated^{32,33} to provide a 95% confidence interval of the prevalence with a precision of 5%, based on a reported sarcopenic obesity prevalence of 10.4% (identified using ASM by weight and obesity identified by waist circumference) in a North American population study of adults age \geq 60 years¹³. Analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics v24 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY). There were no missing data on the patients included in the analyses. Normality of data distribution was tested with the Shapiro-Wilk test. Univariate analysis was completed and results reported as mean (standard deviation), median (interquartile range), or frequency (proportion). 95% confidence intervals for proportions were calculated using Clopper-Pearson exact. Between-group comparisons were conducted using Student's independent t-test, Mann-Whitney U test, Chi-square or Fisher's exact test, as appropriate, based on the distribution, variable type and number in each group. All testing analyses were two-tailed, and *p* values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

3.5 Results

Patient characteristics

A total of 208 adults consented to participate in the study, 16 withdrew or were excluded after consenting (8 due to personal time limitations, and 8 due to prior arthroplasty, bariatric surgery, or BMI<30 kg/m² at intake), and 41 declined to attend DXA body composition assessment appointment. Therefore, 151 patients were included in all analyses (see **Table 3.1**). Age differences were present between DXA completers (n=151) and non-DXA completers (n=41), with completers being older ($65.1\pm7.9 vs 61.4\pm8.0 years, p=0.008$) with a higher proportion retired (45%, vs 29%).

	Female, n=89	Male, n=62	
Demographics			
Age (years), mean (SD)	64.9 (8.5)	65.5 (7.1)	
Age category			
40-64 years (middle-aged adults), n (%)	42 (47)	32 (52)	
\geq 65 years (older adults), n (%)	47 (53)	30 (48)	
BMI category, n (%)			
$30.0-34.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$	30 (34)	33 (53)	
$35.0-39.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$	32 (36)	16 (26)	
$>40.0 \text{ kg/m}^2$	27 (30)	13 (21)	
Ethnicity, Caucasian, n (%)	84 (94)	59 (95)	
Current smoker, n (%)	7 (8)	9 (14)	
Number of comorbid conditions, mean (SD)	1.7 (1.2)	1.6 (1.3)	
Types of comorbid conditions			
Type II diabetes, n (%)	14 (16)	14 (22)	
Dyslipidemia, n (%)	28 (31)	20 (32)	
Cardiovascular disease, n (%)	5 (6)	5 (8)	
Hypertension, n (%)	55 (62)	27 (43)	
Sleep apnea, n (%)	25 (28)	21 (34)	
Cancer, n (%)	11 (12)	11 (18)	
Use mobility aid ^{Δ}	26 (29)	9 (14)	
Anthropometrics and body composition		· · ·	
Height [*] (cm), mean (SD)	161.6 (6.6)	176.0 (7.5)	
Weight [*] (kg), median (IQR)	97.8 (21.6)	108.6 (24.3)	
BMI [*] (kg/m ²), median (IQR)	37.0 (7.8)	34.3 (7.5)	
Waist circumference (cm), median (IQR)	116.3 (13.1)	121.6 (17.5)	
Hip circumference (cm), median (IQR)	128.3 (15.3)	119.9 (12.9)	
Waist: hip ratio, mean (SD)	0.92 (0.06)	1.02 (0.05)	
Fat mass (kg), median (IQR)	49.5 (13.8)	41.7 (14.3)	
Fat mass (%), mean (SD)	50.3 (4.3)	39.5 (5.4)	
FMI (kg/m^2) , median (IQR)	19.0 (4.9)	13.0 (5.6)	
LST (kg), median (IQR)	44.8 (6.2)	63.1 (9.6)	
ASM (kg), median (IQR)	21.3 (4.4)	30.1 (5.8)	
ASM by height ² (ASMI)(kg/m^2), median (IQR)	8.19 (1.62)	9.85 (1.74)	
ASM by weight x 100 (%), mean (SD)	22.1 (2.1)	27.1 (2.3)	
ASM by BMI (kg/m^2), mean (SD)	0.574 (0.076)	0.83 (0.114)	
Physical function			
Usual gait speed (m/s), mean (SD)	1.06 (0.31)	1.12 (0.24)	
Gait speed < 0.8m/s, n (%)	18 (20)	7 (11)	
Grip strength (kg), median (IQR)	27.0 (10)	42.0 (14)	
Grip strength < sex specific cut-offs [†] , n (%)	9 (10)	10 (16)	
6MWT (m), median (IQR)	340.2 (155.0)	390.5 (117.1)	
Patient-reported outcomes	× /		
WOMAC pain, 0-20, mean (SD)	10.0 (3.4)	8.8 (3.5)	
· · ·			

Table 3.1. Patient characteristics, by sex

		Female, n=89	Male, n=62
WOMAC stiffness, 0-8, mean (S	4.3 (1.6)	4.0 (1.6)	
WOMAC function, 0-68, mean (34.7 (11.8)	31.0 (11.4)	
WOMAC total, normalized 0-10	51.1 (16.2)	45.7 (16.3)	
EQ-5D Dimensions:			
Mobility, n (%)	No problems	4 (4)	3 (5)
	Problems	85 (96)	59 (95)
Self-care, n (%)	No problems	68 (76)	38 (61)
	Problems	21 (24)	24 (39)
Usual activities, n (%)	No problems	9 (10)	8 (13)
	Problems	80 (90)	54 (87)
Pain/discomfort, n (%)	No problems	3 (3)	2 (3)
	Problems	86 (97)	60 (97)
Anxiety/depression, n (%)	No problems	39 (44)	32 (52)
	Problems	50 (56)	30 (48)
EQ-5D VAS, 0-100, median (IQ	71 (30)	70 (26)	
EQ-5D Index, -0.148-0.949, med	0.706 (0.315)	0.664 (0.251)	

*at initial assessment

[†]<20 kg in females, <30 kg in males

 $^{\Delta}$ mobility aids include cane (n=26), walker (n=8) or wheelchair (n=1)

ASM = appendicular skeletal mass, FMI = fat mass index, LST = lean soft tissue, 6MWT = six minute walk test, WOMAC = Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index
Cohort characteristics and outcomes are presented in Table 3.1, by sex. Patients were predominantly Caucasian (95%, n=143), with 5% either Indigenous (n=5), Black (n=1), Filipino (n=1), or South Asian (n=1). Mean age was 65.1 ± 7.9 years (range 40.2-88.3 years). Expected differences in height, weight and body composition were present between sexes. Mean number of comorbidities was 1.6 ± 1.2 , with higher rates of hypertension in females. When comparing physical performance outcomes between age categories, middle-aged adults had faster mean gait speed (0.14 m/s, 95% CI 0.06-0.24) m/s higher mean grip strength (4.8 kg, 95% CI 1.6-8.0), and greater mean 6MWT distance (42.1 m/s, 95% CI 4.6-79.6) compared to older adults.

Body composition

All patients had a BMI \geq 30 kg/m² at study intake, as per inclusion criteria. At the DXA appointment where weight and height were measured without clothing or footwear, six patients' BMI was <30.0 kg/m² (28.7-29.8 kg/m²). These patients were included in the analysis as they met initial BMI criteria, along with waist circumference and %FM criteria for obesity. Waist circumference in the entire sample was above established cut-offs for obesity, ranging from 98.8-158.0 cm in females, and 107.7-162.6 cm in males. %FM was also above sex-specific criteria for obesity in entire cohort, ranging from 40.6-61.0% in females, and 26.7-50.5% in males. Analyses showed substantial variability in body composition between individuals within the same BMI category (**Figures 3.1.a and 3.1.b**), and linearity in the relationship between FM (or FMI) and BMI.





In females:

Within BMI category 30.0-34.9 kg/m², FM varied from 30.8 kg to 50.7 kg and FMI varied from 13.0 kg/m² to 18.2 kg/m² Within BMI category 35.0-39.9 kg/m², FM varied from 38.5 kg to 62.8 kg and FMI varied from 16.0 kg/m² to 21.0 kg/m² Within BMI category 40.0-44.9 kg/m², FM varied from 44.9 kg to 66.3 kg and FMI varied from 18.6 kg/m² to 25.0 kg/m² In males:

Within BMI category 30.0-34.9 kg/m², FM varied from 24.7 kg to 45.5 kg and FMI varied from 8.5 kg/m² to 10.6 kg/m² Within BMI category 35.0-39.9 kg/m², FM varied from 35.6 kg to 54.0 kg and FMI varied from 12.0 kg/m² to 17.4 kg/m² Within BMI category 40.0-44.9 kg/m², FM varied from 46.5 kg to 65.9 kg and FMI varied from 16.8 kg/m² to 21.5 kg/m²

^aBMI at DXA BMI=body mass index (weight/height²), FM=fat mass, FMI=fat mass index (FM/height²)





In females:

Within BMI category 30.0-34.9 kg/m², ASM varied from 16.0 kg to 26.0 kg and ASMI varied from 6.6 kg/m² to 8.6 kg/m² Within BMI category 35.0-39.9 kg/m², ASM varied from 14.6 kg to 26.8 kg and ASMI varied from 6.7 kg/m² to 10.7 kg/m² Within BMI category 40.0-44.9 kg/m², ASM varied from 16.1 kg to 29.8 kg and ASMI varied from 7.4 kg/m² to 10.7 kg/m² In males:

Within BMI category 30.0-34.9 kg/m², ASM varied from 21.0 kg to 33.6 kg and ASMI varied from 7.1 kg/m² to 10.6 kg/m² Within BMI category 35.0-39.9 kg/m², ASM varied from 28.3 kg to 39.8 kg and ASMI varied from 9.8 kg/m² to 11.6 kg/m² Within BMI category 40.0-44.9 kg/m², ASM varied from 24.0 kg to 41.2 kg and ASMI varied from 9.8 kg/m² to 11.9 kg/m²

^aBMI at DXA

ASM=appendicular skeletal muscle mass, ASMI=ASM index (ASM/height²), BMI=body mass index (weight/height²)

Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity

Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in the overall cohort varied depending on diagnostic criteria (**Table 3.2**). A higher prevalence was observed in males when sarcopenic obesity was identified with low muscle alone, but not with the combined diagnostic approach. Alternatively, the combined diagnostic approach yielded a higher prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in older adults compared to their younger counterparts, which was not observed with low muscle alone.

Figure 3.2.a illustrates the overlap between the three diagnostic definitions for low muscle mass alone. There was some concordance between criteria, with ASM/BMI identifying 100% of those with low ASM/height², and 82% of those with low ASM/weight. There were n=27 patients uniquely identified as having low muscle mass by separate criteria (n=23 only with ASM/BMI, and n=4 only with ASM/weight). **Figure 3.2.b** illustrates the overlap between individuals identified with low muscle mass, low physical function, or low muscular strength when using the combined diagnostic approach.

Outcomes by sarcopenic obesity diagnosis

Table 3.3 presents differences in physical function and patient-reported outcomes by groups identified as having or not having sarcopenic obesity. The prevalence identified with ASM/height² alone was too low (1%) for meaningful comparisons, so only comparisons using ASM/weight and ASM/BMI are presented independently. The proportion of patients with type II diabetes was higher in all groups identified with sarcopenic obesity (difference of 10.2%, 14.7% and 30.2%) compared to the group without sarcopenic obesity when categorized using ASM/weight, ASM/BMI, and the combined approach, respectively. The proportion using mobility aids was higher in the sarcopenic obesity group only when categorized by the combined approach (difference of 33.5% compared to group without sarcopenic obesity). There were

	Sarcopenic obesity identified with low muscle alone							Sarcopenic obesity identified with low	
	ASM by height ^{2†}		ASM by weight [†]		ASM by BMI ^{\dagger}		muscle ^c and low function ^a or strength ^b		
	SO	NSO	SO	NSO	SO	NSO	SO	NSO	
Total, n (%) (CI)	2 (1.3)	149 (98.7)	22 (14.6)	129 (85.4)	41 (27.2)	110 (72.8)	13 (8.6)	138 (91.4)	
	(0.2-4.7)	(95.3-99.8)	(9.4-21.2)	(78.9-90.6)	(20.2-35)	(65-79.8)	(4.7-14.3)	(85.7-95.3)	
Female, n (%) (CI)	0 (0)	89 (100)	6 (6.7)	83 (93.3)	18 (20.2)	71 (79.8)	6 (6.7)	83 (93.3)	
	(0-4.1)	(95.9-100)	(2.5-14.1)	(85.9-97.5)	(12.4-30.1)	(69.9-87.6)	(2.5-14.1)	(85.9-97.5)	
Male, n (%) (CI)	2 (3.2)	60 (96.8)	16 (25.8)	46 (74.2)	23 (37.1)	39 (62.9)	7 (11.3)	55 (88.7)	
	(0.4-11.2)	(88.8-99.6)	(15.5-38.5)	(61.5-84.5)	(25.2-50.3)	(49.7-74.8)	(4.7-21.9)	(78.1-95.3)	
Age 40-64.9 years,	0 (0)	74 (100)	12 (16.2)	62 (83.8)	17 (23)	57 (77)	2 (2.7)	72 (97.3)	
n (%) (CI)	(0-4.9)	(95.1-100)	(8.7-26.6)	(73.4-91.3)	(14-34.2)	(65.8-86)	(0.3-9.4)	(90.6-99.7)	
Age ≥65 years,	2 (2.6)	75 (97.4)	10 (13)	67 (87)	24 (31.2)	53 (68.8)	11 (14.3)	66 (85.7)	
n (%) (CI)	(0.3-9.1)	(90.9-99.7)	(6.4-22.6)	(77.4-93.6)	(21.1-42.7)	(57.3-78.9)	(7.4-24.1)	(75.9-92.6)	

Table 3.2. Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity by diagnostic criteria

[†]Cut-off criteria for females, males, respectively: ASM by height², kg/m² (<5.45, <7.26), ASM by weight, % (<19.43, <25.72), ASM by BMI, kg/m² (<0.512, <0.789)

^agait speed <0.8 m/s

^bhandgrip strength <20 kg in females, <30 kg in males

^cAny criteria for low muscle: ASM by height², kg/m² (<5.45, <7.26), or ASM by weight, % (<19.43, <25.72), or ASM by BMI, kg/m² (<0.512, <0.789) in females and males, respectively

ASM = appendicular skeletal muscle mass, CI = 95% confidence interval, NSO = not sarcopenic obesity, SO = sarcopenic obesity



Figure 3.2.a. Overlap of different diagnostic criteria for sarcopenic obesity identified by low muscle mass alone

Low muscle mass identified by:

^aASM by BMI (kg/m²) <0.512 in females, <0.789 in males $_{b}$ ASM by height² (kg/m²) <5.45 in females, <7.26 in males ^cASM by weight (%) <19.43 in females, <25.72 in males

Figure 3.2.b. Overlap of identification of low muscle mass, function or strength in study population



^aIdentified by any criteria: ASM by height², kg/m² (<5.45, <7.26), or ASM by weight, % (<19.43, <25.72), or ASM by BMI, kg/m² (<0.512, <0.789) in females and males, respectively

^bhandgrip strength <20 kg in females, <30 kg in males (based on EWGSOP criteria¹⁹)

^cgait speed <0.8 m/s (based on EWGSOP criteria¹⁹)

	Sarcopenic obesity ident	Sarcopenic obesity - identified by low muscle ^c		
	ASM by weight ^a	ASM by BMI ^b	and either low function ⁴ or low strength [†]	
	SO n= 22^{Δ}	SO n=41	SO n=13 ^{Δ}	
	Compared to NSO n=129	Compared to NSO n=110	Compared to NSO n=138	
Physical function outcomes:				
Gait speed (m/s)	-0.12 (-0.01 – 0.2)*	-0.12 (-0.220.01)*	-0.24 (-0.4 $-$ -0.08)* $^{\phi}$	
Grip strength (kg)	1.4 (-3.3 – 6.1)	-2.6 (-6.3- 1.1)	-9.9 (-15.64.2)*∳	
Grip strength, female	1.4 (-3.7 – 6.6)	-4.1 (-7.31.0)*	-8.0 (-12.93.1)*∳	
Grip strength, male	-6.3 (-11.80.9)*	-6.9 (-11.82.0)*	-15.4 (-22.28.5)* [†]	
6MWT (m)	-65.3 (-118.212.3)*	-50.9 (-92.98.9)*	-105.1 (-170.939.4)*•	
Patient reported outcomes:				
WOMAC pain 0-20	0.4 (-1.2 – 2.0)	1.2 (-0.05 – 2.4)	0.6 (-1.4 – 2.6)	
WOMAC stiffness 0-8	0 (-0.7 – 0.7)	0.1 (-0.5 – 0.7)	0(-0.9-0.9)	
WOMAC function 0-68	0.7(-4.7-6.1)	0 (-4.3 – 4.3)	0.8(-6.0-7.6)	
WOMAC total 0-100	1.1 (-6.4 – 8.6)	1.4 (-4.5 – 7.3)	1.5 (-7.9 – 10.9)	
EQ-5D VAS, 0-100	-0.2 (-8.5 - 8.1)	-4.8 (-11.3 – 1.7)	-17.1 (-27.27.0)*	
EQ-5D index score	0.006(-0.086-0.097)	-0.029 (-0.101 - 0.044)	-0.052 (-0.167 – 0.063)	
EQ-5D self-care dimension ^{\$}	18.3	19.4*	34.7*	

Table 3.3. Difference in outcomes by sarcopenic obesity status and diagnostic criteria

Values presented are mean differences (CI) in group classified as SO compared to group classified as NSO, unless otherwise indicated

^aASM by weight <19.43% in females and <25.72% in males

 bASM by BMI <0.512 kg/m² in females and <0.789 kg/m² in males

^cIdentified by any ASM criteria: ASM by height², kg/m² (<5.45, <7.26), or ASM by weight, % (<19.43, <25.72), or ASM by BMI, kg/m² (<0.512, <0.789) in females and males, respectively

 \downarrow low gait speed <0.8 m/s

†low grip strength <20 kg in women or <30 kg in men

^Abetween group comparisons conducted using non-parametric Mann Whitney U test or Fishers exact

^{\$}difference in proportion (%) of SO group reporting problems compared to NSO group (no between group differences were present in other EQ-5D dimensions) p < 0.05

¢caution should be taken when interpreting functional outcomes using the combined definition, as cut-points for low grip strength or low gait speed were used in the diagnostic definition

ASM = appendicular skeletal mass, CI = 95% confidence interval, NSO = not sarcopenic obesity, SO = sarcopenic obesity, VAS = visual analogue scale

differences in all physical function outcomes and in patient-reported EQ-5D self-care problems between those having and not having sarcopenic obesity, across all diagnostic methods. Age only differed between groups when using the combined diagnostic approach, with the sarcopenic obesity group being older (mean difference of 5.5 years, 95% CI 1.0-9.9). BMI was only different when using low muscle mass alone, with the sarcopenic obesity groups having a higher BMI (mean difference of 4.0 kg/m², 95% CI 1.3-6.8 with ASM/weight, and 2.5 kg/m², 95% CI 0.5-4.5 with ASM/BMI).

3.6 Discussion

In this cohort of patients with knee OA, we found compelling evidence that sarcopenic obesity is present and influenced physical function and aspects of quality of life. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to compare sarcopenic obesity diagnostic procedures that consider low muscle mass alone and in combination with low strength or function in a clinical OA cohort, and only the second study³⁴ to examine the influence of this condition on physical function in OA. Research on sarcopenic obesity in knee OA has been limited⁸, with few population and clinical studies. Interestingly, sarcopenic obesity occurred across age categories in this cohort, illustrating its relevance across the age spectrum.

Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity

Sarcopenic obesity prevalence varied depending on diagnostic criteria used. Low muscle mass (low ASM) alone yielded a prevalence ranging from 1.3% to 27.2%. This variability is consistent with other studies on sarcopenic obesity in knee OA reporting prevalence from 1.3% using ASM/height², to between 3% and 35.4% using ASM/weight and ASM/BMI^{34–38}. ASM adjusted by weight or BMI identified more individuals with sarcopenic obesity compared to ASM/height², suggesting that ASM/height² may not be sensitive to identify low ASM in adults

with higher body mass. This is consistent with findings from other studies^{39,40}. Further, ASM relative to body weight and BMI have stronger associations with physical function^{19,23}, so they may be most relevant to identify sarcopenic obesity in adults with obesity and OA. More males were identified with sarcopenic obesity in this cohort, similar to the results of Ji et al.³⁷ who examined prevalence in patients undergoing orthopedic surgery (including TKA). Age-related reductions in testosterone hormones in men (andropause) have been associated with an increased decline in skeletal muscle mass⁴¹. Sex-related factors may be more important than age in the development of sarcopenic obesity in the OA population⁴², but further examination is required.

When using the combined diagnostic approach to identify sarcopenic obesity, higher prevalence rates were observed in older adults. This could indicate that the tests and/or cut-offs used to assess low physical function or low muscle strength may preferentially identify limitations in older adults (\geq 65 years), the population age where the cut-offs were established⁴³. In our cohort, middle-aged adults had higher scores on all physical performance tests compared to older adults. Different cut-off levels or types of tests may better discriminate low muscle mass impacting function in middle-aged adults with OA. A consensus definition for sarcopenic obesity is needed^{21,22}, and may need to include different diagnostic approaches for different populations, ages or disease specific groups²¹. Further, criteria are needed for early identification in clinical settings. There is a benefit of practitioners being able to easily identify the presence or absence of sarcopenic obesity before it impacts physical function and to prevent or mitigate disability (by treating with diet or physical activity, or avoiding recommendations for weight loss that could exacerbate skeletal muscle loss).

Sarcopenic obesity and performance-based physical function

Sarcopenic obesity significantly impacted physical function and strength in the study cohort, with slower walking speeds, lower grip strength, and lower walking endurance yielded using all diagnostic approaches. Sarcopenic obesity has been associated with negative impacts on functional mobility, including difficulty walking, slower walking speed, and difficulty climbing stairs in other populations⁴⁴, but in OA it may compound the impact of OA-related physical disability. Manoy et al.³⁴ also found sarcopenic obesity negatively influenced grip strength, gait speed and 6MWT distance in patients with knee OA independent from obesity. Low muscle mass likely contributes clinically significant functional limitations over and above those due to both obesity and OA, which should be considered in OA management approaches and recommendations.

Sarcopenic obesity and patient-reported pain, function and quality of life

Interestingly, there were only differences in one EQ-5D dimension, self-care activities, when classified by sarcopenic obesity status. This dimension has patients identify level of difficulty washing or dressing themselves. Sex differences were present prior to differentiating sarcopenic obesity, with more problems reported by males, which may reflect the higher prevalence of low muscle mass in males in our cohort. Visser et al.⁴⁵ also found that low fat free mass (assessed by bioelectrical impedance analysis) interacted with knee OA to further reduce health-related quality of life in men only. Sarcopenic obesity may impart additional or unique influence on self-care in males, independent from obesity and OA. Future studies should include formal assessments of self-reported difficulties with activities of daily living in addition to health-related quality of life, to see if this influence persists across instruments. We found no difference in WOMAC scores between those who had or did not have sarcopenic obesity, in

contrast to Manoy et al.³⁴ who reported higher WOMAC scores in patients with knee OA and sarcopenic obesity compared to those with obesity or normal weight. Differences in WOMAC scoring methods (they used a 0-10 scale-based system), in addition to methodological differences between studies likely accounts for the disparate findings.

Sarcopenic obesity and patient characteristics

Mean BMI was higher in the groups with sarcopenic obesity when identified using ASM by weight and ASM/BMI, reflecting greater disproportion in the load:capacity relationship between fat and muscle mass when body mass increases. Diabetes prevalence in the sarcopenic obesity groups were higher when compared to the groups without sarcopenic obesity, highlighting the relationship between diabetes and accelerated muscle loss related to sarcopenia⁴¹. This higher prevalence of diabetes alongside sarcopenic obesity is important for consideration of surgical risk with TKA, as both are independent risk factors for surgical infection and poorer outcomes, potentially magnified by interaction.

Other considerations

Muscle is a complex organ, and the quantity and quality of muscle tissue and muscle fibers are influenced by inflammatory, metabolic, and endocrine factors⁴⁶ including age and obesity^{47,48}. Low muscle mass has been considered a primary proxy measurement for metabolic control and physical disability, yet the composition of the muscle may be an underlying factor that is not clearly investigated. Increased storage of fat within and between muscle cells (called myosteatosis) occurs with aging and obesity^{49,50}, reducing contractile strength per muscle unit and muscular endurance²¹, in turn affecting mobility⁵¹. Unlike with cancer, where advanced body composition imaging with computerized axial tomography or magnetic resonance imaging is often completed, assessments of muscle mass in OA clinical populations may be limited to imaging methods like DXA which cannot assess myosteatosis⁴⁷. Increased myosteatosis with muscle loss and aging-related adiposity gains, further increased by OA pain-related immobility, could be a mitigating factor between differences in decreased function or strength and decreased muscle mass⁴⁹.

Body composition analyses in this study revealed large variations in adiposity and muscularity within BMI categories, adding further evidence of the limitations of BMI as a surrogate marker for individual-level body composition⁵². BMI alone does not adequately identify sarcopenic obesity in patients with OA. This is also a limitation in the research evidence on the impact of obesity (defined only as BMI \geq 30 kg/m²) on TKA surgical infection rates, as differentiation between body compartments of adipose and muscle tissue could elucidate which primarily influences infection risk in this population.

Strengths and limitations

Notable strengths of this study include the use of a DXA for body composition analysis with larger scanning surface and higher weight capacity, preventing exclusion of patients with larger body size. Further, performance-based physical function has not been well examined in patients with sarcopenic obesity and OA, and thus these results are uniquely informative. Limitations include the primarily Caucasian sample and cross-sectional design, with potential for reverse causation. Results on physical function and quality of life should be interpreted with caution. Gait speed and grip strength were used both in the combined diagnostic criteria (as cutpoints to define low function or strength) and also as continuous outcome variables, limiting the interpretability of the functional outcomes in this subgroup. Additionally, we were not able to control for confounding due to smaller samples in subgroup analyses. Differences in selfreported pain and impairments of physical function may have been impacted by other treatment

interventions patients were receiving, including varied prescription pain medications, cortisone injections, and therapeutic rehabilitation, which were not controlled for. Further we did not collect information on physical activity or diet, which could be relevant for differences in muscle mass, and we did not control for weight change between initial clinic visit and DXA visit. Some patients may have been actively trying to lose weight during this period, but length of time between appointments was minimal (median 16 days). Furthermore, some patients may have had hand OA in addition to knee OA, which could have affected their maximal grip strength. Patients with severe pain or mobility limitations may have been less likely to complete the study, due to required attendance at the DXA appointment at an unfamiliar clinic on a separate day. However, efforts were made to reduce barriers to study completion (e.g. detailed maps, handicap parking stalls, access ramps and elevators, paid parking fees). Lastly, this study included patients referred to the orthopedic clinic by their primary physician, and not all patients may be interested, willing or eligible to undergo TKA. This sample may not be representative of all patients with end-stage knee OA.

3.7 Conclusions

Sarcopenic obesity (identified by low muscle mass alone, or low muscle mass with low strength or low function), was present in patients with end-stage knee OA, and impacted physical function and quality of life relative to self-care activities. While prevalence varied depending on diagnostic approach, it is apparent that BMI alone is inadequate to screen for this condition. Given the impact of sarcopenic obesity on outcomes in this population, increased clinical awareness and screening is important. A diagnostic method that considers a combination of low muscle mass with low strength or function is suggested to clarify expected prevalence and enable increased identification and management of this condition in patients with knee OA.

3.8 References

- Samson AJ, Mercer GE, Campbell DG. Total knee replacement in the morbidly obese: A literature review. ANZ J Surg. 2010;80(9):595-599. doi:10.1111/j.1445-2197.2010.05396.x
- 2. Springer B, Parvizi J, Austin M, Backe H, Valle C Della, Kolessar DJ, et al. Obesity and total joint arthroplasty. A literature based review. *J Arthroplasty*. 2013;28(5):714-721. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2013.02.011
- 3. Roubenoff R. Sarcopenic obesity: the confluence of two epidemics. *Obes Res.* 2004;12(6):887-888. doi:10.1038/oby.2004.107
- 4. Nishigori T, Tsunoda S, Okabe H, Tanaka E, Hisamori S, Hosogi H, et al. Impact of sarcopenic obesity on surgical site infection after laparoscopic total gastrectomy. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2016:524-531. doi:10.1245/s10434-016-5385-y
- 5. Visser M, van Venrooij LMW, Vulperhorst L, de Vos R, Wisselink W, van Leeuwen PAM, et al. Sarcopenic obesity is associated with adverse clinical outcome after cardiac surgery. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2013;23(6):511-518. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2011.12.001
- 6. Baumgartner RN, Wayne SJ, Waters DL, Janssen I, Gallagher D, Morley JE. Sarcopenic obesity predicts instrumental activities of daily living disability in the elderly. *Obes Res.* 2004;12(12):1995-2004. doi:10.1038/oby.2004.250
- Van Aller C, Lara J, Stephan BCM, Donini LM, Heymsfield S, Katzmarzyk PT, et al. Sarcopenic obesity and overall mortality: Results from the application of novel models of body composition phenotypes to the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999–2004. *Clin Nutr*. 2018. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2018.01.022
- 8. Godziuk K, Prado C, Woodhouse L, Forhan M. The impact of sarcopenic obesity on knee and hip osteoarthritis: a scoping review. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2018. doi:10.1186/s12891-018-2175-7
- 9. Griffin TM, Huffman KM. Insulin resistance: Releasing the brakes on synovial inflammation and osteoarthritis? *Arthritis Rheumatol*. 2016;68(6):1-30. doi:10.1002/art.39586
- Dowsey MM, Gunn J, Choong PFM. Selecting those to refer for joint replacement: Who will likely benefit and who will not? *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol*. 2014;28(1):157-171. doi:10.1016/j.berh.2014.01.005
- Prado CM, Wells JCK, Smith SR, Stephan BCM, Siervo M. Sarcopenic obesity: A critical appraisal of the current evidence. *Clin Nutr.* 2012;31(5):583-601. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2012.06.010
- 12. Demling RH. Nutrition, anabolism, and the wound healing process: an overview. *Eplasty*. 1954;9:65-94.
- 13. Levine ME, Crimmins EM. The impact of insulin resistance and inflammation on the

association between sarcopenic obesity and physical functioning. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2012;20(10):2101-2106. doi:10.1038/oby.2012.20

- 14. Turnheim K. When drug therapy gets old: pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in the elderly. *Exp Gerontol*. 2003;38:843-853. doi:10.1016/S0531-5565(03)00133-5
- Cao L, Morley JE. Sarcopenia is recognized as an independent condition by an International Classification of Disease, Tenth Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-10-CM) code. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2016;17:675-677. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2016.06.001
- Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, Boirie Y, Cederholm T, Landi F, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis. *Age Ageing*. 2010;39(4):412-423. doi:10.1093/ageing/afq034
- Muscaritoli M, Anker SD, Argilés J, Aversa Z, Bauer JM, Biolo G, et al. Consensus definition of sarcopenia, cachexia and pre-cachexia: Joint document elaborated by Special Interest Groups (SIG) "cachexia-anorexia in chronic wasting diseases" and "nutrition in geriatrics." *Clin Nutr*. 2010;29:154-159. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2009.12.004
- Fielding RA, Vellas B, Evans WJ, Bhasin S, Morley JE, Newman AB, et al. Sarcopenia: an undiagnosed condition in older adults. Current consensus definition: prevalence, etiology, and consequences. International Working Group on Sarcopenia. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2011;12(4):249-256. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2011.01.003
- Studenski SA, Peters KW, Alley DE, Cawthon PM, McLean RR, Harris TB, et al. The FNIH sarcopenia project: Rationale, study description, conference recommendations, and final estimates. *Journals Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*. 2014;69(5):547-558. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu010
- 20. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Bahat G, Bauer J, Boirie Y, Bruyère O, Cederholm T, et al. Sarcopenia: revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis. *Age Ageing*. 2018;(0):1-16. doi:10.1093/ageing/afy169
- 21. Barazzoni R, Bischoff S, Boirie Y, Busetto L, Cederholm T, Dicker D, et al. Sarcopenic obesity: time to meet the challenge. *Eur J Obes*. 2018:294-305. doi:10.1159/000490361
- 22. Batsis JA, Villareal DT. Sarcopenic obesity in older adults: Aetiology, epidemiology and treatment strategies. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* 2018. doi:10.1038/s41574-018-0062-9
- 23. Johnson Stoklossa CA, Sharma AM, Forhan M, Siervo M, Padwal RS, Prado CM. Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in adults with class II/III obesity using different diagnostic criteria. *J Nutr Metab.* 2017. doi:10.1155/2017/7307618
- 24. Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) A metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *J Biomed Inf.* 2009;42(2):377-381. doi:10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010.
- 25. World Health Organization. Body Mass Index BMI. http://www.euro.who.int/en/healthtopics/disease-prevention/nutrition/a-healthy-lifestyle/body-mass-index-bmi. Accessed October 3, 2018.

- 26. Batsis JA, Mackenzie TA, Lopez-Jimenez F, Bartels SJ. Sarcopenia, sarcopenic obesity, and functional impairments in older adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys 1999-2004. *Nutr Res.* 2015;35(12):1031-1039. doi:10.1016/j.nutres.2015.09.003
- Bennell K, Dobson F, Hinman R. Measures of physical performance assessments: Self-Paced Walk Test (SPWT), Stair Climb Test (SCT), Six-Minute Walk Test (6MWT), Chair Stand Test (CST), Timed Up & Go (TUG), Sock Test, Lift and Carry Test (LCT), and Car Task. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2011;63(SUPPL. 11):350-370. doi:10.1002/acr.20538
- 28. Janssen M, Pickard A, Golicki D, Gudex C, Niewada M, Scalone L, et al. Measurement properties of the EQ-5D-5L compared to the EQ-5D-3L across eight patient groups: a multi-country study. *Qual Life Res.* 2013;22:1717-1727. doi:10.1007/s11136-012-0322-4
- 29. Xie F, Pullenayegum E, Gaebel K, Bansback N, Ohinmaa A, Poissant L, et al. A time trade-off-derived value set of the EQ-5D-5L for Canada. *Med Care*. 2016;54(1):98-105.
- Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC). American College of Rheumatology. http://www.rheumatology.org/I-Am-A/Rheumatologist/Research/Clinician-Researchers/Western-Ontario-McMaster-Universities-Osteoarthritis-Index-WOMAC. Published 2015. Accessed August 23, 2016.
- Baumgartner RN, Koehler K, Gallagher D, Romero L, Heymsfield S, Ross R, et al. Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the enderly in New México. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1998;147(8):755-763.
- 32. Daniel W. *Biostatistics: A Foundation for Analysis in the Health Sciences*. 9th ed. John Wiley & Sons, Inc; 2009.
- 33. Naing L, Winn T, Rusli B. Practical issues in calculating the sample size for prevalence studies. *Arch Orofac Sci.* 2006;1:9-14. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.60.110707.163629
- 34. Manoy P, Anomasiri W, Yuktanandana P, Tanavalee A, Ngarmukos S, Tanpowpong T, et al. Elevated serum leptin levels are associated with low vitamin D, sarcopenic obesity, poor muscle strength, and physical performance in knee osteoarthritis. *Biomarkers*. 2017:1-22. doi:10.1080/1354750X.2017.1315615
- Lee S, Kim TN, Kim SH. Sarcopenic obesity is more closely associated with knee osteoarthritis than is nonsarcopenic obesity: A cross-sectional study. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2012;64(12):3947-3954. doi:10.1002/art.37696
- Lee SY, Ro HJ, Chung SG, Kang SH, Seo KM, Kim DK. Low skeletal muscle mass in the lower limbs is independently associated to knee osteoarthritis. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(11):1-11. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0166385
- Ji HM, Han J, Jin DS, Suh H, Chung YS, Won YY. Sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity in patients undergoing orthopedic surgery. *Clin Orthop Surg.* 2016;8(2):194-202. doi:10.4055/cios.2016.8.2.194
- Jeanmaire C, Mazières B, Verrouil E, Bernard L, Guillemin F, Rat A-C. Body composition and clinical symptoms in patients with hip or knee osteoarthritis: Results from the KHOALA cohort. *Semin Arthritis Rheum*. 2017:1-8. doi:10.1016/j.semarthrit.2017.10.012

- 39. Newman AB, Kupelian V, Visser M, Simonsick E, Goodpaster B, Nevitt M, et al. Sarcopenia: alternative definitions and associations with lower extremity function. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2003;51(11):1602-1609. doi:10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51534.x
- 40. Johnson Stoklossa C, Sharma A, Forhan M, Siervo M, Padwal R, Prado C. Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in adults with class II/III obesity using different diagnostic criteria. *J Nutr Metab.* 2017.
- Kalyani RR, Corriere M, Ferrucci L. Age-related and disease-related muscle loss: The effect of diabetes, obesity, and other diseases. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol*. 2014;2(10):819-829. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70034-8
- 42. Suh DH, Han KD, Hong JY, Park JH, Bae JH, Moon YW, et al. Body composition is more closely related to the development of knee osteoarthritis in women than men: A cross-sectional study using the Fifth Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (KNHANES V-1, 2). *Osteoarthr Cartil*. 2016;24(4):605-611. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2015.10.011
- 43. Abellan Van Kan G, Rolland Y, Andrieu S, Anthony P, Bauer J, Beauchet O, et al. Gait speed at usual pace as a predictor of adverse outcomes in community-dwelling older people. *J Nutr Health Aging*. 2009;13:881-889. doi:10.1007/s12603-009-0246-z
- 44. Kohara K. Sarcopenic obesity in aging population: Current status and future directions for research. *Endocrine*. 2014;45(1):15-25. doi:10.1007/s12020-013-9992-0
- 45. Visser AW, de Mutsert R, Bloem JL, Reijnierse M, Kazato H, le Cessie S, et al. Do knee osteoarthritis and fat-free mass interact in their impact on health-related quality of life in men? Results from a population-based cohort. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2015;67(7):981-988. doi:10.1002/acr.22550
- 46. Collins KH, Herzog W, MacDonald GZ, Reimer RA, Rios JL, Smith IC, et al. Obesity, metabolic syndrome, and musculoskeletal disease: Common inflammatory pathways suggest a central role for loss of muscle integrity. *Front Physiol*. 2018;9(FEB). doi:10.3389/fphys.2018.00112
- Heymsfield SB, Gonzalez MC, Lu J, Jia G, Zheng J. Skeletal muscle mass and quality: evolution of modern measurement concepts in the context of sarcopenia. *Proc Nutr Soc*. 2015. doi:10.1017/S0029665115000129
- 48. Wilkinson DJ, Piasecki M, Atherton PJ. The age-related loss of skeletal muscle mass and function: Measurement and physiology of muscle fibre atrophy and muscle fibre loss in humans. *Ageing Res Rev.* 2018;47:123-132. doi:10.1016/j.arr.2018.07.005
- 49. Perkisas S, De Cock A, Verhoeven V, Vandewoude M. Intramuscular adipose tissue and the functional components of sarcopenia in hospitalized geriatric patients. *Geriatrics*. 2017;2(11). doi:10.3390/geriatrics2010011
- 50. Zamboni M, Mazzali G, Fantin F, Rossi A, Di Francesco V. Sarcopenic obesity: A new category of obesity in the elderly. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2008;18(5):388-395. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2007.10.002
- 51. Visser M, Goodpaster BH, Kritchevsky SB, Newman AB, Nevitt M, Rubin SM, et al.

Muscle mass, muscle strength, and muscle fat infiltration as predictors of incident mobility limitations in well-functioning older persons. *J Gerontol Med Sci.* 2005;60(3):324-333.

52. Gonzalez MC, Correia MITD, Heymsfield SB. A requiem for BMI in the clinical setting. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2017;20(5):1. doi:10.1097/MCO.0000000000395

CHAPTER 4

4.1 Synopsis

A version of this chapter was submitted for publication as Godziuk K, Woodhouse LJ, Prado CM, Forhan M, "Clinical screening and identification of sarcopenic obesity in end-stage knee osteoarthritis".

4.2 Abstract

Introduction: Sarcopenic obesity, defined as low muscle mass with low strength or function in the presence of high fat mass, is an important health condition requiring attention in knee osteoarthritis (OA). Identification of screening methods to discern low muscle function (low strength or physical performance) relative to sarcopenic obesity in this population is needed. The purpose of this study was to identify muscle function measures and patient characteristics associated with low muscle mass in patients with end-stage knee OA. These were then applied to identify subgroups of patients with and without sarcopenic obesity, to compare outcomes of pain, function and quality of life.

Methods: Adults with a body mass index (BMI) \geq 30 kg/m² and unilateral or bilateral end-stage knee OA were included in this cross-sectional study. Body composition was measured in n=151 patients (59% female, mean age 65.1±7.9 years, mean BMI 37.1±5.5 kg/m²) using dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry. Appendicular skeletal muscle mass (ASM) (adjusted by BMI) below pre-established sex-specific cut-points was used to differentiate low muscle mass. Strength and physical performance were assessed by four-metre gait speed, six minute walk test, and maximal grip strength (absolute and relative, adjusted by BMI). Logistic regression was used to assess the relationship between physical function measures (controlling for age, sex, BMI, and comorbidities) and low muscle mass. Receiver operating characteristic curves and area under the curve (AUC) were used to test the performance of the final model, establish cut-points for low physical function, and discern groups with and without sarcopenic obesity.

Results: Relative grip strength, controlled for sex, was associated with low muscle mass in this cohort (AUC 0.774, p<0.001). Relative grip strength cut-points of <0.65 kg/m² in females and <1.1 kg/m² in males were identified as discriminators of low strength. When used in combination with low muscle mass to identify sarcopenic obesity, prevalence was 19.9% (14.6% in females, and 27.4% in males). Patients identified with sarcopenic obesity had slower walking speed, lower walking endurance, and poorer health-related quality of life.

Conclusions: Relative grip strength could be used in the clinical setting to screen for low strength in patients with knee OA and obesity. Patients with low strength could then complete a body composition assessment to determine the presence of low muscle mass, and confirm or refute the identification of sarcopenic obesity.

4.3 Introduction

Sarcopenic obesity is defined as low muscle mass with low strength or function in the presence of high fat mass^{1,2}. It is an important health condition requiring attention in knee osteoarthritis (OA)³ due to associations with impaired mobility⁴ and increased surgical risk⁵, as shown in other clinical populations. Adults with knee OA and obesity may be particularly at risk for sarcopenic obesity due to accelerated loss of muscle and strength associated with OA-related pain and mobility impairment, and obesity-related inflammation³. While low muscle mass has been associated with poor function and quality of life in patients with knee OA⁶, the possible influence of sarcopenic obesity on surgical infections, recovery and mortality may be more concerning for patients with end-stage OA considering total knee arthroplasty (TKA). However,

as sarcopenic obesity is not usually identified in patients considering TKA, its influence on outcomes remains unknown.

Early identification of sarcopenic obesity in patients with OA is a clinical challenge. It may be most expeditious to first identify low strength or function and then confirm low muscle mass. In sarcopenia (defined as age-related loss of muscle mass and strength or function in older adults), the use of handgrip strength or gait speed to screen and identify low strength or function is well established⁷⁻¹⁰. The European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older Persons (EWGSOP2) recommend grip strength as a diagnostic assessment for sarcopenia, and gait speed to determine severity⁹. International clinical practice guidelines recommend gait speed as a screening assessment¹⁰. However screening approaches using measures of strength and function are still being considered for sarcopenic obesity^{11–13}. Grip strength and gait speed cut-points developed and tested in normal weight, older adults may not be relevant for sarcopenic obesity, as this condition also occurs in younger adults¹². Further, OA and obesity have independent influences on strength and function, adding additional confounding. Obesity reduces gait parameters of stride length, balance and stance, resulting in slower gait speeds¹⁴. Similarly, OArelated pain and stiffness can alter gait kinematics and reduce gait speed. Importantly, these influences could be compounded in patients who have both obesity and OA¹⁴. With grip strength, systemic inflammatory-related OA can affect both the knee and hand joints, potentially reducing grip strength. Alternatively, adults with obesity may have higher grip strength compared to adults with normal body weight due to relatively higher muscle mass¹⁵. This additional confounding illustrates a challenge in using grip strength and gait speed to discriminate impairments that are due to low muscle mass rather than OA or obesity. Other measures or approaches may be better in this clinical population with OA.

Early identification of sarcopenic obesity in OA clinical pathways is important to mitigate disability, morbidity and mortality risk by preventing and minimizing any further muscle loss¹². Few studies have examined strength or function measures and low muscle mass in patients with knee OA and obesity^{16,17}. Manoy et al.¹⁶ used low gait speed or grip strength with low muscle mass to discern sarcopenic obesity in patients with knee OA, but did not examine the relationship between these measures. Davis et al.¹⁷ reported a relationship between lower muscle mass and lower physical performance in their cohort with knee OA, however they did not examine this from a screening or diagnostic approach. To our knowledge no studies have explored the use of muscle function measures to screen for sarcopenic obesity in knee OA.

Therefore, the purpose of this study was to determine which strength or physical performance measures and patient characteristics were associated with low muscle mass in adults with knee OA and obesity. Further, we used associated variables to distinguish patients with and without sarcopenic obesity, and compare outcomes of pain, function and quality of life.

4.4 Methods

This study is an additional analysis of data from a cross-sectional cohort of adults with end-stage knee OA and obesity, described in more detail elsewhere (Chapter 3). The study included community dwelling adults with unilateral or bilateral knee OA undergoing screening for total knee arthroplasty (TKA) at an orthopedic clinic in Alberta, Canada from May 2017-March 2018. Inclusion criteria were: BMI \geq 30 kg/m²; no history of hip or knee arthroplasty or bariatric surgery and; able to communicate and give written informed consent in English. A consecutive sampling approach was used to sequentially enrol eligible and consenting patients at their initial clinical visit. Study data were collected prospectively and managed using REDCap¹⁸ electronic data capture tools hosted and supported by the Women and Children's Health Research

Institute at the University of Alberta. Ethics approval was provided by the Health Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta.

Patient characteristics

Socio-demographic and health information about each patient was collected, including age, sex, ethnicity, and smoking status. Comorbid conditions were identified by asking patients whether a doctor had told them they had type II diabetes, dyslipidemia, cardiovascular disease, hypertension, sleep apnea, cancer, or hand OA. Height and weight were measured at the patients' initial visit in clinic, and measured again at the patients' body composition appointment on a separate date and location. BMI was calculated. Waist and hip circumference were measured at initial visit over light clothing using a non-elastic tape measure, recording the average from three consecutive measures. Body composition was assessed using dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) (GE Healthcare Lunar iDXA, analyzed with enCORE software version 16). DXA is considered a reference standard for measurement of muscle mass for identification of sarcopenia¹⁹. Total body and regional lean mass (LM), fat mass (FM) and bone mineral concentration (BMC) were measured. Appendicular skeletal muscle mass (ASM) was calculated as LM of arms plus legs. Obesity was identified as BMI \geq 30 kg/m² at clinic intake, and confirmed by ensuring patients met additional criteria for obesity of a waist circumference >88 cm in females and >102 cm in males²⁰, and %FM \geq 35% in females and \geq 25% in males²¹.

Identification of low muscle mass

While there is no current reference standard for identifying low muscle mass relative to sarcopenic obesity, ASM adjusted by body size is accepted by sarcopenia consensus groups^{9,22}. We used previously established sex-specific cut-points to define low muscle mass as ASM/BMI <<0.512 kg/m² in females and <0.789 kg/m² in males²¹. ASM/BMI is a preferred method to

identify low muscle mass in adults with obesity due to the adjustment for body size and stronger relationship with physical function^{22,23}. Previous work completed by our research team found that ASM adjusted by height² was not as sensitive a measure in this cohort, and patients with low ASM/height² were also identified using low ASM/BMI (*reference OAC manuscript*). Results from our previous work reported a prevalence of low muscle mass in this cohort of 27.2%, with higher rates in males compared to females (37.1% *vs* 20.2%, respectively).

Measures of muscle function (strength and physical performance) and quality of life

Objective measures of muscle function (strength and physical performance) were assessed in the clinic, using grip strength, gait speed, and the six-minute walk test (6MWT). Gait speed was measured over four metres, and calculated in metres/second. Patients used assisted walking aids (cane or walker) during the assessment if normally used for ambulation. Maximal isometric grip strength of the dominant hand was assessed (using a Jamar handgrip dynamometer) in a seated position with elbow flexed to 90 degrees. Grip position was modified to fit hand size, and the highest score of three attempts was recorded. Grip strength adjusted to body size (termed relative grip strength) was calculated by dividing grip strength by BMI. Relative grip strength has been used elsewhere in sarcopenia screening^{24,25}, and was included to normalize grip as higher grip strength is linked to larger body size. The 6MWT has been used elsewhere in screening for sarcopenia²⁶ and is an appropriate test for patients with knee OA²⁷. Therefore, it was included to distinguish between short and long distance walking function. The 6MWT was completed in the clinic, and assisted walking aids were used if patients normally used them for ambulation. Patient-reported health-related quality of life was assessed using an electronic version of the EuroQol Foundation EQ-5D-5L²⁸. Patients rated their perceived level of problems across five health dimensions (mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression) and their overall health on a visual analogue scale (VAS) from 0 (worst health) to 100 (best heath). Patient-reported OA pain and function were assessed with the Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC)²⁹.

Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics are reported as mean (standard deviation) or frequency (proportion). The association between muscle function (gait speed, grip strength, relative grip strength, 6MWT), patient characteristics (age, sex, FM, waist circumference, smoking status, and comorbidities of type II diabetes, cardiovascular disease, dyslipidemia, hypertension, sleep apnea, and hand OA), and the dichotomous outcome of low muscle mass present or absent was examined using logistic regression³⁰. Univariate correlation was first examined between low muscle mass and each patient characteristic and muscle function measure to identify candidate variables for the regression analysis. Candidate variables were selected if correlated p < 0.1 with the outcome of low muscle mass. Partial correlation was also examined to determine the influence of age, sex, hand OA, and unilateral or bilateral knee OA on muscle function variables. A multivariable logistic regression model was built using a backwards stepwise approach, including examination of interaction between variables. Odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals are reported for the univariate and multivariable models. The discriminating ability of the final model was examined using receiver operating characteristic (ROC) analysis with the predicted probabilities, calculating area under the curve (AUC). Based on the final model, sexspecific cut-points were determined by examining separate ROC curves for males and females. Optimal cut-points were calculated using three parameters³¹: 1) Youden's index [maximum] (sensitivity + specificity -1)], 2) the shortest distance to (0,1) [the upper left corner of the ROC curve³¹], and 3) similar values of sensitivity and specificity (an equivalent balance of both).

Between-group comparisons were conducted using two-tailed Student's independent t-test. A p value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant. All analyses were conducted using IBM SPSS Statistics v24 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY).

4.5 Results

Sample Characteristics

The study included 151 patients (58.9% female), mean age 65.1 ± 7.9 years (range: 40.2-88.3 years), mean BMI 37.1 ± 5.5 kg/m² (range 30.0-56.7), predominantly Caucasian (95%). **Table 4.1** provides a summary description of this patient cohort. Low muscle mass (low ASM/BMI) was present in n=18 females (20.2%) and n=23 males (37.1%).

Association with low muscle mass

Age, FM, waist circumference, smoking status, dyslipidemia, cardiovascular disease, hypertension, sleep apnea, hand OA, and absolute grip strength were not correlated with low muscle mass. Sex, type II diabetes, gait speed, 6MWT, and relative grip strength were correlated (p<0.1) with low muscle mass (**Table 4.2**), and included in the multivariable model. Although not correlated, age was included in the multivariable model due to its clinical and biological relevance with low muscle mass. The results of univariate and multivariable models are reported in **Table 4.3**. Only sex and relative grip strength remained after backwards stepwise selection in the final model (OR 15.09 and 0.01, respectively). Using the predicted probabilities from the final model, a ROC curve was plotted (**Figure 4.1**) and AUC calculated (AUC 0.774, 95% confidence interval 0.692-0.856). Sex-specific ROC curves for relative grip strength were then explored (**Figure 4.2**). This enabled discrimination of optimal cut-points for low relative grip strength associated with low muscle mass in this cohort (<0.65 kg/m² in females, and <1.1 kg/m²

Demographics	mean (SD) or n (%)
Age (years)	65.1 (7.9)
Sex, female	89 (58.9)
BMI (kg/m^2)	37.1 (5.5)
Smoker	16 (10.6)
Number of comorbidities	1.6 (1.2)
Type of comorbidities:	
Type II diabetes	28 (18.5)
Dyslipidemia	48 (31.8)
Cardiovascular disease	10 (6.6)
Hypertension	82 (54.3)
Sleep apnea	46 (30.5)
Hand osteoarthritis	55 (36.4)
Use mobility aid ^{Δ}	28 (18.5)
Anthropometrics and body composition	females, males
Height (cm)	161.6 (6.6), 176.0 (7.5)
Weight (kg)	98.6 (16.1), 112.3 (17.4)
BMI (kg/m ²)	37.8 (5.6), 36.0 (5.4)
Waist circumference (cm)	119.3 (12.1), 123.7 (11.3)
FM (kg)	49.5 (11.0), 43.8 (11.2)
FM (%)	50.3 (4.3), 39.4 (5.2)
LST (kg)	45.8 (7.0), 62.4 (8.1)
ASM (kg)	21.6 (3.9), 29.7 (4.4)
ASM/height ² (kg/m ²)	8.3 (1.3), 9.7 (1.2)
ASM/BMI (kg/m ²)	0.574 (0.076), 0.83 (0.114)
Physical performance and strength	
Gait speed (m/s)	1.09 (0.28)
Gait, females	1.06 (0.31)
Gait, males	1.12 (0.24)
6MWT (m)	339.7 (118.1)
6MWT, females	321.5 (115.3)
6MWT, males	366.0 (117.9)
Grip strength (kg)	32.8 (10.2)
Grip, females	27.3 (6.1)
Grip, males	40.8 (9.8)
Relative grip strength (kg/m ²)	0.9 (0.32)
Relative grip, females	0.73 (0.17)
Relative grip, males	1.15 (0.31)

Table 4.1. Description of patient cohort, n=151 adults with knee OA and obesity

ASM = appendicular skeletal muscle mass, BMI = body mass index, FM = fat mass, LST = lean soft tissue, OA = osteoarthritis, OR = odds ratio, SD = standard deviation, 6MWT = six-minute walk test

Table 4.2. Bivariate correlations in sample (n=151)

	Sarcopenic obesity [∆]	Age (years)	Sex	Diabetes ‡	Gait speed (m/s)	Relative grip [†] (kg/m ²)	6MWT (m)
Sarcopenic obesity Δ		0.054	0.187*	0.168*	-0.174*	-0.152*	-0.175*
Age (years)			0.023	0.03	-0.132*	-0.079	-0.11*
Sex (male, female)				0.087	0.092	0.531**	0.176*
Diabetes‡ (yes, no)					-0.072	-0.052	-0.13
Gait speed (m/s)						0.235**	0.552**
Relative grip [†] (kg/m ²)							0.320**
6MWT (m)							

Kendall's tau-b, two-tailed, was used for all correlations, except between gait speed and age where Pearson's correlation was used as both variables were normally distributed.

^aidentified as dichotomous outcome, present if ASM/BMI <0.512 kg/m² in females and <0.789 kg/m² in males

↓type II diabetes

†grip strength divided by body mass index

**p*<0.05

***p*≤0.001

Table 4.3. Univariable associations and final model of patient characteristics and muscle function measures associated with low muscle mass^{*}

	Univariable association with	th low muscle mass [*]	[•] Final model for association with low muscle mass [*]			
Identifying variable	OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> value	OR (95% CI)	<i>p</i> value		
Age	1.01 (0.97 – 1.06)	0.586				
Sex, male ^{Δ}	2.33 (1.12 – 4.83)	0.023	15.09 (4.66 – 48.84)	< 0.001		
Type II diabetes	2.43 (1.03 – 5.72)	0.042				
Gait speed	0.22(0.06 - 0.84)	0.026				
Relative grip strength [†]	0.23(0.06 - 0.88)	0.031	$0.01 \ (0.001 - 0.08)$	< 0.001		
6MWT	0.99(0.99 - 1.0)	0.021				

*Identified as ASM/BMI, kg/m² (<0.512, <0.789) in females and males, respectively ¢age, sex, type II diabetes, gait speed, relative grip strength and 6MWT were all included in the final model

 $^{\Delta}$ Female as reference category

†grip strength/BMI

BMI = body mass index, OR = odds ratio, 95% CI = 95% confidence interval, 6MWT = six-minute walk test



Figure 4.1. Receiver operating characteristic curve and area under the curve (AUC) of predicted probabilities from logistic regression model to identify low muscle mass^{*} in n=151 adults with knee OA

Model includes sex and relative grip strength (grip/BMI); AUC = 0.774 (95% CI 0.692-0.856), p<0.001

* Identified as ASM/BMI, kg/m² (<0.512, <0.789) in females and males, respectively

ASM = appendicular skeletal muscle mass, AUC = area under the curve, BMI = body mass index, CI = confidence interval, OA = osteoarthritis



Figure 4.2. Receiver operating characteristic curve and area under the curve (AUC) for relative grip strength[†] to identify low muscle mass*, stratified by sex, in n=151 adults with knee OA

In females:

AUC = 0.754 (95% CI 0.640-0.869) p=0.001

A cut-off of $<0.65 \text{ kg/m}^2$ for relative grip strength had maximal Youden index at 0.454, shortest distance to upper left corner at 0.38, and a balance of 72.2% sensitivity and 73.2% specificity.

In males:

AUC = 0.776 (95% CI 0.654-0.898) *p*<0.001

A cut-off of $<1.1 \text{ kg/m}^2$ for relative grip strength had maximal Youden index at 0.457, shortest distance to upper left corner at 0.38, and a balance of 73.9% sensitivity and 71.8% specificity.

†grip strength divided by body mass index (BMI)

* Identified as ASM/BMI, kg/m² (<0.512, <0.789) in females and males, respectively

ASM = appendicular skeletal muscle mass, AUC = area under the curve, BMI = body mass index, CI = confidence interval, OA = osteoarthritis

in males). These cut-points were used to define low strength, which was present in n=32 females (35.9%) and n=28 males (45.2%). Sensitivity analyses for the cut-points to identify low muscle mass are reported in **Table 4.4**.

Sarcopenic obesity identification and comparison of outcome measures

The new low strength cut-points were used in combination with low muscle to screen and identify a subgroup of the cohort with sarcopenic obesity, illustrated using an algorithm in **Figure 4.3** (based on the algorithm from the EWGSOP2⁹). This was conducted to examine and validate the discrimination of these criteria to effectively screen and identify a subgroup of the cohort with sarcopenic obesity-related impairments. Based on this criteria, prevalence of sarcopenic obesity was 19.9% (95% CI 14.3-26.9%). In females, prevalence was 14.6% (95% CI 8.7-23.4%), compared to 27.4% in males (95% CI 17.9 -39.6%). When examined by age categories, prevalence was 16.2% in ages 40-64.9 years (95% CI 9.5-26.2%), and 23.4% in age \geq 65 years (95% CI 15.3-34.0%). **Table 4.5** presents differences in physical function and patient-reported measures between those identified as having or not having sarcopenic obesity. The sarcopenic obesity group had slower gait speed (*p*=0.013), walked less distance in the 6MWT (*p*<0.001), and had lower absolute grip strength (*p*=0.012). Additionally, they had poorer health-related quality of life, with lower EQ-5D VAS scores (*p*=0.015), and more problems reported on the EQ-5D self-care dimension (washing and dressing themselves) (*p*=0.002).

4.6 Discussion

This study found that when controlling for sex, relative grip strength was associated with low muscle mass in patients with end-stage knee OA. Relative grip strength could be used to discern low strength relative to low muscle mass in patients with knee OA and obesity, and could

Table 4.4. Sensitivity analyses of proposed relative grip strength [†]	cut-points to identify low muscle mass*	in n=151 adults with knee
OA		

	True+	False+	True-	False-	Sensitivity	Specificity	PPV	NPV	+LR	-LR
	n	n	n	n	% (CI)	% (CI)	% (CI)	% (CI)	(CI)	(CI)
Females										
$<0.(5 log/m^2)$	12	10	50	5	72.2	73.2	40.6	91.2	2.70	0.379
<0.05 kg/m-	-0.03 kg/m 13 19	19	19 52	5	(51.5-92.9)	(62.9-83.5)	(23.6-57.6)	(83.9-98.6)	(1.67-4.36)	(0.178-0.809)
Males										
$<1.1 \text{ kg/m}^2$	17	11	20	6	73.9	71.8	60.7	82.3	2.62	0.363
<1.1 kg/m ⁻	1/	11	28	0	(56.0-91.8)	(57.7-85.9)	(42.6-78.8)	(69.5-95.2)	(1.5-4.57)	(0.178-0.743)

†grip strength/BMI

* low muscle mass identified by ASM/BMI, kg/m² (<0.512, <0.789) in females and males, respectively

ASM – appendicular skeletal muscle mass, BMI = body mass index, CI = 95% confidence interval, NPV = negative predictive value, OA = osteoarthritis, PPV = positive predictive value, + LR = positive likelihood ratio, - LR = negative likelihood ratio, + = positive, - = negative



Figure 4.3. Algorithm to detect and identify sarcopenic obesity in adults with knee OA and obesity^{*} *Based on the algorithm from the EWGSOP2⁹

	Sarcopenic obesity identified by low strength ^a and low muscle mass ^b SO n=30
	Compared to NSO n=121
Physical performance and stren	gth measures:
Gait speed (m/s)	-0.14 (-0.250.03)*
Gait speed, female	-0.13 (-0.3 - 0.0)
Gait speed, male	-0.18 (-0.30.05)*
Grip strength (kg)	-5.2 (-9.31.2)*
Grip strength, female	-6.0 (-9.52.6)*
Grip strength, male	-9.9 (-14.94.9)*
6MWT (m)	-81.5 (-127.435.6)*
6MWT, female	-54.1 (-122.3 - 14.1)
6MWT, male	-127.0 (-186.267.7)*
Patient-reported measures:	
WOMAC pain 0-20	1.0 (-0.4 - 2.4)
WOMAC stiffness 0-8	0.2 (-0.5 - 0.8)
WOMAC function 0-68	1.7 (-3.0 - 6.5)
WOMAC total 0-100	3.0 (-3.6 – 9.6)
EQ-5D VAS, 0-100	-9.0 (-16.21.8)*
EQ-5D self-care dimension ^{\$}	29.3*

Table 4.5. Differences in physical performance and patient-reported measures by sarcopenic obesity^{\dagger} status in n=151 patients with knee OA

Values presented are mean differences (CI) in group classified as SO compared to group classified as NSO, unless otherwise indicated

†identified as having both low strength and low muscle mass

^alow strength identified by relative grip strength <0.65 kg/m² in females and <1.1 kg/m² in males

^blow muscle mass identified by ASM/BMI, kg/m² (<0.512, <0.789) in females and males, respectively

[§]difference in proportion (%) of SO group reporting problems compared to NSO group p < 0.05

ASM = appendicular skeletal mass, EQ-5D = EuroQuol Foundation, CI = 95% confidence interval, NSO = not sarcopenic obesity, OA = osteoarthritis,

SO = sarcopenic obesity, VAS = visual analogue scale, WOMAC = Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index, 6MWT = six-minute walk test
be considered for use as a screening method for sarcopenic obesity risk in OA clinical practice. When used in combination with low muscle mass to identify sarcopenic obesity, it was able to discriminate a patient subgroup with mobility impairments (lower gait speed and walking endurance) and poorer quality of life. This illustrates its potential efficacy in identifying patients with knee OA who may require attention and treatment for sarcopenic obesity.

Relative grip strength is inexpensive and simple to administer. As the measures of height, weight and grip strength (using a handgrip dynamometer) are low burden, it could be easily integrated into clinical OA assessments. Patients could be screened (**Figure 4.3**) for low strength (below proposed sex-specific cut-points for relative grip strength). If low strength is present, sarcopenic obesity would be suspected. The patient would then be sent for body composition assessment (e.g. using DXA), to confirm the presence of low muscle mass (low ASM/BMI) and the diagnosis of sarcopenic obesity⁹. Patients with confirmed sarcopenic obesity (having both low relative grip strength and low muscle mass) could then be recommended for appropriate treatment¹⁰.

Our results indicate that gait speed and 6MWT were poorer discriminators of low muscle mass compared to relative grip strength. This could be due to the influence of OA on lower limb function and ambulation. Our results differed from those of El Ghoch et al.³² who examined clinical screening for low ASM/BMI in females with obesity. They reported gait speed was superior to grip strength or 6MWT when examined independently (using sensitivity analyses), however when examined in a multivariable model, only 6MWT was related to low ASM/BMI. This difference in findings between our studies could be due to their cohort not having knee OA, being all female, and no consideration of relative grip strength.

We did not find an association between absolute grip strength and low muscle mass in our cohort. While absolute grip strength has been used frequently as a screening tool for low strength in sarcopenia^{9,10,22,33}, it may be less discriminative in adults with obesity³⁴. Adjusting grip strength by a measure of adiposity (such as BMI, weight, or FM) may be preferable as it accounts for differences in strength with increasing body size^{34,35}. Relative grip strength may have a stronger association with mobility impairment compared to absolute grip strength³⁵, although varied sex-differences have been reported. In the Foundation for the National Institutes of Health (FNIH) Sarcopenia project^{22,24,36,37}, absolute and relative grip strength were equally associated with mobility impairment, however due to heterogeneity in females³⁷, absolute grip strength was selected as preferable as it was considered simpler to assess³⁶. Sallinen et al³⁴ found relative grip strength better identified mobility limitations in males, with a weaker relationship in females. This differed from findings by Sampaio et al³⁸, who found a stronger relationship between relative grip strength and fear of falling in women. Clearly, sex-differences may be present, requiring further investigation. However it is noteworthy that the cohorts in these studies did not all have obesity, and as they were community samples they may be under-representative of adults with mobility limitations.

The prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in this cohort was 19.9% when identified using the combination of low relative grip strength with low muscle mass. This prevalence is higher than projected in our previous study when gait speed or grip strength cut-points were used with low muscle mass to identify sarcopenic obesity (prevalence of 8.6%) (Chapter 3). Further, using the new proposed criteria, sarcopenic obesity was similarly identified in both younger (ages 40-64.9 years) and older (age \geq 65 years) age categories. This provides further indication that sarcopenic

obesity identification in knee OA may need to be different from identification approaches used in sarcopenia or other clinical conditions.

In our cohort, males had greater odds of low muscle mass compared to females when examined independently (OR 2.33 vs 0.43, respectively, p=0.023). This is likely due to the steeper decline in aging-related muscle mass and strength^{39,40} common in males associated with declining endocrine function during andropause⁴¹. Males may be more sensitive to aging-related increases in adiposity and muscle loss driven by OA-related inflammation and inactivity, compared to females. These sex differences were magnified when adjusted for relative grip strength, with much higher OR for low muscle mass in males (OR 15.09 vs 0.07 in females, p < 0.001). While this may be influenced by the higher prevalence of low muscle mass in males in our cohort (37.1% vs 20.2%, in females), it may also indicate underlying sex-differences as discussed previously. A correlation between low muscle mass and FM, gait speed, and 6MWT was only present in males in our cohort, providing further indication that the relationship between physical function, adiposity and muscle mass (relative to sarcopenic obesity) may differ by sex. Similarly, the FNIH project²² found sex-differences in the relationship between BMI and gait speed in females, although the use of separate single-sex cohorts may have influenced their findings. Nevertheless, future studies may need to examine if the relationship between muscle function and low muscle mass differ between males and females, potentially leading to sexspecific screening approaches.

Interestingly, age was not correlated with low muscle mass in this study, supporting our understanding that sarcopenic obesity occurs across age categories and may be unique from aging-related sarcopenia. Although we found type II diabetes was independently associated with low muscle mass (OR 2.43), similar to reports elsewhere⁴², it did not contribute in the final

model. Additionally, while the presence of hand OA can reduce grip strength⁴³, we did not find it associated with either absolute or relative grip strength in this cohort.

Assessing for low strength or function does not preclude the measurement of low muscle mass², which is still important for the diagnosis of sarcopenic obesity. However measuring body composition in every patient with knee OA is not yet feasible in most clinical settings. Therefore, using relative grip strength as a clinical screening measure would assist in identifying patients with low strength who are at higher risk of having sarcopenic obesity and require further investigation. Ultimately screening methods will need to determine whether specificity (ability to correctly rule in patients who have sarcopenic obesity) or sensitivity (ability to correctly rule out patients who do not have sarcopenic obesity) is more important⁷. There may be a benefit to increased specificity, as preserving muscle mass and preventing further loss will likely be easier than increasing muscle mass. Economic analyses of the costs of body composition assessments in comparison to the cost of misdiagnosis⁴⁴ will provide further clarity. Additionally, considering the implications of false positives and false negatives will be critical for determination of the most relevant criteria and cut-points. Realistically, no one clinical measure or assessment will be ideal for all populations with sarcopenic obesity¹², but increased awareness and screening in patients with OA is necessary.

As a result of our analyses, we were able to propose cut-offs for relative grip strength that balance sensitivity and specificity for identifying low muscle mass in this cohort of patients with knee OA and obesity. While further external validation is required, our results provide initial confirmation that assessing low relative grip strength has value in screening for the presence of sarcopenic obesity. Further testing of these cut-points in other cohorts with knee OA and obesity will clarify their effectiveness and validity as a screening measure.

Strengths and limitations

The relationship between muscle function and low muscle mass has not been well examined in patients with obesity and knee OA. Our findings provide an important contribution to this body of knowledge. Although the final model in this study provided moderate discriminatory power (AUC 0.774), we did not examine all physical performance tests that have been used in sarcopenia (i.e. timed up and go test, chair stand, short performance physical battery) so other tests may be found to be superior. Importantly, the relationship between strength, function and muscle mass could be confounded by OA severity⁴⁵ and comorbid chronic conditions, such as type II diabetes⁴⁶. While we attempted to control for these influences, the discriminating power of strength and function measures may have some limitations in this heterogeneous OA population. Other study limitations include the cross-sectional approach and limited transferability to patients without knee OA and obesity. Additionally, we adjusted both muscle mass and grip strength by BMI, which could result in overfitting. Proposed cut-offs for relative grip strength were not validated internally using bootstrapping or externally with other samples, so further validation is important. Relative grip strength cut-offs were selected based on a balance between sensitivity and specificity, however clinical consideration may need to consider if maximizing sensitivity or specificity is preferential based on the cost and availability of body composition assessments. No blood tests were conducted, so examination of associations with biomarkers were not explored. Additionally, males and females were analyzed together in this cohort due to the limited sample, however nascent indications of sex-differences require further investigation in larger samples to provide clarity if screening approaches should differ between males and females.

4.7 Conclusion

Sex-specific relative handgrip strength provided the best discrimination of low strength related to low muscle mass in this cohort, and may be useful to identify patients with knee OA who have sarcopenic obesity. Relative grip strength is easy to administer, and integrate into clinical OA environments. Cut-points for relative grip strength of <0.65 kg/m² in females and <1.1 kg/m² in males are proposed, but further validation is required. Relative grip strength could be used to screen patients for low strength, who would then require a body composition assessment to confirm the presence of low muscle mass. Together these measures can be used to detect and identify sarcopenic obesity in patients with knee OA.

4.8 References

- Prado CM, Wells JCK, Smith SR, Stephan BCM, Siervo M. Sarcopenic obesity: A critical appraisal of the current evidence. *Clin Nutr.* 2012;31(5):583-601. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2012.06.010
- 2. Donini LM, Poggiogalle E. Body composition in sarcopenic obesity: systematic review of the literature. *Med J Nutrition Metab*. 2013;6:191-198. doi:10.1007/s12349-013-0135-1
- 3. Godziuk K, Prado CM, Woodhouse LJ, Forhan M. The impact of sarcopenic obesity on knee and hip osteoarthritis: a scoping review. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2018. doi:10.1186/s12891-018-2175-7
- 4. Baumgartner RN, Wayne SJ, Waters DL, Janssen I, Gallagher D, Morley JE. Sarcopenic obesity predicts instrumental activities of daily living disability in the elderly. *Obes Res.* 2004;12(12):1995-2004. doi:10.1038/oby.2004.250
- 5. Visser AW, de Mutsert R, le Cessie S, den Heijer M, Rosendaal FR, Kloppenburg M. The relative contribution of mechanical stress and systemic processes in different types of osteoarthritis: the NEO study. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2014:1-6. doi:10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-205012
- Jeanmaire C, Mazières B, Verrouil E, Bernard L, Guillemin F, Rat A-C. Body composition and clinical symptoms in patients with hip or knee osteoarthritis: Results from the KHOALA cohort. *Semin Arthritis Rheum*. 2017:1-8. doi:10.1016/j.semarthrit.2017.10.012
- 7. Locquet M, Beaudart C, Reginster J, Petermans J, Bruyère O. Comparison of the performance of five screening methods for sarcopenia. *Clin Epidemiol*. 2018;10:71-82.
- 8. Beaudart C, McCloskey E, Bruyère O, et al. Sarcopenia in daily practice: assessment and management. *BMC Geriatr*. 2016;16(1):170. doi:10.1186/s12877-016-0349-4
- 9. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Bahat G, Bauer J, et al. Sarcopenia: revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis. *Age Ageing*. 2018;(0):1-16. doi:10.1093/ageing/afy169
- 10. Dent E, Morley JE, Cruz-Jentoft AJ, et al. International Clinical Practice Guidelines for Sarcopenia (ICFSR): Screening, Diagnosis and Management. *J Nutr Heal Aging*. 2018.
- Donini LM, Poggiogalle E, Migliaccio S, Aversa A, Pinto A. Body composition in sarcopenic obesity: Systematic review of the literature. *Med J Nutrition Metab.* 2013;6(3):191-198. doi:10.1007/s12349-013-0135-1
- 12. Barazzoni R, Bischoff S, Boirie Y, et al. Sarcopenic obesity: time to meet the challenge. *Eur J Obes*. 2018:294-305. doi:10.1159/000490361
- 13. Batsis JA, Villareal DT. Sarcopenic obesity in older adults: Aetiology, epidemiology and treatment strategies. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* 2018. doi:10.1038/s41574-018-0062-9
- 14. Ko S, Stenholm S, Ferrucci L. Characteristic gait patterns in older adults with obesity— Results from the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. *J Biomech.* 2010;43(6):1104-

1110. doi:10.1016/j.jbiomech.2009.12.004

- 15. Hulens M, Vansant G, Lysens R, Claessens AL, Muls E, Brumagne S. Study of differences in peripheral muscle strength of lean versus obese women: an allometric approach. *Int J Obes*. 2001;25:676-681.
- 16. Manoy P, Anomasiri W, Yuktanandana P, et al. Elevated serum leptin levels are associated with low vitamin D, sarcopenic obesity, poor muscle strength, and physical performance in knee osteoarthritis. *Biomarkers*. 2017:1-22. doi:10.1080/1354750X.2017.1315615
- 17. Davis HC, Blue MNM, Hirsch KR, et al. Body composition is associated with physical performance in individuals with knee osteoarthritis. *J Clin Rheumatol*. 2019;00(00):1-6. doi:10.1097/RHU.00000000000967
- Harris PA, Taylor R, Thielke R, Payne J, Gonzalez N, Conde JG. Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) - A metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *J Biomed Inf.* 2009;42(2):377-381. doi:10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010.
- 19. Buckinx F, Landi F, Cesari M, et al. Pitfalls in the measurement of muscle mass: a need for a reference standard. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle*. 2018;9:269-278. doi:10.1002/jcsm.12268
- 20. Levine ME, Crimmins EM. The impact of insulin resistance and inflammation on the association between sarcopenic obesity and physical functioning. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2012;20(10):2101-2106. doi:10.1038/oby.2012.20
- 21. Batsis JA, Mackenzie TA, Lopez-Jimenez F, Bartels SJ. Sarcopenia, sarcopenic obesity, and functional impairments in older adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys 1999-2004. *Nutr Res.* 2015;35(12):1031-1039. doi:10.1016/j.nutres.2015.09.003
- 22. Studenski SA, Peters KW, Alley DE, et al. The FNIH sarcopenia project: Rationale, study description, conference recommendations, and final estimates. *Journals Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2014;69(5):547-558. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu010
- 23. Johnson Stoklossa C, Sharma A, Forhan M, Siervo M, Padwal R, Prado C. Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in adults with class II/III obesity using different diagnostic criteria. *J Nutr Metab.* 2017.
- 24. Cawthon PM, Peters KW, Shardell MD, et al. Cutpoints for low appendicular lean mass that identify older adults with clinically significant weakness. *Journals Gerontol Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2014;69 A(5):567-575. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu023
- 25. Cawthon P, Travison T, Manini T, et al. Establishing the link between lean mass and grip strength cut-points with mobility disability and other health outcomes: Proceedings of the Sarcopenia Definition and Outcomes Consortium Conference. *J Gerontol Biol Sci.* 2019.
- Gray M, Glenn JM, Binns A. Predicting sarcopenia from functional measures among community-dwelling older adults. *Age (Omaha)*. 2016;38(22). doi:10.1007/s11357-016-9887-0

- Bennell K, Dobson F, Hinman R. Measures of physical performance assessments: Self-Paced Walk Test (SPWT), Stair Climb Test (SCT), Six-Minute Walk Test (6MWT), Chair Stand Test (CST), Timed Up & Go (TUG), Sock Test, Lift and Carry Test (LCT), and Car Task. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2011;63(SUPPL. 11):350-370. doi:10.1002/acr.20538
- 28. Janssen M, Pickard A, Golicki D, et al. Measurement properties of the EQ-5D-5L compared to the EQ-5D-3L across eight patient groups: a multi-country study. *Qual Life Res.* 2013;22:1717-1727. doi:10.1007/s11136-012-0322-4
- 29. Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC). American College of Rheumatology. http://www.rheumatology.org/I-Am-A/Rheumatologist/Research/Clinician-Researchers/Western-Ontario-McMaster-Universities-Osteoarthritis-Index-WOMAC. Published 2015. Accessed August 23, 2016.
- 30. Muller R, Möckel M. Logistic regression and CART in the analysis of multimarker studies. *Clin Chim Acta*. 2008;394:1-6. doi:10.1016/j.cca.2008.04.007
- 31. Habibzadeh F, Habibzadeh P, Yadollahie M. On determining the most appropriate test cut-off value: The case of tests with continuous results. *Biochem Medica*. 2016;26(3):297-307. doi:10.11613/BM.2016.034
- 32. El Ghoch M, Rossi AP, Calugi S, Rubele S, Soave F, Zamboni M. Physical performance measures in screening for reduced lean body mass in adult females with obesity. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2018;28(9):917-921. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2018.06.008
- 33. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis. *Age Ageing*. 2010;39(4):412-423. doi:10.1093/ageing/afq034
- 34. Sallinen J, Stenholm S, Rantanen T, Heliovaara M, Sainio P, Koskinen S. Hand-grip strength cut-points to screen older persons at risk for mobility limitations. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2010;58(9):1721-1726. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.03035.x.Hand-Grip
- 35. Choquette S, Bouchard DR, Doyon CY, Sénéchal M, Brochu M, Dionne IJ. Relative strength as a determinant of mobility in elders 67-84 years of age. A nuage study: nutrition as a determinant of successful aging. *J Nutr Health Aging*. 2010;14(3):190-195.
- Alley DE, Shardell MD, Peters KW, et al. Grip strength cutpoints for the identification of clinically relevant weakness. *Journals Gerontol - Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2014;69 A(5):559-566. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu011
- 37. Mclean RR, Shardell MD, Alley DE, et al. Criteria for Clinically Relevant Weakness and Low Lean Mass and Their Longitudinal Association With Incident Mobility Impairment and Mortality: The Foundation for the National Institutes of Health (FNIH) Sarcopenia Project. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2014;69(5):576-583. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu012
- Sampaio RAC, Sampaio PYS, Castano LAA, et al. Cutoff values for appendicular skeletal muscle mass and strength in relation to fear of falling among Brazilian older adults: crosssectional study. *Sau Paulo Med J.* 2017;135(5):434-443. doi:10.1590/1516-3180.2017.0049030517
- 39. Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Wang Z, Ross R. Skeletal muscle mass and distribution in 468 men and women aged 18–88 yr. *J Appl Physiol*. 2000;89(1):81-88.

http://jap.physiology.org/content/89/1/81%5Cnhttp://jap.physiology.org/content/89/1/81.f ull.pdf%5Cnhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10904038.

- Leblanc ES, Wang PY, Lee CG, et al. Higher Testosterone Levels Are Associated with Less Loss of Lean Body Mass in Older Men. *J Clin Edocrinol Metab*. 2011;96(December):3855-3863. doi:10.1210/jc.2011-0312
- 41. Baumgartner RN, Waters DL, Gallagher D, Morley JE, Garry PJ. Predictors of skeletal muscle mass in elderly men and women. *Mech Ageing Dev.* 1999;107:123-136.
- 42. Kreidieh D, Itani L, El Masri D, Tannir H, Citarella R, El Ghoch M. Association between sarcopenic obesity, type 2 diabetes, and hypertension in overweight and obese treatment-seeking adult women. *J Cardiovasc Dev Dis.* 2018;5:51. doi:10.3390/jcdd5040051
- 43. Lauretani F, Russo CR, Bandinelli S, et al. Age-associated changes in skeletal muscles and their effect on mobility: an operational diagnosis of sarcopenia. *J Appl Physiol*. 2003;95:1851-1860.
- 44. Yu S, Appleton S, Chapman I, et al. An anthropometric prediction equation for appendicular skeletal muscle mass in combination with a measure of muscle function to screen for sarcopenia in primary and aged care. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*. 2015;16(1):25-30. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2014.06.018
- 45. Wada O, Kurita N, Kamitani T, Nakano N, Mizuno K. Influence of the severity of knee osteoarthritis on the association between leg muscle mass and quadriceps strength: the SPSS-OK study. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2018. doi:10.1007/s10067-018-4337-2
- 46. Chen L, Nelson DR, Zhao Y, Cui Z, Johnston JA. Relationship between muscle mass and muscle strength, and the impact of comorbidities: A population-based, cross-sectional study of older adults in the United States. *BMC Geriatr.* 2013;13(1):1. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-13-74

CHAPTER 5

5.1 Discussion

The primary aim of this thesis was to improve understanding of sarcopenic obesity in adults with knee OA with respect to prevalence, diagnostic screening, and functional implications. Together, the three studies in this thesis have identified and answered some important questions about sarcopenic obesity in this population, while also revealing avenues requiring further inquiry. This chapter will provide a brief review of the objectives, hypotheses and results from each study, integrate the findings, and discuss overall limitations and future directions.

5.1.1 Study One

The aim of the first study¹ (Chapter 2) was to determine the current breadth and extent of evidence on sarcopenic obesity in knee and hip OA. This study used a scoping review methodology to systematically examine the extent of the published scientific literature on this topic and identify gaps in knowledge. It was hypothesized that there would be few clinical studies and limited evidence on sarcopenic obesity in adults with knee OA.

The results of this scoping review confirmed our hypothesis and support the use of this methodology. Ten studies were found that examined this condition in adults with knee OA^{2–11}. Of these ten studies, only three were in clinical cohorts (from Korea³, Thailand⁸ and Japan⁹), with no clinical studies in North American cohorts. This is an important knowledge gap as classification of obesity¹² and body composition¹³ differ between Asian and Caucasian ethnic groups, which limits the comparability of the current evidence. Further, there is a need for

investigation in clinical cohorts (compared to community or population samples) to better understand the relevance of sarcopenic obesity for healthcare and patient outcomes in OA.

The scoping review also revealed that sarcopenic obesity was present, but with a wide range of prevalence in both clinical^{3,8} and population^{6,7,11} samples (1.3%³, 3%⁷, 5.2%⁶, 8.9%³, 13.9%⁸, 16.2%¹¹, and 35.4%³). This prevalence variability was likely due to different methods for identifying low muscle mass and obesity between studies. While appendicular skeletal muscle mass (ASM)/weight^{6–8} was the primary method to classify low muscle mass in included studies, ASM/height^{2 3}, ASM/BMI¹¹, and a residual method³ were also used. Ji et al.³ compared ASM/height², ASM/weight and the residual method in adults undergoing TKA. They found sarcopenic obesity prevalence was lowest using ASM/height² (1.3%) and highest using ASM/weight (35.4%). Obesity classification also differed between studies, using varied BMI cut-points (25^{3,8}, 27.5^{6,7} or 30¹¹ kg/m²) or sex-specific fat mass and waist circumference¹¹. Only one study included measures of low strength or low function in their definition of sarcopenic obesity⁸.

This review also found indications that sarcopenic obesity was likely present in two other studies but not recognized as a distinct clinical condition. Batsis et al.² and Knoop et al.⁵ identified a clinical OA phenotype as dynapenic obesity (low strength and high adiposity), however body composition and muscle mass were not considered in either study. Low strength could be related to low muscle mass in a proportion of the sample, and may indicate that sarcopenic obesity and dynapenic obesity were both present but only dynapenic obesity was identified.

Taken together, the results of this scoping review identified several gaps in knowledge and supported the need for a clinical study. Additionally, the findings support including several

definitions to categorize low muscle mass (low ASM) in the clinical study as prevalence varies depending on the approach. Further, there was an identified need to explore diagnostic approaches that include measures of low strength or low function with low muscle mass (as this was only examined in one previous study⁸).

5.1.2 Study Two

The second study (Chapter 3) aimed to fill the evidence gap, with an aim to assess the prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in a clinical cohort of adults with end-stage knee OA using different diagnostic criteria. Further, outcomes of pain, physical function and quality of life were compared between those identified with and without sarcopenic obesity. It was hypothesized that sarcopenic obesity prevalence would be $\geq 10\%$ in this population (when using ASM/weight), and adults with sarcopenic obesity would have poorer physical function and quality of life compared to those without sarcopenic obesity.

The results of this study support acceptance of our hypothesis about prevalence, as the rate of sarcopenic obesity was 14.6% in our cohort when defined using ASM/weight alone. Our results provide further evidence that prevalence varies depending on identification method (1.3% using ASM/height² alone, 14.6% using ASM/weight, 27.2% using ASM/BMI, and 8.6% when combining low muscle mass with low grip strength or low gait speed). This aligns with findings elsewhere that show prevalence is higher when diagnostic approaches consider muscle mass alone versus in combination with a measure of low strength or function¹⁴. Additionally, prevalence calculated using ASM/height² was low at only 1.3%, similar to findings by Ji et al.³, further supporting that allometric scaling of ASM by height doesn't capture relative low muscle mass in the presence of obesity^{15,16}.

This study also found that using current cut-points for low grip strength or low gait speed in the identification of sarcopenic obesity may preferentially identify more older adults (\geq age 65 years) compared to middle-aged adults (ages 40-64.9 years). This is likely due to the use of gait speed and grip strength tests and cut-points that were developed to identify functional impairments in older adults¹⁷.

Importantly, we were also able to confirm our hypothesis about patient physical function and quality of life. Sarcopenic obesity was found to significantly impact these areas in the study cohort identified with sarcopenic obesity, with slower walking speeds, lower grip strength and lower walking endurance yielded across all diagnostic approaches. Further, sarcopenic obesity influenced patient-reported quality of life, with more problems reported in the self-care dimension of the EuroQol Foundation EQ-5D-5L (related to self-identified difficulty washing or dressing themselves).

5.1.3 Study Three

The third study (Chapter 4) aimed to determine which patient characteristics and muscle function measures were associated with low muscle mass (and likely related to sarcopenic obesity rather than OA) in the cross-sectional patient cohort. Associated variables were then applied to discern subgroups with and without sarcopenic obesity to compare outcomes of pain, function and quality of life. It was hypothesized that gait speed and grip strength would not be the best muscle function measures to screen for sarcopenic obesity due to the influence of OA and obesity on gait parameters and grip strength.

This study found that sex, type II diabetes, gait speed, relative grip strength and 6MWT were correlated with low muscle mass (low ASM/BMI) in the study cohort. Age was not correlated but still considered due to its biological relationship with declining muscle mass.

When all variables were examined in multivariable modeling, only sex and relative grip strength remained as significant. These findings confirm our hypothesis that gait speed and grip strength are not the best measures to screen for low strength or function related to sarcopenic obesity in this cohort with knee OA. Further, the results suggested that sex-specific relative grip strength may be a potential method to screen for low strength in patients who are also likely to have low muscle mass (and therefore sarcopenic obesity).

To test this potential method of screening, new sex-specific cut-points for low strength (relative grip strength <0.65 kg/m² in females, and <1.1 kg/m² in males) were established from receiver operating curve analyses. These cut-points were used in combination with preestablished low muscle mass cut-points (low ASM/BMI) to identify patients with and without sarcopenic obesity. The prevalence of sarcopenic obesity was 19.9% using this combined criteria. The patient group with sarcopenic obesity had mobility impairments (lower walking speed and endurance), and poorer quality of life (lower EQ-5D VAS scores and more problems reported in the EQ-5D self-care dimension), compared to the group without sarcopenic obesity. This suggests that this combination method to screen and identify sarcopenic obesity is able to discern a subgroup of patients with mobility and quality of life impairments. This highlights the potential applicability of relative grip strength as a screening measure in clinical OA settings, which could be used in conjunction with body composition to identify sarcopenic obesity in patients with knee OA.

5.2 Integrated Discussion

The studies in this thesis contribute several important findings to the literature on sarcopenic obesity. Primarily, this research confirms that this condition is present in adults with end-stage knee OA, with negative implications on mobility and quality of life. Mobility

limitations (lower gait speed and 6MWT distance) were revealed regardless of the approach used to identify sarcopenic obesity (low muscle mass alone or in combination with low strength or function). This supports that DXA-derived measures of low muscle mass were able to discern individuals with meaningful functional mobility impairments. This is in contrast to concerns reported about the poor discrimination ability of DXA body composition measures to identify older adults at risk of mobility disability¹⁸. Clinically relevant gait speed differences of >0.1 m/s and 6MWT differences of >50 m¹⁹ were present between groups identified with and without low muscle mass in our clinical sample. While it is expected that larger between-group differences in function are present when low strength or function is included in the diagnostic definition for sarcopenic obesity, the ability of low muscle mass alone to distinguish these differences is of clinical interest. This is particularly important for patients whose function and strength is likely also impaired by knee OA and obesity, potentially confounding the diagnostic effectiveness of strength and function measures to discern sarcopenic obesity in this population.

Sarcopenic obesity's negative influence on function has been reported in other clinical populations²⁰, however it could create a critical problem in patients with end-stage knee OA. Poor functioning is often considered in the decision to proceed to a TKA²¹. However, if the poor function is primarily related to (or strongly influenced by) sarcopenic obesity, then a TKA may not resolve the functional impairment. The patient may be dissatisfied with their TKA outcome if mobility impairments persist. Further, TKA surgery-related immobility, inactivity and recovery could result in further loss of muscle mass, potentially exacerbating sarcopenic obesity if already present. Body composition changes can occur in short time duration with abrupt changes in health status and mobility. This further supports the importance of including an assessment of body composition to confirm the presence of sarcopenic obesity.

Results from the EQ-5D-assessed health-related quality of life in this thesis are also interesting. A higher proportion of problems on the EQ-5D self-care dimension (related to level of difficulty washing or dressing themselves) were reported by patients with sarcopenic obesity, compared to those without this condition. No between-group differences were present in other EQ-5D dimensions. This suggests that sarcopenic obesity has implications on activities of daily living (ADL) in this population, similar to reports elsewhere^{20,22,23}, despite the lack of specific measures to assess ADL in this research. Additionally, only when using combined diagnostic approaches in studies two and three (low muscle with low strength or low function), differences in EQ-5D overall quality of life (EQ-5D VAS scored from 0, worst health, to 100, best health) were present between those with and without sarcopenic obesity. VAS scores were -9.0 (in study three) and -17.1 (in study two) points lower in the groups with sarcopenic obesity, which is greater than suggested minimal clinically important differences for the VAS in adults with knee OA at 7.9²⁴. Notably, there were no differences in VAS scores when only low muscle mass was used as a diagnostic criteria, suggesting that sarcopenic obesity-related influences on function and strength may be more relevant when considering overall quality of life. Including measures of low strength or low function when identifying sarcopenic obesity may assist in discerning patients who have more severe impacts on their well-being.

This research supports the rationale to include both a measure of low muscle mass with a measure of low strength or function in the diagnostic definition for sarcopenic obesity^{25,26}. The findings also support that cut-points for low ASM/weight (<19.43 % in females, and <25.72 % in males)²⁷ or ASM/BMI (<0.512 kg/m² in females, and <0.789 kg/m² in males)²⁸ are preferred over ASM/height² (<5.45 kg/m² in females, and <7.26 kg/m² in males)²⁹ to classify low muscle mass in adults with obesity, as they account for the influence of body mass. ASM/height² cut-

points only identified two adults in this study, illustrating its limited ability to identify relevant low muscle mass in adults with obesity¹⁶. ASM/BMI appears to be superior to ASM/weight, as it identified the largest subgroup of patients with mobility impairments. This is likely due to its adjustment for both height and weight. Further, cut-points for low ASM/BMI were based on an association with weakness³⁰, rather than relative to a younger reference population, as with ASM/weight²⁷. In this thesis research, adults across BMI categories were identified with low ASM/BMI [23.8% in BMI 30.0-34.9 kg/m² (n=15/63), 16.7% in BMI 35.0-39.9 kg/m² (n=8/48), and 45.0% in BMI >40 kg/m² (n=18/40)]. Rates were highest in the BMI category >40 kg/m². This reflects the increased possibility of a disproportionate ratio between fat mass (load) and muscle mass (capacity) with higher BMIs³¹, however, this can still occur at any BMI.

This research confirms that BMI measures alone miss important individual differences in body composition³². Analyses in study two revealed large variations in adiposity and muscularity within BMI categories, supporting that examining BMI in isolation can be misleading as it doesn't distinguish between compartments of fat and muscle mass. Body composition is important. A recent study by Davis et al.³³ suggests that measuring body composition in addition to BMI provides a better understanding of differences in physical performance outcomes in adults with knee OA. Considering BMI alone misses some of this critical information. This supports our recommendations for moving beyond BMI and including body composition assessment in orthopedic settings, particularly when making individualized treatment recommendations (such as weight loss or decisions on proceeding to a TKA).

An additional important finding from this research is the proposed relative grip strength cut-points. While these cut-points require further validation in other cohorts with knee OA, they represent an important advancement to improve clinical screening and identification of low

strength relative to sarcopenic obesity. Although strength and function assessments (particularly grip strength and gait speed) are established as screening methods for sarcopenia^{34–38}, they have not been well-examined in younger adults with higher body size and relevant to sarcopenic obesity³⁹. Regardless, relative grip strength appears to be an effective approach. It has previously been identified by Cawthon et al.¹⁸ as able to discern older adults at risk for mobility disability, and by Sampaio et al.⁴⁰ to discern risk of falls. This thesis research provides further indication that relative grip strength may be appropriate to screen for sarcopenic obesity in OA clinical practice. Importantly, this type of simple measure is likely the best way to increase routine screening and identification of adults with knee OA who have a greater likelihood of having sarcopenic obesity.

This research also stimulates questions regarding the relationship between type II diabetes and sarcopenic obesity⁴¹. Although not a primary focus in this research, a higher prevalence of type II diabetes was observed in patients with sarcopenic obesity compared to patients without this condition (differences in proportion were: 10.3% using ASM/weight, p=0.254; 14.5% using ASM/BMI, p=0.038; 30.0% using the study two combined definition, p=0.016; and 27.7% using the study three combined definition, p=0.004). Type II diabetes was also independently associated with low ASM/BMI (OR 2.43, p=0.042) in study three, but did not contribute in the multivariable screening model. Diabetes is associated with increasing BMI⁴², so the use of diagnostic approaches that adjust ASM by BMI could influence these findings. Kreideih et al.⁴³ reported 17.7% higher rates of type II diabetes in women with sarcopenic obesity compared to those without this condition, however they also used low ASM/BMI for diagnostic criteria. While type II diabetes is known to influence muscle mass⁴⁴ and strength⁴⁵, the true range of prevalence differences and the relationship with sarcopenic obesity and OA needs

further enquiry. This is especially relevant for consideration of surgical risk in TKA, as both type II diabetes and sarcopenic obesity are independent risk factors for surgical complications^{46,47}.

The study results from this thesis are not able to answer all questions about sarcopenic obesity in patients with knee OA, but support the understanding that muscle mass has important influences in this population. While not able to discern the influence of sarcopenic obesity on TKA outcomes, this thesis provides theoretical support that lower muscle mass in patients undergoing TKA could influence mobility and functional recovery after surgery. Further, this negative influence potentially extends to infection risk with TKA. A recent study by Babu et al.⁴⁸ shows that a marker for sarcopenia can predict risk of prosthetic joint infections in TKA and total hip arthroplasty. This further supports the theoretical link between sarcopenic obesity and TKA risk, suggesting that low muscle mass itself may confer a risk independent from adiposity. Preservation of current muscle mass may need to be a priority in OA management.

Switching from a focus on reducing weight or BMI, to a focus on maintaining or improving muscle mass or body composition before TKA is a paradigm shift in OA care, but it may result in benefits to both adipose and muscle mass compartments. As demonstrated in patients with colorectal cancer⁴⁹, pre-habilitation prior to TKA may attenuate further loss of muscle mass during the pre-and post-surgical periods, and potentially decrease adiposity secondarily.

Finally, this research provides a foundation from which further research and clinical recommendations can be developed. Importantly, increased awareness and identification of sarcopenic obesity is needed in clinical practice. Despite the development of the sarcopenia ICD-10 code in 2016^{50,51}, this condition is still under-recognized in orthopedic and OA clinical

communities⁴⁸. Additional knowledge mobilization of these thesis results will be important to aid in increasing awareness and attention.

5.3 Strengths and Limitations

This thesis has several strengths. A primary strength is the clinical relevance of findings, as data was collected from a patient cohort. This is valuable for knowledge use and translation, with greater potential for the results to influence changes in clinical settings. A further strength is the novelty of this work. No studies were found that examined the use of muscle function assessments to screen for low strength or function relative to sarcopenic obesity in patients with knee OA. Further, few studies have examined sarcopenic obesity in clinical populations with knee OA. Only one study compared different diagnostic approaches (only using low muscle mass)³, and only one study has examined the influence of this condition on physical function⁸.

This research also has limitations. A primary limitation is the cross-sectional approach, which prevents any inference of causality when interpreting results on physical function and quality of life. Further, the cohort was primarily Caucasian, limiting the relevance of outcomes for other ethnic backgrounds. Other assessments for low strength or low function may be preferential to relative grip strength in screening for sarcopenic obesity, as we did not examine all measures used elsewhere to identify sarcopenia (i.e. chair stand³⁶, leg strength⁵²). However, knee OA would likely confound outcomes using these measures due to its influence on quadriceps strength⁵³. Further, indications of sex differences in the effectiveness of strength and function measures to screen for low muscle mass were emerging in study three. This was not unexpected, as in males there is a steeper decline in strength with age^{54,55}, and a stronger relationship between strength and function⁵⁵. However, due to the limited sample and smaller

subgroups with sarcopenic obesity, these sex-differences were not thoroughly examined. Importantly, this research may have under-identified prevalence of sarcopenic obesity if patients with sarcopenic obesity-related impaired function did not complete the DXA due to perceived difficulties with travel to the additional appointment. While every effort was made to ease the burden of attending, a group of participants (n=41) did not complete DXA body composition assessment. Lower EQ-5D VAS scores (mean difference -10.0, p=0.04) were reported by DXA non-completers (n=41) compared to completers (n=151). This could indicate that patients with lower quality of life (and possible sarcopenic obesity) were not included in the analyses. However no differences in gait speed, grip strength, or 6MWT were present between DXA completers and non-completers. Nonetheless, it is possible that individuals with more severe mobility impairments were not included in our study, resulting in an under-estimation of the true prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in this population. Recruitment of patients with sarcopenia has been identified as a barrier to clearly understanding this condition in clinical practice⁵¹.

5.4 **Recommendations for Future Directions**

5.4.1 Research

A number of research recommendations can be provided based on the findings of this thesis. Initially, further validation and examination of the proposed relative grip strength cutpoints in other cohorts with knee OA is needed. Other strength and function measures should also be explored in this population to see if they are more effective, with additional examination of sex-differences in screening approaches. Longitudinal studies are also needed to clarify the influence of sarcopenic obesity on TKA and conservative treatment outcomes, and the influence of weight loss and resistance exercise on prevention, development, and progression of this condition.

Health-related quality of life was influenced by sarcopenic obesity in this research,

assessed using the patient-reported generic EQ-5D. Future research should consider additional examination of disease-specific quality of life indices, with instruments designed to capture the specific influences of low muscle mass, high adiposity, or sarcopenia (i.e. SarQoL[©], a quality of life questionnaire specific to sarcopenia⁵⁶). Additionally, due to the suggested influence of sarcopenic obesity on self-care activities (washing and dressing), this should be further clarified and examined using specific measures (performance-based and patient-reported) to identify ADL difficulties.

The influence of muscle composition (also termed "muscle quality", related to the myosteatosis or fatty infiltration within and between muscle fibres) in this population with knee OA also requires further research. Myosteatosis may account for differences in the relationship between strength and muscle mass, as it is associated with poorer function⁵⁷. Kumar et al.⁵⁸ found adults with knee OA had greater myosteatosis in the quadriceps muscle, with associated disability, compared to adults without OA. However it is unclear if myosteatosis precedes OA and is related to OA development and progression, or if OA-related immobility and inactivity results in increased fatty infiltration in the muscle⁵⁸. Regardless, muscle composition cannot be distinguished with DXA, so additional testing measures would be required (i.e. MRI, CT scans, or potentially ultrasound echogenicity⁵⁹).

5.4.2 Clinical Practice

There are a few recommendations that can be made for clinical practice based on the findings of this thesis. This is important as knowledge gained from clinical research should be translated, shared and utilized in clinical care settings. Primarily, this research supports the need for increased consideration and identification of sarcopenic obesity in clinical practice, as this

condition is present in patients and impacting functional outcomes. Study results indicate that sarcopenic obesity is missed by consideration of BMI measures alone, supporting the need for measurement of body composition to discern the presence of low muscle mass.

Currently in clinical practice there may be limited availability to measure body composition in every patient with knee OA using DXA. Therefore, the proposed relative grip strength cut-points could be used to screen and identify patients who are more likely to have low muscle mass. This will reduce the number of patients requiring body composition assessment, while still supporting an appropriate diagnostic approach. Only those patients identified with low relative grip strength would be required to have their body composition assessed, in order to confirm or refute the presence of low muscle mass and the diagnosis of sarcopenic obesity. Additionally, alongside this increased utilization of DXA body composition measurement to identify sarcopenic obesity, there should be consideration of appropriate procedures, equipment limitations, and measurement techniques to use when scanning adults with higher body size and mass using DXA⁶⁰.

While this research did not examine the implications of weight loss in patients who have sarcopenic obesity, there are theoretical recommendations that can be made. Weight loss should not be recommended in adults with end-stage knee OA unless there is no presence or risk of low muscle mass and sarcopenic obesity (which would need to be confirmed with appropriate screening and a body composition assessment). This is due to the risk of muscle and bone loss that occurs concomitantly with weight loss^{61,62}. Further, as gains in muscle mass are more difficult as age increases⁴¹, it may be even more critical to encourage and support preservation of existing muscle mass prior to and during TKA surgical recovery for all patients. Hospitalization for a procedure such as TKA, along with resultant surgical-related inflammation and inactivity,

could acutely precipitate muscle loss and the onset of sarcopenic obesity in patients with already low muscle reserves⁶³. And finally, patients who are identified with sarcopenic obesity should receive current evidence-based treatment interventions to preserve muscle mass and strength^{37,64–} ⁶⁶, including appropriate protein intake advised by a dietitian, and resistance exercise training supported by a physiotherapist or exercise physiologist³⁷.

5.5 Conclusions

This thesis provides an important contribution to the literature, expanding our understanding about sarcopenic obesity in adults with knee OA. This work provides evidence that sarcopenic obesity is present in adults with obesity and knee OA, and recommends that it should be identified using diagnostic definitions that consider both low muscle mass and low strength or low function. Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity will vary depending on diagnostic approach, but ranges between 8.6% -19.9% are projected (using combination diagnostic approaches). Patients with sarcopenic obesity had poorer functional mobility and quality of life compared to patients without this condition. Early identification of sarcopenic obesity in the clinical setting is suggested to prevent and minimize further muscle loss. Relative grip strength is proposed as a pragmatic method to screen for low strength in patients with knee OA and obesity. Patients with low strength could then complete a body composition assessment to determine the presence of low muscle mass, and confirm or refute the identification of sarcopenic obesity.

5.6 References

- 1. Godziuk K, Prado CM, Woodhouse LJ, Forhan M. The impact of sarcopenic obesity on knee and hip osteoarthritis: a scoping review. *BMC Musculoskelet Disord*. 2018. doi:10.1186/s12891-018-2175-7.
- 2. Batsis JA, Zbehlik AJ, Pidgeon D, Bartels SJ. Dynapenic obesity and the effect on longterm physical function and quality of life: Data from the osteoarthritis initiative. *BMC Geriatr.* 2015;15(1):118. doi:10.1186/s12877-015-0118-9.
- 3. Ji HM, Han J, Jin DS, Suh H, Chung YS, Won YY. Sarcopenia and sarcopenic obesity in patients undergoing orthopedic surgery. *Clin Orthop Surg.* 2016;8(2):194-202. doi:10.4055/cios.2016.8.2.194.
- 4. Jin WS, Choi EJ, Lee SY, Bae EJ, Lee T, Park J. Relationships among obesity, sarcopenia, and osteoarthritis in the elderly. *J Obes Metab Syndr*. 2017:36-44.
- 5. Knoop J, Van Der Leeden M, Thorstensson CA, et al. Identification of phenotypes with different clinical outcomes in knee osteoarthritis: Data from the osteoarthritis initiative. *Arthritis Care Res.* 2011;63(11):1535-1542. doi:10.1002/acr.20571.
- Lee SY, Ro HJ, Chung SG, Kang SH, Seo KM, Kim DK. Low skeletal muscle mass in the lower limbs is independently associated to knee osteoarthritis. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(11):1-11. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0166385.
- Lee S, Kim TN, Kim SH. Sarcopenic obesity is more closely associated with knee osteoarthritis than is nonsarcopenic obesity: A cross-sectional study. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2012;64(12):3947-3954. doi:10.1002/art.37696.
- 8. Manoy P, Anomasiri W, Yuktanandana P, et al. Elevated serum leptin levels are associated with low vitamin D, sarcopenic obesity, poor muscle strength, and physical performance in knee osteoarthritis. *Biomarkers*. 2017:1-22. doi:10.1080/1354750X.2017.1315615.
- 9. Segal NA, Toda Y. Absolute reduction in lower limb lean body mass in Japanese women with knee osteoarthritis. *J Clin Rheumatol*. 2005;11(5):245-249. doi:10.1097/01.rhu.0000182148.74893.3f.
- 10. Suh DH, Han KD, Hong JY, et al. Body composition is more closely related to the development of knee osteoarthritis in women than men: A cross-sectional study using the Fifth Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (KNHANES V-1, 2). *Osteoarthr Cartil.* 2016;24(4):605-611. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2015.10.011.
- Jeanmaire C, Mazières B, Verrouil E, Bernard L, Guillemin F, Rat A-C. Body composition and clinical symptoms in patients with hip or knee osteoarthritis: Results from the KHOALA cohort. *Semin Arthritis Rheum*. 2017:1-8. doi:10.1016/j.semarthrit.2017.10.012.
- 12. Deurenberg P, Yap M, van Staveren W. Body mass index and percent body fat: a meta analysis among different ethnic groups. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 1998;22(12):1164.

- 13. Heymsfield SB, Peterson CM, Thomas DM, Heo M, Schuna J. Why are there race/ethnic differences in adult body mass index-adiposity relationships ? A quantitative critical review. *Obes Rev.* 2016;17:262-275. doi:10.1111/obr.12358.
- 14. Mayhew AJ, Amog K, Phillips S, et al. The prevalence of sarcopenia in communitydwelling older adults, an exploration of differences between studies and within definitions: a systematic review and meta-analyses. *Age Ageing*. 2019;48:48-56. doi:10.1093/ageing/afy106.
- 15. Newman AB, Kupelian V, Visser M, et al. Sarcopenia: alternative definitions and associations with lower extremity function. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* 2003;51(11):1602-1609. doi:10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51534.x.
- 16. Johnson Stoklossa CA, Sharma AM, Forhan M, Siervo M, Padwal RS, Prado CM. Prevalence of sarcopenic obesity in adults with class II/III obesity using different diagnostic criteria. *J Nutr Metab.* 2017. doi:10.1155/2017/7307618.
- Abellan Van Kan G, Rolland Y, Andrieu S, et al. Gait speed at usual pace as a predictor of adverse outcomes in community-dwelling older people. *J Nutr Health Aging*. 2009;13:881-889. doi:10.1007/s12603-009-0246-z.
- 18. Cawthon P, Travison T, Manini T, et al. Establishing the link between lean mass and grip strength cut-points with mobility disability and other health outcomes: Proceedings of the Sarcopenia Definition and Outcomes Consortium Conference. *J Gerontol Biol Sci.* 2019.
- 19. Morley JE, Abbatecola AM, Argiles JM, et al. Sarcopenia with limited mobility: an international consensus. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*. 2011;12:403-409. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2011.04.014.
- 20. Baumgartner RN, Wayne SJ, Waters DL, Janssen I, Gallagher D, Morley JE. Sarcopenic obesity predicts instrumental activities of daily living disability in the elderly. *Obes Res.* 2004;12(12):1995-2004. doi:10.1038/oby.2004.250.
- 21. Skou ST, Roos EM, Laursen MB, et al. Criteria used when deciding on eligibility for total knee arthroplasty Between thinking and doing. *Knee*. 2016;23(2):300-305. doi:10.1016/j.knee.2015.08.012.
- 22. Johnson Stoklossa C, Ghosh SS, Forhan M, et al. Poor physical function as a marker of sarcopenia in adults with class II/III obesity. *Curr Dev Nutr*. 2018:1-8.
- 23. Janssen I, Heymsfield SB, Ross R. Low relative skeletal muscle mass (sarcopenia) in older persons is associated with functional impairment and physical disability. *J Am Geriatr.* 2002;50:889-896.
- 24. Martín-Fernández J, García-Maroto R, Sánchez-Jiménez FJ, et al. Validation of the Spanish version of the Oxford knee score and assessment of its utility to characterize quality of life of patients suffering from knee osteoarthritis: a multicentric study. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. 2017;15(186). doi:10.1186/s12955-017-0761-2.
- 25. Barazzoni R, Bischoff S, Boirie Y, et al. Sarcopenic obesity: time to meet the challenge. *Eur J Obes*. 2018:294-305. doi:10.1159/000490361.

- 26. Batsis JA, Villareal DT. Sarcopenic obesity in older adults: Aetiology, epidemiology and treatment strategies. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* 2018. doi:10.1038/s41574-018-0062-9.
- 27. Levine ME, Crimmins EM. The impact of insulin resistance and inflammation on the association between sarcopenic obesity and physical functioning. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2012;20(10):2101-2106. doi:10.1038/oby.2012.20.
- 28. Batsis JA, Mackenzie TA, Lopez-Jimenez F, Bartels SJ. Sarcopenia, sarcopenic obesity, and functional impairments in older adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys 1999-2004. *Nutr Res.* 2015;35(12):1031-1039. doi:10.1016/j.nutres.2015.09.003.
- 29. Baumgartner RN, Koehler K, Gallagher D, et al. Epidemiology of sarcopenia among the enderly in New México. *Am J Epidemiol*. 1998;147(8):755-763.
- 30. Studenski SA, Peters KW, Alley DE, et al. The FNIH sarcopenia project: Rationale, study description, conference recommendations, and final estimates. *Journals Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2014;69(5):547-558. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu010.
- 31. Siervo M, Prado CM, Mire E, et al. Body composition indices of a load-capacity model: gender- and BMI-specific reference curves. *Public Health Nutr*. 2014;18(7):1-10. doi:10.1017/S1368980014001918.
- 32. Gonzalez MC, Correia MITD, Heymsfield SB. A requiem for BMI in the clinical setting. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2017;20(5):1. doi:10.1097/MCO.0000000000395.
- 33. Davis HC, Blue MNM, Hirsch KR, et al. Body composition is associated with physical performance in individuals with knee osteoarthritis. *J Clin Rheumatol*. 2019;00(00):1-6. doi:10.1097/RHU.00000000000967.
- 34. Locquet M, Beaudart C, Reginster J, Petermans J, Bruyère O. Comparison of the performance of five screening methods for sarcopenia. *Clin Epidemiol*. 2018;10:71-82.
- 35. Beaudart C, McCloskey E, Bruyère O, et al. Sarcopenia in daily practice: assessment and management. *BMC Geriatr*. 2016;16(1):170. doi:10.1186/s12877-016-0349-4.
- 36. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Bahat G, Bauer J, et al. Sarcopenia: revised European consensus on definition and diagnosis. *Age Ageing*. 2018;(0):1-16. doi:10.1093/ageing/afy169.
- 37. Dent E, Morley JE, Cruz-Jentoft AJ, et al. International Clinical Practice Guidelines for Sarcopenia (ICFSR): Screening, Diagnosis and Management. *J Nutr Heal Aging*. 2018.
- 38. Beaudart C, Rolland Y, Cruz-jentoft AJ, et al. Assessment of Muscle Function and Physical Performance in Daily Clinical Practice. *Calcif Tissue Int*. 2019. doi:10.1007/s00223-019-00545-w.
- 39. El Ghoch M, Rossi AP, Calugi S, Rubele S, Soave F, Zamboni M. Physical performance measures in screening for reduced lean body mass in adult females with obesity. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2018;28(9):917-921. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2018.06.008.
- 40. Sampaio RAC, Sampaio PYS, Castano LAA, et al. Cutoff values for appendicular skeletal muscle mass and strength in relation to fear of falling among Brazilian older adults: cross-sectional study. *Sau Paulo Med J.* 2017;135(5):434-443. doi:10.1590/1516-

3180.2017.0049030517.

- 41. Kalyani RR, Corriere M, Ferrucci L. Age-related and disease-related muscle loss: The effect of diabetes, obesity, and other diseases. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol*. 2014;2(10):819-829. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70034-8.
- 42. Ganz ML, Wintfeld N, Li Q, Alas V, Langer J, Hammer M. The association of body mass index with the risk of type 2 diabetes: a case control study nested in an electronic health records system in the United States. *Diabetol Metab Syndr*. 2014;6(50).
- 43. Kreidieh D, Itani L, El Masri D, Tannir H, Citarella R, El Ghoch M. Association between sarcopenic obesity, type 2 diabetes, and hypertension in overweight and obese treatment-seeking adult women. *J Cardiovasc Dev Dis*. 2018;5:51. doi:10.3390/jcdd5040051.
- 44. Kohara K. Sarcopenic obesity in aging population: Current status and future directions for research. *Endocrine*. 2014;45(1):15-25. doi:10.1007/s12020-013-9992-0.
- 45. Chen L, Nelson DR, Zhao Y, Cui Z, Johnston JA. Relationship between muscle mass and muscle strength, and the impact of comorbidities: A population-based, cross-sectional study of older adults in the United States. *BMC Geriatr*. 2013;13(1):1. doi:10.1186/1471-2318-13-74.
- McGrory BJ, Weber KL, Jevsevar DS, Sevarino K. Surgical Management of Osteoarthritis of the Knee: Evidence-based Guideline. *J Am Acad Orthop Surg*. 2016;24(8):e87-93. doi:10.5435/JAAOS-D-16-00159.
- 47. Carneiro IP, Mazurak VC, Prado CM. Clinical implications of sarcopenic obesity in cancer. *Curr Oncol Rep.* 2016;18(10). doi:10.1007/s11912-016-0546-5.
- 48. Babu JM, Kalagara S, Durand W, Antoci V, Deren ME, Cohen E. Sarcopenia as a Risk Factor for Prosthetic Infection After Total Hip or Knee Arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty*. 2019;34(1):116-122. doi:10.1016/j.arth.2018.09.037.
- 49. Gillis C, Fenton TR, Sajobi TT, et al. Trimodal prehabilitation for colorectal surgery attenuates post-surgical losses in lean body mass: A pooled analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Clin Nutr.* 2018:4-11. doi:10.1016/j.clnu.2018.06.982.
- 50. Cao L, Morley JE, Rosenberg H, et al. Sarcopenia Is Recognized as an Independent Condition by an International Classification of Disease, Tenth Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-10-CM) Code. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*. 2016;17(8):675-677. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2016.06.001.
- 51. Vellas B, Fielding R, Bens C, et al. Implications of ICD-10 for sarcopenia clinical practice and clinical trials: Report by the International Conference on Frailty and Sarcopenia Research Task Force. *J Frailty Aging*. 2018;7(1).
- 52. Lees MJ, Wilson OJ, Hind K, Ispoglou T. Muscle quality as a complementary prognostic tool in conjunction with sarcopenia assessment in younger and older individuals. *Eur J Appl Physiol.* 2019;0(0):0. doi:10.1007/s00421-019-04107-8.
- 53. Wada O, Kurita N, Kamitani T, Nakano N, Mizuno K. Influence of the severity of knee osteoarthritis on the association between leg muscle mass and quadriceps strength: the

SPSS-OK study. Clin Rheumatol. 2018. doi:10.1007/s10067-018-4337-2.

- Alley DE, Shardell MD, Peters KW, et al. Grip strength cutpoints for the identification of clinically relevant weakness. *Journals Gerontol - Ser A Biol Sci Med Sci.* 2014;69 A(5):559-566. doi:10.1093/gerona/glu011.
- 55. Hicks GE, Shardell M, Alley DE, et al. Absolute Strength and Loss of Strength as Predictors of Mobility Decline in Older Adults: The InCHIANTI Study. *Journals Gerontol Med Sci.* 2012;67:66-73. doi:10.1093/gerona/glr055.
- 56. Beaudart C, Locquet M, Yves J, Laura R, Jean D, Bruyère O. Quality of life in sarcopenia measured with the SarQoL® : impact of the use of different diagnosis definitions. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* 2018;30(4):307-313. doi:10.1007/s40520-017-0866-9.
- 57. Tuttle LJ, Sinacore DR, Mueller MJ. Intermuscular adipose tissue is muscle specific and associated with poor functional performance. *J Aging Res.* 2012. doi:10.1155/2012/172957.
- 58. Kumar D, Karampinos DC, Macleod TD, et al. Quadriceps intramuscular fat fraction rather than muscle size is associated with knee osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthr Cartil.* 2014;22:226-234. doi:10.1016/j.joca.2013.12.005.
- 59. Harris-Love M, Avila N, Adams B, et al. The comparative associations of ultrasound and computed tomography estimates of muscle quality with physical performance and metabolic parameters in older men. *J Clin Med.* 2018;7(10):340. doi:10.3390/jcm7100340.
- 60. Johnson Stoklossa C, Forhan M, Padwal RS, Gonzalez MC, Prado CM. Practical Considerations for Body Composition Assessment of Adults with Class II/III Obesity Using Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis or Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry. *Curr Obes Rep.* 2016:1-8. doi:10.1007/s13679-016-0228-5.
- 61. Villareal DT, Chode S, Parimi N, et al. Weight Loss, Exercise, or Both and Physical Function in Obese Older Adults. *N Engl J Med.* 2011;13364(31):1218-1229.
- 62. Jiang BC, Villareal DT, Jiang BC, Villareal DT. Weight Loss-Induced Reduction of Bone Mineral Density in Older Adults with Obesity Weight Loss-Induced Reduction of Bone Mineral. *J Nutr Gerontol Geriatr.* 2019:1-15. doi:10.1080/21551197.2018.1564721.
- 63. Welch C, Hassan-Smith ZK, Greig CA, Lord JM, Jackson TA. Acute Sarcopenia Secondary to Hospitalisation – An Emerging Condition Affecting Older Adults. *Aging Dis.* 2018;9(1):151-164.
- 64. Wakabayashi H, Sakuma K. Comprehensive approach to sarcopenia treatment. *Curr Clin Pharmacol*. 2014;9(2):171-180. doi:10.2174/1574884708666131111192845.
- 65. Bouchonville MF, Villareal DT. Sarcopenic obesity: How do we treat it? *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes*. 2013;20(5):412-419. doi:10.1097/01.med.0000433071.11466.7f.
- 66. Murphy CH, Roche HM. Nutrition and physical activity countermeasures for sarcopenia: Time to get personal? *Nutr Bull*. 2018;43:374-387. doi:10.1111/nbu.12351.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abbate, LM et al. 2006. Anthropometric Measures, Body Composition, Body Fat Distribution, and Knee Osteoarthritis in Women. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)* 14(7): 1274–81.
- Abellan Van Kan, G et al. 2009. Gait Speed at Usual Pace as a Predictor of Adverse Outcomes in Community-Dwelling Older People. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging* 13: 881–89. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s12603-009-0246-z.
- Alley, DE. et al. 2014. Grip Strength Cutpoints for the Identification of Clinically Relevant Weakness. Journals of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences 69 A(5): 559–66.
- American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. 2017. AAOS Guidelines Management of Osteoarthritis of the Hip: Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guideline.
- Arden, N et al. 2014. Atlas of Osteoarthritis. Springer Healthcare.
- Arksey, H, O'Malley, L. 2005. Scoping Studies: Towards a Methodological Framework. International Journal of Social Research Methodology 8(1): 19–32. http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-14644388070&partnerID=tZOtx3y1.
- Babu, JM et al. 2019. Sarcopenia as a Risk Factor for Prosthetic Infection After Total Hip or Knee Arthroplasty. *The Journal of Arthroplasty* 34(1): 116–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arth.2018.09.037.
- Barazzoni, R. et al. 2018. Sarcopenic Obesity: Time to Meet the Challenge. *The European Journal of Obesity*: 294–305.
- Bastick, AN, et al. 2015. Prognostic Factors for Progression of Clinical Osteoarthritis of the Knee: A Systematic Review of Observational Studies. *Arthritis Research & Therapy* 17(152): 1–13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13075-015-0670-x.
- Batsis, JA. et al. 2013. Variation in the Prevalence of Sarcopenia and Sarcopenic Obesity in Older Adults Associated with Different Research Definitions: Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry Data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999-2004. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 61(6): 974–80.
- Batsis, JA., et al. 2015. Sarcopenia, Sarcopenic Obesity, and Functional Impairments in Older Adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys 1999-2004. *Nutrition Research* 35(12): 1031–39. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nutres.2015.09.003.
- Batsis, JA., et al. 2015. Dynapenic Obesity and the Effect on Long-Term Physical Function and Quality of Life: Data from the Osteoarthritis Initiative. *BMC Geriatrics* 15(1): 118. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26449277.
- Batsis, JA., Villareal, DT. 2018. Sarcopenic Obesity in Older Adults: Aetiology, Epidemiology and Treatment Strategies. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41574-018-0062-9.

Baumgartner, RN. et al. 1998. Epidemiology of Sarcopenia among the Enderly in New México.

Am J Epidemiol. 147(8): 755–63.

- Baumgartner, RN. et al. 2004. Sarcopenic Obesity Predicts Instrumental Activities of Daily Living Disability in the Elderly. *Obesity research* 12(12): 1995–2004.
- Baumgartner, RN. et al. 1999. Predictors of Skeletal Muscle Mass in Elderly Men and Women. *Mechanisms of Ageing and Development* 107: 123–36.
- Beaudart, C. et al. 2016. Sarcopenia in Daily Practice: Assessment and Management. *BMC Geriatrics* 16(1): 170. http://bmcgeriatr.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12877-016-0349-4.
- Beaudart, C. et al. 2018. Quality of Life in Sarcopenia Measured with the SarQoL® : Impact of the Use of Different Diagnosis Definitions. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research* 30(4): 307–13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40520-017-0866-9.
- Beaudart, C. et al. 2019. Assessment of Muscle Function and Physical Performance in Daily Clinical Practice. *Calcified Tissue International*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00223-019-00545w.
- Beavers, KM. et al. 2011. Is Lost Lean Mass from Intentional Weight Loss Recovered during Weight Regain in Postmenopausal Women? *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 94(3): 767–74.
- Belluzzi, E. et al. 2017. Systemic and Local Adipose Tissue in Knee Osteoarthritis. *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 232(8): 1971–78.
- Bennell, K. et al. 2011. Measures of Physical Performance Assessments: Self-Paced Walk Test (SPWT), Stair Climb Test (SCT), Six-Minute Walk Test (6MWT), Chair Stand Test (CST), Timed Up & Go (TUG), Sock Test, Lift and Carry Test (LCT), and Car Task. Arthritis Care and Research 63(SUPPL. 11): 350–70.
- Bombardier, C. et al. 2011. The Impact of Arthritis in Canada: Today and over the next 30 Years. *Arthritis Alliance of Canada*. http://www.arthritisalliance.ca.
- Bosy-Westphal, A., Müller, MJ. 2015. Identification of Skeletal Muscle Mass Depletion across Age and BMI Groups in Health and Disease - There Is Need for a Unified Definition. *International journal of obesity* 39(3): 379–86. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25174451.
- Bouchonville, MF., Villareal, DT. 2013. Sarcopenic Obesity: How Do We Treat It? *Current Opinion in Endocrinology, Diabetes and Obesity* 20(5): 412–19.
- Buckinx, F et al. 2018. Pitfalls in the Measurement of Muscle Mass: A Need for a Reference Standard. *Journal of Cachexia, Sarcopenia and Muscle* 9: 269–78.
- Bumpass, DB., Nunley, RM. 2012. Assessing the Value of a Total Joint Replacement. *Current Reviews in Musculoskeletal Medicine* 5(4): 274–82.
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. 2015. *Hip and Knee Replacements in Canada: Canadian Joint Replacement Registry 2015 Annual Report*. https://secure.cihi.ca/free_products/CJRR_2015_Annual_Report_EN.pdf.

- Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI). 2017. *Hip and Knee Replacements in Canada: Canadian Joint Replacement Registry 2015–2016 Quick Stats.*
- Canadian Joint Replacement Registry. 2002. Knee, The 2002 Report Total Hip and Total Knee Replacements in Canada.
- Cao, L. et al. 2016. Sarcopenia Is Recognized as an Independent Condition by an International Classification of Disease, Tenth Revision, Clinical Modification (ICD-10-CM) Code. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 17(8): 675–77. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1525861016301815.
- Carneiro, IP. et al. 2016. Clinical Implications of Sarcopenic Obesity in Cancer. *Current Oncology Reports* 18(10). http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11912-016-0546-5.
- Cauley, JA. 2015. An Overview of Sarcopenic Obesity. *Journal of Clinical Densitometry* 18(4): 499–505. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jocd.2015.04.013.
- Cawthon, PM. et al. 2014. Cutpoints for Low Appendicular Lean Mass That Identify Older Adults with Clinically Significant Weakness. *Journals of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 69 A(5): 567–75.
- Cawthon, PM. et al. 2018. Strong Relation Between Muscle Mass Determined by D3 Creatine Dilution, Physical Performance, and Incidence of Falls and Mobility Limitations in a Prospective Cohort of Older Men. *Journals of Gerontology Medical Sciences* XX: 1–9.
- Cawthon, PM. et al. 2019. Establishing the Link between Lean Mass and Grip Strength Cut-Points with Mobility Disability and Other Health Outcomes: Proceedings of the Sarcopenia Definition and Outcomes Consortium Conference. *Journal of Gerontology: Biological Sciences*.
- De Ceuninck, F. et al. 2014. Bearing Arms against Osteoarthritis and Sarcopenia: When Cartilage and Skeletal Muscle Find Common Interest in Talking Together. *Drug Discovery Today* 19(3): 305–11.
- Chen, L. et al. 2013. Relationship between Muscle Mass and Muscle Strength, and the Impact of Comorbidities: A Population-Based, Cross-Sectional Study of Older Adults in the United States. *BMC Geriatrics* 13(1): 1. BMC Geriatrics.
- Chen, L. et al. 2014. Sarcopenia in Asia: Consensus Report of the Asian Working Group for Sarcopenia. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 15(2): 95–101. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2013.11.025.
- Cherin, P. et al. 2014. Prevalence of Sarcopenia among Healthy Ambulatory Subjects: The Sarcopenia Begins from 45 Years. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research* 26(2): 137–46.
- Chernoff, R. 2004. Protein and Older Adults. *Journal of the American College of Nutrition* 23(6 Suppl): 6278–630S. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/15640517.
- Cheung, C. et al. 2016. Evaluation of Cutpoints for Low Lean Mass and Slow Gait Speed in Predicting Death in the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999 – 2004. *Journals of Gerontology: Medical Sciences* 71(1): 90–95.

- Choquette, S. et al. 2010. Relative Strength as a Determinant of Mobility in Elders 67-84 Years of Age. A Nuage Study: Nutrition as a Determinant of Successful Aging. *The Journal of Nutrition, Health & Aging* 14(3): 190–95.
- Clark, BC, TM Manini, TM. 2010. Functional Consequences of Sarcopenia and Dynapenia in the Elderly. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care* 13(3): 271–76.
- Collins, KH. et al. 2018. Obesity, Metabolic Syndrome, and Musculoskeletal Disease: Common Inflammatory Pathways Suggest a Central Role for Loss of Muscle Integrity. *Frontiers in Physiology* 9(FEB).
- Cruz-Jentoft, AJ. et al. 2010. Sarcopenia: European Consensus on Definition and Diagnosis. *Age and Ageing* 39(4): 412–23.
- Cruz-Jentoft, AJ. et al. 2018. Sarcopenia: Revised European Consensus on Definition and Diagnosis. *Age and Ageing* (0): 1–16.
- daCosta Dibonaventura, M. et al. 2011. Evaluating the Health and Economic Impact of Osteoarthritis Pain in the Workforce: Results from the National Health and Wellness Survey. *BMC musculoskeletal disorders* 12(1): 83. http://www.scopus.com/inward/record.url?eid=2-s2.0-79955154226&partnerID=tZOtx3y1.
- Daniel, WW. 2009. *Biostatistics: A Foundation for Analysis in the Health Sciences*. 9th ed. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Davidson, LE. et al. 2009. Effects of exercise modality on insulin resistance and functional limitation in older adults. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 169(2): 122-131.
- Davis, HC. et al. 2019. Body Composition Is Associated with Physical Performance in Individuals with Knee Osteoarthritis. *Journal of Clinical Rheumatology* 00(00): 1–6.
- De Rosa, E. et al. 2015. Preliminary Evaluation of the Prevalence of Sarcopenia in Obese Patients from Southern Italy. *Nutrition* 31(1): 79–83. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.nut.2014.04.025.
- Demling, RH. 1954. Nutrition, Anabolism, and the Wound Healing Process: An Overview. *Eplasty* 9: 65–94.
- Dent, E. et al. 2018. International Clinical Practice Guidelines for Sarcopenia (ICFSR): Screening, Diagnosis and Management. *Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging*.
- Deurenberg, P. et al. 1998. Body Mass Index and Percent Body Fat: A Meta Analysis among Different Ethnic Groups. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord* 22(12): 1164.
- Donini, LM. et al. 2013. Body Composition in Sarcopenic Obesity: Systematic Review of the Literature. *Mediterranean Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism* 6(3): 191–98.
- Donini, LM, Poggiogalle, E. 2013. Body Composition in Sarcopenic Obesity: Systematic Review of the Literature. *Mediterranean Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism* 6: 191–98.
- Dowsey, MM. et al. 2014. Selecting Those to Refer for Joint Replacement: Who Will Likely Benefit and Who Will Not? *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Rheumatology* 28(1): 157–71. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2014.01.005.

- Ertürk, C. et al. 2015. The Body Composition of Patients with Knee Osteoarthritis: Relationship with Clinical Parameters and Radiographic Severity. *Aging Clinical and Experimental Research* 27(5): 673–79. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s40520-015-0325-4.
- Evans, WJ. et al. 2019. D3-Creatine Dilution and the Importance of Accuracy in the Assessment of Skeletal Muscle Mass. *Journal of Cachexia, Sarcopenia and Muscle*.
- Fielding, RA. et al. 2011. Sarcopenia: An Undiagnosed Condition in Older Adults. Current Consensus Definition: Prevalence, Etiology, and Consequences. International Working Group on Sarcopenia. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 12(4): 249– 56. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2011.01.003.
- Gallagher, D. et al. 2000. Healthy Percentage Body Fat Ranges: An Approach for Developing Guidelines Based on Body Mass Index. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 72(3): 694– 701.
- Gallagher, D. et al. 1997. Appendicular Skeletal Muscle Mass: Effects of Age, Gender, and Ethnicity. *Journal of applied physiology*.
- Ganz, ML. et al. 2014. The Association of Body Mass Index with the Risk of Type 2 Diabetes: A Case Control Study Nested in an Electronic Health Records System in the United States. *Diabetology & Metabolic Syndrome* 6(50).
- Garcia-Hermoso, A. et al. 2018. Muscular Strength as a Predictor of All-Cause Mortality in an Apparently Healthy Population: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Data From Approximately 2 Million Men and Women. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*.
- Ghachem, A. et al. 2019. Profiling obesity phenotypes and trajectories in older adults of the Quebec NuAge cohort on nutrition and successful aging: A cluster analysis. *Clinical Obes*ity 2019:1-11. doi:10.1111/cob.12295.
- el Ghoch, M. et al. 2018. Physical Performance Measures in Screening for Reduced Lean Body Mass in Adult Females with Obesity. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases* 28(9): 917–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2018.06.008.
- Gillis, C. et al. 2018. Trimodal Prehabilitation for Colorectal Surgery Attenuates Post-Surgical Losses in Lean Body Mass: A Pooled Analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *Clinical Nutrition*: 4–11.
- Gioe, TJ. et al. 2007. Knee Arthroplasty in the Young Patient. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* PAP(464): 83–87. http://content.wkhealth.com/linkback/openurl?sid=WKPTLP:landingpage&an=00003086-900000000-98818.
- Godziuk, K. et al. 2018. The Impact of Sarcopenic Obesity on Knee and Hip Osteoarthritis: A Scoping Review. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*.
- Gonzalez, MC. et al. 2017. A Requiem for BMI in the Clinical Setting. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care* 20(5): 1. http://insights.ovid.com/crossref?an=00075197-900000000-99286.

- Gray, M. et al. 2016. Predicting Sarcopenia from Functional Measures among Community-Dwelling Older Adults. *Age* 38(22). http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11357-016-9887-0.
- Griffin, TM, Huffman, KM. 2016. Insulin Resistance: Releasing the Brakes on Synovial Inflammation and Osteoarthritis? *Arthritis & Rheumatology* 68(6): 1–30. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26749517.
- Guenther, D. et al. 2015. Overweight and Obesity in Hip and Knee Arthroplasty: Evaluation of 6078 Cases. *World Journal of Orthopedics* 6(1): 137. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4303782&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract.
- Habibzadeh, F. et al. 2016. On Determining the Most Appropriate Test Cut-off Value: The Case of Tests with Continuous Results. *Biochemia Medica* 26(3): 297–307.
- Harris-Love, M. et al. 2018. The Comparative Associations of Ultrasound and Computed Tomography Estimates of Muscle Quality with Physical Performance and Metabolic Parameters in Older Men. *Journal of Clinical Medicine* 7(10): 340. http://www.mdpi.com/2077-0383/7/10/340.
- Harris, PA. et al. 2009. Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) A Metadata-Driven Methodology and Workflow Process for Providing Translational Research Informatics Support. *J Biomed Inform* 42(2): 377–81.
- Heymsfield, SB. et al. 2016. Why Are There Race/Ethnic Differences in Adult Body Mass Index-Adiposity Relationships ? A Quantitative Critical Review. Obesity Reviews 17: 262– 75.
- Heymsfield, SB. et al. 2015. Skeletal Muscle Mass and Quality: Evolution of Modern Measurement Concepts in the Context of Sarcopenia. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*.
- Hicks, GE. et al. 2012. Absolute Strength and Loss of Strength as Predictors of Mobility Decline in Older Adults: The InCHIANTI Study. *Journals of Gerontology Medical Sciences* 67: 66– 73.
- Hita-Contreras, F. 2018. Traditional Body Mass Index Cut-Offs in Older People: Time for a Rethink with Altered Fat Distribution, Sarcopenia and Shrinking Height. *Maturitas*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2018.03.010.
- Hulens, M. et al. 2001. Study of differences in peripheral muscle strength of lean versus obese women: an allometric approach. *International Journal of Obesity*. 25:676-681.
- Ilich, JZ. et al. 2016. Osteosarcopenic Obesity Syndrome: What Is It and How Can It Be Identified and Diagnosed? *Current Gerontology and Geriatrics Research*.
- Janssen, I. et al. 2000. Skeletal Muscle Mass and Distribution in 468 Men and Women Aged 18– 88 Yr. Journal of Applied Physiology 89(1): 81–88. http://jap.physiology.org/content/89/1/81%5Cnhttp://jap.physiology.org/content/89/1/81.ful l.pdf%5Cnhttp://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10904038.
- Janssen, I. et al. 2002. Low Relative Skeletal Muscle Mass (Sarcopenia) in Older Persons Is Associated with Functional Impairment and Physical Disability. *J Am Geriatr* 50: 889–96.
- Janssen, MF. et al. 2013. Measurement Properties of the EQ-5D-5L Compared to the EQ-5D-3L across Eight Patient Groups: A Multi-Country Study. *Quality of Life Research* 22: 1717–27.
- Jeanmaire, C. et al. 2017. Body Composition and Clinical Symptoms in Patients with Hip or Knee Osteoarthritis: Results from the KHOALA Cohort. *Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism*: 1–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.semarthrit.2017.10.012.
- Ji, HM. et al. 2016. Sarcopenia and Sarcopenic Obesity in Patients Undergoing Orthopedic Surgery. *Clinics in Orthopedic Surgery* 8(2): 194–202.
- Jiang, BC. et al. 2019. Weight Loss-Induced Reduction of Bone Mineral Density in Older Adults with Obesity Weight Loss-Induced Reduction of Bone Mineral. *Journal of Nutrition in Gerontology and Geriatrics*: 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/21551197.2018.1564721.
- Jin, WS et al. 2017. Relationships among Obesity, Sarcopenia, and Osteoarthritis in the Elderly. *Journal of Obesity & Metabolic Syndrome*: 36–44.
- Johnson Stoklossa, CA. et al. 2016. Practical Considerations for Body Composition Assessment of Adults with Class II/III Obesity Using Bioelectrical Impedance Analysis or Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry. *Current Obesity Reports*: 1–8. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s13679-016-0228-5.
- Johnson Stoklossa, CA. et al. 2018. Poor Physical Function as a Marker of Sarcopenia in Adults with Class II/III Obesity. *Current Developments In Nutrition*: 1–8.
- Johnson Stoklossa, CA. et al. 2017. Prevalence of Sarcopenic Obesity in Adults with Class II/III Obesity Using Different Diagnostic Criteria. *Journal of Nutrition and Metabolism*.
- Jones, CA. et al. 2012. Delineating the Impact of Obesity and Its Relationship on Recovery after Total Joint Arthroplasties. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage* 20(6): 511–18. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2012.02.637.
- Joppa, P. et al. 2016. Sarcopenic Obesity, Functional Outcomes, and Systemic Inflammation in Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 17(8): 712–18. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2016.03.020.
- Juby, AG. 2014. A Healthy Body Habitus Is More than Just a Normal BMI: Implications of Sarcopenia and Sarcopenic Obesity. *Maturitas* 78(4): 243–44. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2014.05.013.
- Kallwitz, ER. 2015. Sarcopenia and Liver Transplant: The Relevance of Too Little Muscle Mass. *World Journal of Gastroenterology* 21(39): 10982–93.
- Kalyani, RR. et al. 2014a. Age-Related and Disease-Related Muscle Loss: The Effect of Diabetes, Obesity, and Other Diseases. *The Lancet Diabetes and Endocrinology* 2(10): 819– 29. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70034-8.
- Karlsson, MK. et al. 2014. Individuals with Primary Osteoarthritis Have Different Phenotypes Depending on the Affected Joint - a Case Control Study from Southern Sweden Including 514 Participants. *The Open Orthopaedics Journal* 8: 450–56. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4298037&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract.

- Karlsson, MK. et al. 2014. Patients with Hip Osteoarthritis Have a Phenotype with High Bone Mass and Low Lean Body Mass. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* 472(4): 1224–29.
- Karlsson, MK. et al. 2015. Patients with Knee Osteoarthritis Have a Phenotype with Higher Bone Mass, Higher Fat Mass, and Lower Lean Body Mass. *Clinical Orthopaedics and Related Research* 473(1): 258–64.
- Kerkhoffs, GMMJ. et al. 2012. The Influence of Obesity on the Complication Rate and Outcome of Total Knee Arthroplasty. *The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery* 94(20): 1839–44. http://jbjs.org/content/94/20/1839.abstract.
- Kim, TN. et al. 2017. Comparisons of Three Different Methods for Defining Sarcopenia: An Aspect of Cardiometabolic Risk. *Scientific Reports* (February): 1–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-06831-7.
- Knoop, J. et al. 2011. Identification of Phenotypes with Different Clinical Outcomes in Knee Osteoarthritis: Data from the Osteoarthritis Initiative. *Arthritis Care and Research* 63(11): 1535–42.
- Ko, S. et al. 2010. Characteristic Gait Patterns in Older Adults with Obesity—Results from the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. *Journal of Biomechanics* 43(6): 1104–10. http://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0021929009007131.
- Kohara, K. 2014. Sarcopenic Obesity in Aging Population: Current Status and Future Directions for Research. *Endocrine* 45(1): 15–25.
- Kreidieh, D. et al. 2018. Association between Sarcopenic Obesity, Type 2 Diabetes, and Hypertension in Overweight and Obese Treatment-Seeking Adult Women. *Journal of Cardiovascular Development and Disease* 5: 51. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/30347794%0Ahttp://www.mdpi.com/2308-3425/5/4/51.
- Kuk, JL. et al. 2005. Waist Circumference and Abdominal Adipose Tissue Distribution: Influence of Age and Sex. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition 81(6): 1330–34. http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true%7B&%7Ddb=cin20%7B&%7DAN=20 09021611%7B&%7Dsite=ehost-live%7B&%7Dscope=site.
- Kulkarni, K. et al. 2016. Obesity and Osteoarthritis. *Maturitas* 89: 22–28. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.maturitas.2016.04.006.
- Kumar, D. et al. 2014. Quadriceps Intramuscular Fat Fraction Rather than Muscle Size Is Associated with Knee Osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage* 22: 226–34.
- Lai, PPK. et al. 2008. Three-Dimensional Gait Analysis of Obese Adults. *Clinical Biomechanics* 23(SUPLL.1): 2–6.
- Lauretani, F. et al. 2003. Age-Associated Changes in Skeletal Muscles and Their Effect on Mobility: An Operational Diagnosis of Sarcopenia. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 95: 1851–60.

Lawrence, RC. et al. 2008. Estimates of the Prevalence of Arthritis and Other Rheumatic

Conditions in the United States, Part II for the National Arthritis Data Workgroup. *Arthritis Rheum* 58(1): 26–35. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/art.23176.

- Leblanc, ES. et al. 2011. Higher Testosterone Levels Are Associated with Less Loss of Lean Body Mass in Older Men. *J Clin Edocrinol Metab* 96(December): 3855–63.
- Ledford, CK. et al. 2014. Percent Body Fat More Associated with Perioperative Risks After Total Joint Arthroplasty Than Body Mass Index. *Journal of Arthroplasty* 29(9): 150–54. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.arth.2013.12.036.
- Ledford, CK. et al. 2016. Percent Body Fat Is More Predictive of Function after Total Joint Arthroplasty than Body Mass Index. *The Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery* 98: 849–57.
- Lee, D. et al. 2016. Physical Activity and Sarcopenic Obesity: Definition, Assessment, Prevalence and Mechanism. *Future Science*.
- Lee, SY. et al. 2016. Low Skeletal Muscle Mass in the Lower Limbs Is Independently Associated to Knee Osteoarthritis. *PLoS ONE* 11(11): 1–11.
- Lee, S. et al. 2012. Sarcopenic Obesity Is More Closely Associated with Knee Osteoarthritis than Is Nonsarcopenic Obesity: A Cross-Sectional Study. *Arthritis and Rheumatism* 64(12): 3947–54.
- Lees, MJ. et al. 2019. Muscle Quality as a Complementary Prognostic Tool in Conjunction with Sarcopenia Assessment in Younger and Older Individuals. *European Journal of Applied Physiology* 0(0): 0. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00421-019-04107-8.
- Levac, D. et al. 2010. Scoping Studies: Advancing the Methodology. *Implementation science : IS* 5: 69. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2954944&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract.
- Levine, ME., Crimmins, EM. 2012. The Impact of Insulin Resistance and Inflammation on the Association between Sarcopenic Obesity and Physical Functioning. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md.)* 20(10): 2101–6.
- Locquet, M. et al. 2018. Comparison of the Performance of Five Screening Methods for Sarcopenia. *Clinical Epidemiology* 10: 71–82.
- Lohmander, LS. et al. 2009. Incidence of Severe Knee and Hip Osteoarthritis in Relation to Different Measures of Body Mass: A Population-Based Prospective Cohort Study. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases* 68(4): 490–96. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18467514.
- Lui, M. et al. 2015. Effect of Non-Surgical, Non-Pharmacological Weight Loss Interventions in Patients Who Are Obese Prior to Hip and Knee Arthroplasty Surgery: A Rapid Review. *Systematic reviews* 4(1): 121.
- Ma, J. et al. 2016. Mid-Adulthood Cardiometabolic Risk Factor Profiles of Sarcopenic Obesity. *Obesity* 24(2): 526–34.
- Manini, TM., Clark, BC. 2012. Dynapenia and Aging: An Update. *Journal of Gerontology: Medical Sciences* (January): 28–40.

- Manoy, P. et al. 2017. Elevated Serum Leptin Levels Are Associated with Low Vitamin D, Sarcopenic Obesity, Poor Muscle Strength, and Physical Performance in Knee Osteoarthritis. *Biomarkers*: 1–22. https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/1354750X.2017.1315615.
- Martín-Fernández, J. et al. 2017. Validation of the Spanish Version of the Oxford Knee Score and Assessment of Its Utility to Characterize Quality of Life of Patients Suffering from Knee Osteoarthritis: A Multicentric Study. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes* 15(186).
- Mau-Moeller, A. et al. 2015. Modulation and Predictors of Periprosthetic Bone Mineral Density Following Total Knee Arthroplasty. *BioMed Research International*.
- Mayhew, AJ. et al. 2019. The Prevalence of Sarcopenia in Community-Dwelling Older Adults, an Exploration of Differences between Studies and within Definitions: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analyses. *Age and Ageing* 48: 48–56. https://academic.oup.com/ageing/advance-article/doi/10.1093/ageing/afy106/5058979.
- McAlindon, TE. et al. 2014. OARSI Guidelines for the Non-Surgical Management of Knee Osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage* 22(3): 363–88. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2014.01.003.
- McGrory, BJ. et al. 2016. Surgical Management of Osteoarthritis of the Knee: Evidence-Based Guideline. *The Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons* 24(8): e87-93. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27355286.
- Mclean, RR. et al. 2014. Criteria for Clinically Relevant Weakness and Low Lean Mass and Their Longitudinal Association With Incident Mobility Impairment and Mortality: The Foundation for the National Institutes of Health (FNIH) Sarcopenia Project. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci* 69(5): 576–83.
- Misra, D. et al. 2019. Risk of Knee Osteoarthritis With Obesity, Sarcopenic Obesity, and Sarcopenia. *Arthritis & Rheumatology* 71(2): 232–37.
- Moreira, MA. et al. 2016. Sarcopenic Obesity and Physical Performance in Middle Aged Women: A Cross-Sectional Study in Northeast Brazil. *BMC Public Health* 16(43): 1–11.
- Morley, JE. et al. 2011. Sarcopenia with Limited Mobility: An International Consensus. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 12: 403–9.
- Muller, R., Möckel, M. 2008. Logistic Regression and CART in the Analysis of Multimarker Studies. *Clinical Chimica Acta* 394: 1–6.
- Munugoda, IP. et al. 2018. The Association between Ambulatory Activity, Body Composition and Hip or Knee Joint Replacement Due to Osteoarthritis : A Prospective Cohort Study. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage* 26(5): 671–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2018.02.895.
- Murphy, CH., Roche, HM. 2018. Nutrition and Physical Activity Countermeasures for Sarcopenia: Time to Get Personal? *Nutrition Bulletin* 43: 374–87.
- Muscaritoli, M. et al. 2010. Consensus Definition of Sarcopenia, Cachexia and Pre-Cachexia: Joint Document Elaborated by Special Interest Groups (SIG) "Cachexia-Anorexia in Chronic Wasting Diseases" and "Nutrition in Geriatrics." *Clinical Nutrition* 29: 154–59.

- Naing, L. et al. 2006. Practical Issues in Calculating the Sample Size for Prevalence Studies. *Archives of Orofacial Sciences* 1: 9–14.
- Navaneelan, T., Janz, T. 2014. Adjusting the Scales: Obesity in the Canadian Population after Correcting for Respondent Bias. *Statistics Canada, Health at a Glance* May.
- Naylor, JM. et al. 2016. Minimal Important Improvement Thresholds for the Six-Minute Walk Test in a Knee Arthroplasty Cohort: Triangulation of Anchor- and Distribution-Based Methods. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders* 17: 1–10. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12891-016-1249-7.
- Nelson, AE. et al. 2014. A Systematic Review of Recommendations and Guidelines for the Management of Osteoarthritis: The Chronic Osteoarthritis Management Initiative of the U.S. Bone and Joint Initiative. *Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism* 43(6): 701–12. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.semarthrit.2013.11.012.
- Newman, AB. et al. 2003. Sarcopenia: Alternative Definitions and Associations with Lower Extremity Function. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 51(11): 1602–9.
- Nishigori, T. et al. 2016. Impact of Sarcopenic Obesity on Surgical Site Infection after Laparoscopic Total Gastrectomy. *Annals of Surgical Oncology*: 524–31.
- OECD/EU. 2016. Health at a Glance: Europe 2016 State of Health in the EU Cycle. Paris.
- Okorodudu, DO. et al. 2010. Diagnostic Performance of Body Mass Index to Identify Obesity as Defined by Body Adiposity: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *International Journal of Obesity* 34: 791–99. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2010.5.
- Oosting, E. et al. 2016. The Influence of Muscle Weakness on the Association between Obesity and Inpatient Recovery from Total Hip Arthroplasty. *The Journal of Arthroplasty*. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.arth.2016.12.037.
- Oosting, E. et al. 2016. Preoperative prediction of inpatient recovery of function after total hip arthroplasty using performance-based tests: a prospective cohort study. *Disability and Rehabilitation* 38(13):1243-1249. doi:10.3109/09638288.2015.1076074
- Oreopoulos, A. et al. 2011. Do Anthropometric Indices Accurately Reflect Directly Measured Body Composition in Men and Women with Chronic Heart Failure? *Congestive Heart Failure* 17(2): 90–92.
- Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development. *Obesity Update, 2017.* www.oecd.org/health/obesity-update.htm.
- Overweight and Obese Adults (Self-Reported), 2014. *Statistics Canada*. http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-625-x/2015001/article/14185-eng.htm (August 19, 2016).
- Öztürk, ZA. et al. 2017. Health-Related Quality of Life and Fall Risk Associated with Age-Related Body Composition Changes; Sarcopenia, Obesity and Sarcopenic Obesity. *Internal Medicine Journal*: 973–81.
- Pabinger, CH. et al. 2015. Utilization Rates of Knee-Arthroplasty in OECD Countries. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 23(10): 1664–73. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2015.05.008.

- Padwal, R. et al. 2016. Relationship among Body Fat Percentage, Body Mass Index, and All-Cause Mortality. *Annals of Internal Medicine* 164(8).
- Papalia, R. et al. 2014. Sarcopenia and Its Relationship with Osteoarthritis: Risk Factor or Direct Consequence? *Musculoskeletal Surgery* 98(1): 9–14.
- Perkisas, S. et al. 2017. Intramuscular Adipose Tissue and the Functional Components of Sarcopenia in Hospitalized Geriatric Patients. *Geriatrics* 2(11).
- Poggiogalle, E. et al. 2014. Treatment of Body Composition Changes in Obese and Overweight Older Adults: Insight into the Phenotype of Sarcopenic Obesity. *Endocrine* 47(3): 699–716.
- Prado, CM. et al. 2012. Sarcopenic Obesity: A Critical Appraisal of the Current Evidence. *Clinical Nutrition* 31(5): 583–601. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2012.06.010.
- Prado, CM. 2014. A Population-Based Approach to Define Body-Composition. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*: 1369–78.
- Prado, CM. et al. 2015. Body Composition Phenotypes and Obesity Paradox. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care* 18(6): 535–51.
- Prado, CM., Heymsfield, SB. 2014. Lean Tissue Imaging: A New Era for Nutritional Assessment and Intervention. *Journal of Parenteral and Enteral Nutrition* 38(8): 940–53. http://pen.sagepub.com/cgi/doi/10.1177/0148607114550189.
- Prado, CM. et al. 2008. Prevalence and Clinical Implications of Sarcopenic Obesity in Patients with Solid Tumours of the Respiratory and Gastrointestinal Tracts: A Population-Based Study. *The Lancet Oncology* 9(7): 629–35.
- Public Health Agency of Canada. 2010. *Life with Arthritis in Canada: A Personal and Public Health Challenge*. Ottawa. Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada.
- Purcell, S. et al. 2016. Body Composition, Strength, and Dietary Intake of Patients with Hip or Knee Osteoarthritis. *Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research* 77: 1–5. http://dcjournal.ca/doi/10.3148/cjdpr-2015-037.
- Rolland, Y. et al. 2009. Difficulties with Physical Function Associated with Obesity, Sarcopenia, and Sarcopenic-Obesity in Community-Dwelling Elderly Women : The EPIDOS (EPIDemiologie de l'OSteoporose) Study. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 89(3): 1895–1900.
- Romero-Corral, A. et al. 2010. Normal Weight Obesity: A Risk Factor for Cardiometabolic Dysregulation and Cardiovascular Mortality. *European Heart Journal* 31(6): 737–46.
- Roth, KC., Bessems, G. 2013. Sorry, but You Will Have to Lose Weight before Receiving Your Knee Replacement. *Erasmus Journal of Medicine* 3(2): 54–57.
- Roubenoff, R. 2000. Sarcopenic Obesity: Does Muscle Loss Cause Fat Gain? Lessons from Rheumatoid Arthritis and Osteoarthritis. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 904: 553–57.
- Roubenoff, R. 2004. Sarcopenic Obesity: The Confluence of Two Epidemics. *Obesity research* 12(6): 887–88.

- Sakuma, K., Yamaguchi, A. 2013. Sarcopenic Obesity and Endocrinal Adaptation with Age. *International Journal of Endocrinology* 2013.
- Sallinen, J. et al. 2010. Hand-Grip Strength Cut-Points to Screen Older Persons at Risk for Mobility Limitations. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 58(9): 1721–26.
- Sampaio, RAC. et al. 2017. Cutoff Values for Appendicular Skeletal Muscle Mass and Strength in Relation to Fear of Falling among Brazilian Older Adults: Cross-Sectional Study. *Sau Paulo Medical Journal* 135(5): 434–43.
- Samson, AJ. et al. 2010. Total Knee Replacement in the Morbidly Obese: A Literature Review. *ANZ Journal of Surgery* 80(9): 595–99.
- Santilli, V. et al. 2014. Clinical Definition of Sarcopenia. *Clinical Cases in Mineral and Bone Metabolism* 11(3): 177–80.
- Scott, D. et al. 2014. Sarcopenic Obesity and Dynapenic Obesity: 5-Year Associations with Falls Risk in Middle-Aged and Older Adults. *Obesity* 22(6): 1568–74.
- Segal, NA., Toda, Y. 2005. Absolute Reduction in Lower Limb Lean Body Mass in Japanese Women with Knee Osteoarthritis. *Journal of Clinical Rheumatology* 11(5): 245–49. http://content.wkhealth.com/linkback/openurl?sid=WKPTLP:landingpage&an=00124743-200510000-00001.
- Shyam Kumar, AJ. et al. 2013. Preoperative Grip Strength Measurement and Duration of Hospital Stay in Patients Undergoing Total Hip and Knee Arthroplasty. *Eur J Orthop Surg Traumatol* 23: 553–56.
- Si, H. et al. 2015. The Influence of Body Mass Index on the Outcomes of Primary Total Knee Arthroplasty. *Knee surgery, Sports traumatology, Arthroscopy* 23(6): 1824–32. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25217315.
- Siervo, M. et al. 2014. Body Composition Indices of a Load-Capacity Model: Gender- and BMI-Specific Reference Curves. *Public health nutrition* 18(7): 1–10. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25221994.
- Skou, ST. et al. 2018. Total Knee Replacement and Non-Surgical Treatment of Knee Osteoarthritis: 2-Year Outcome from Two Parallel Randomized Controlled Trials. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage*: 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2018.04.014.
- Skou, ST. et al. 2016. Criteria Used When Deciding on Eligibility for Total Knee Arthroplasty -Between Thinking and Doing. *Knee* 23(2): 300–305. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.knee.2015.08.012.
- Springer, BD. et al. 2013. Obesity and Total Joint Arthroplasty. A Literature Based Review. *Journal of Arthroplasty* 28(5): 714–21. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.arth.2013.02.011.
- Springer, BD. et al. 2016. Obesity and the Role of Bariatric Surgery in the Surgical Management of Osteoarthritis of the Hip and Knee: A Review of the Literature. Surgery for Obesity and Related Diseases: 1–8. http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1550728916306979.

- Stenholm, S. et al. 2008. Sarcopenic Obesity: Definition, Cause and Consequences. Current opinion in clinical nutrition and metabolic care 11(6): 693–700. http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2633408&tool=pmcentrez&ren dertype=abstract.
- Stubbs, B. et al. 2015. What Are the Factors That Influence Physical Activity Participation in Individuals with Knee and Hip Osteoarthritis? A Systematic Review of Physical Activity Correlates. *Clinical Rehabilitation* 29(1): 80–94.
- Studenski, SA. et al. 2014. The FNIH Sarcopenia Project: Rationale, Study Description, Conference Recommendations, and Final Estimates. *Journals of Gerontology A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences* 69(5): 547–58.
- Suh, DH. et al. 2016. Body Composition Is More Closely Related to the Development of Knee Osteoarthritis in Women than Men: A Cross-Sectional Study Using the Fifth Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (KNHANES V-1, 2). Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 24(4): 605–11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.joca.2015.10.011.
- Thijssen, E. et al. 2015. Obesity and Osteoarthritis, More than Just Wear and Tear: Pivotal Roles for Inflamed Adipose Tissue and Dyslipidaemia in Obesity-Induced Osteoarthritis. *Rheumatology* 54(4): 588–600.
- Tian, S., Xu, Y. 2016. Association of Sarcopenic Obesity with the Risk of All-Cause Mortality: A Meta-Analysis of Prospective Cohort Studies. *Geriatrics & Gerontology International* 16: 155–66. http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/ggi.12579.
- Tian, W. et al. 2009. Looking Upstream: Factors Shaping the Demand for Postacute Joint Replacement Rehabilitation. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation 90(8): 1260– 68. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apmr.2008.10.035.
- Toomey, C. et al. 2016. The Body Composition Phenotype of Irish Adults Aged 18–81 Years. *Irish Journal of Medical Science (1971 -)* 185(2): 537–44. http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11845-015-1338-x.
- Tsonga, T. et al. 2015. Analyzing the History of Falls in Patients with Severe Knee Osteoarthritis. *Clinics in Orthopedic Surgery* 7(4): 449–56.
- Turnheim, K. 2003. When Drug Therapy Gets Old: Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics in the Elderly. *Experimental Gerontology* 38: 843–53.
- Tuttle, LJ. et al. 2012. Intermuscular Adipose Tissue Is Muscle Specific and Associated with Poor Functional Performance. *Journal of Aging Research*.
- Vaishya, R. et al. 2016. Is Total Knee Replacement Justified in the Morbidly Obese? A Systematic Review. *Cureus* 8(9): e804. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/27790392.
- Van Aller, C. et al. 2018. Sarcopenic Obesity and Overall Mortality: Results from the Application of Novel Models of Body Composition Phenotypes to the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1999–2004. *Clinical Nutrition*.
- Vasarhelyi, EM, MacDonald, SJ. 2012. The Influence of Obesity on Total Joint Arthroplasty. *The Journal of bone and joint surgery. British volume* 94(11 Suppl A): 100–102.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23118394.

- Vellas, B. et al. 2018. Implications of ICD-10 for Sarcopenia Clinical Practice and Clinical Trials: Report by the International Conference on Frailty and Sarcopenia Research Task Force. *The Journal of Frailty and Aging* 7(1).
- Villareal, DT. et al. 2011. Weight Loss, Exercise, or Both and Physical Function in Obese Older Adults. *N Engl J Med* 13364(31): 1218–29.
- Vincent, HK. et al. 2010. Obesity and Mobility Disability in the Older Adult. *Obesity Reviews* 11(8): 568–79.
- Visser, AW. et al. 2014. The Relative Contribution of Mechanical Stress and Systemic Processes in Different Types of Osteoarthritis: The NEO Study. *Annals of the rheumatic diseases*: 1– 6. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24845389.
- Visser, AW. et al. 2014. The Role of Fat Mass and Skeletal Muscle Mass in Knee Osteoarthritis Is Different for Men and Women: The NEO Study. *Osteoarthritis and Cartilage* 22(2): 197–202.
- Visser, AW. et al. 2015. Do Knee Osteoarthritis and Fat-Free Mass Interact in Their Impact on Health-Related Quality of Life in Men? Results from a Population-Based Cohort. *Arthritis Care Res* 67(7): 981–88.
- Visser, M. et al. 2013. Sarcopenic Obesity Is Associated with Adverse Clinical Outcome after Cardiac Surgery. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases* 23(6): 511–18. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.numecd.2011.12.001.
- Visser, M. et al. 2005. Muscle Mass, Muscle Strength, and Muscle Fat Infiltration as Predictors of Incident Mobility Limitations in Well-Functioning Older Persons. *Journal of Gerontology: Medical Sciences* 60(3): 324–33.
- Vlietstra, L. et al. 2019. Sarcopenia in osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis: The association with self-reported fatigue, physical function and obesity. *PLoS One*.
- Wada, O. et al. 2018. Influence of the Severity of Knee Osteoarthritis on the Association between Leg Muscle Mass and Quadriceps Strength: The SPSS-OK Study. *Clinical Rheumatology*.
- Wakabayashi, H., Sakuma, K. 2014. Comprehensive Approach to Sarcopenia Treatment. *Current Clinical Pharmacology* 9(2): 171–80. http://www.eurekaselect.com/openurl/content.php?genre=article&issn=1574-8847&volume=9&issue=2&spage=171.
- Wang, Y. et al. 2009. Relationship between Body Adiposity Measures and Risk of Primary Knee and Hip Replacement for Osteoarthritis: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Arthritis Research & Therapy* 11(2): 1–10.
- Weinheimer, EM. et al. 2010. A Systematic Review of the Separate and Combined Effects of Energy Restriction and Exercise on Fat-Free Mass in Middle-Aged and Older Adults: Implications for Sarcopenic Obesity. *Nutrition Reviews* 68(7): 375–88.

- Welch, C. et al. 2018. Acute Sarcopenia Secondary to Hospitalisation An Emerging Condition Affecting Older Adults. *Aging and Disease* 9(1): 151–64.
- Wen, L. et al. 2017. Association between Grip Strength and Hand and Knee Radiographic Osteoarthritis in Korean Adults: Data from the Dong-Gu Study. *PLoS ONE*: 1–12.
- Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC). 2015. American College of Rheumatology. http://www.rheumatology.org/I-Am-A/Rheumatologist/Research/Clinician-Researchers/Western-Ontario-McMaster-Universities-Osteoarthritis-Index-WOMAC (August 23, 2016).
- Wilkinson, DJ. et al. 2018. The Age-Related Loss of Skeletal Muscle Mass and Function: Measurement and Physiology of Muscle Fibre Atrophy and Muscle Fibre Loss in Humans. *Ageing Research Reviews* 47: 123–32.
- Wong, SL. 2016. Reduced Muscular Strength among Canadians Aged 60 to 79: Canadian Health Measures Survey, 2007 to 2013. (82). http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/82-003x/2016010/article/14666-eng.htm.
- World Health Organization. 2001. The International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- World Health Organization. Body Mass Index BMI. http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/disease-prevention/nutrition/a-healthy-lifestyle/body-mass-index-bmi (October 3, 2018).
- Xie, F. et al. 2016. A Time Trade-off-Derived Value Set of the EQ-5D-5L for Canada. *Medical Care* 54(1): 98–105.
- Yu, S. et al. 2015. An Anthropometric Prediction Equation for Appendicular Skeletal Muscle Mass in Combination with a Measure of Muscle Function to Screen for Sarcopenia in Primary and Aged Care. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association* 16(1): 25– 30. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2014.06.018.
- Zamboni, M. et al. 2008. Sarcopenic Obesity: A New Category of Obesity in the Elderly. *Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases* 18(5): 388–95.
- Zamboni, M. et al. 2019. Sarcopenia and Obesity. *Current Opinion in Clinical Nutrition and Metabolic Care* 22(1): 13–19.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A - Participant Information and Consent

Research Study

Sarcopenia screening and risk assessment in adults with osteoarthritis and obesity

Participant Information Sheet and Consent Form

Principal Investigator:

Dr. Mary Forhan Department of Occupational Therapy University of Alberta, Edmonton AB T6G 2G4 Email: <u>forhan@ualberta.ca</u> Phone: 780-492-0300

Background and Purpose:

Some adults with higher body weight and knee osteoarthritis may have a condition called sarcopenia, where they have lower muscle mass and function than is normally expected. This condition can impact results from osteoarthritis treatments. We would like to find out how many adults with higher body weight and moderate to severe knee osteoarthritis may have sarcopenia. In order to do this, we will use a screening assessment for sarcopenia which involves walking tests, a handgrip strength test, and possibly a body scan to measure the amount of bone, muscle and fat in the body.

Procedures:

If you choose to join in this research study, you will be asked to sign a consent form to participate. For the study, you will be asked to answer some questions about your medical history, weight history, and current medications. You will also be asked to complete some additional tests today:

- A questionnaire about the pain and function you experience related to your knee osteoarthritis. This questionnaire is will take you approximately 5 minutes to complete using an electronic tablet.
- A questionnaire about your general quality of life. This questionnaire will take you approximately 5 minutes to complete using an electronic tablet.
- A walking speed test over a short distance of 4 metres. You will be asked to walk as fast as you are comfortable with. You can use your usual walking aids during this test (i.e. cane, walker). You will be asked to repeat this test two times to get your best measure.
- A handgrip strength test where you will be asked to squeeze a small device that measures the strength of your grip. You will be asked to repeat this test three times to get your best measure.
- A walking distance test that measures the farthest distance you can walk in 6 minutes on

a short roundabout course here at the clinic. You will be able to use your usual walking assistive devices during this test (i.e. cane, walker). You are also able to take as many rest breaks and sit as needed during this assessment. There is no minimum distance you need to walk, and you can stop walking at any time.

Based on the results of the walking and handgrip tests, you may be asked to complete a body scan using Dual Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry (DXA). DXA is a simple test that provides a very accurate measurement of the bone, muscle, and fat in your body. This test uses very low dose x-rays of two different levels to distinguish between bone and soft tissue. DXA is a painless, non-invasive test. The test requires that you put on a hospital gown and lie on an x-ray bed. The scan takes about 5 minutes and is very low dose radiation (equivalence to approximately 1 day of natural background radiation). This dosage is 1000 times less than the limit for trivial exposure, and is classified as a negligible dose according to the standards of the National Council of Radiation Protection and Measurement.

The DXA test will be completed on a separate day at the University of Alberta Human Nutrition Research Unit. Parking is available directly outside the building, and you will be reimbursed for your parking costs while having this test completed. You will be able to schedule a time for this test that is convenient to you. This test will be conducted by a Medical X-ray Technologist. The total time required to complete a body scan is 20 minutes, including the time required to change into the gown, get positioned on the table, and complete the scan.

Potential Benefits:

By participating in this study, you will be able to find out some information about your walking speed, grip strength, and possibly your body composition. You will be able to receive a copy of your body scan if you have it done.

Potential Risks:

There are a few risks to this study. You will be walking, and so changes in blood pressure, heart rate and fainting can happen, and very rarely heart attack or stroke. Someone will be with you at all times during the tests, and trained medical staff and emergency equipment are available in the event of an emergency. There is also a small risk that you will be tired or sore from the walking or grip strength tests. You will be able to decide how fast to walk or exert yourself depending on your ability, so you can rest or pace yourself during the testing to prevent overexertion. The x-ray dose in the DXA scan is very low and safe for repeated measurements. With the exception of pregnant women, there are no known risks associated with a DXA scan. The potential risks associated with radiation exposure to an unborn fetus are not known, and therefore we will ask females that have not completed menopause to undergo a urine sample pregnancy test to verify that they are not pregnant. Having a DXA scan does not make it unsafe for you to have other x-rays taken in the near future.

Stopping the Tests:

You may stop any of the tests at any time without any jeopardy to you.

Confidentiality

Confidentiality will be respected and no information that discloses your identity will be released or published. Your data will be saved in our database using an identification number known only to the research team for the study. The results of the tests will only be disclosed to the researchers and will not be communicated to the staff or clinicians at the Edmonton Musculoskeletal Clinic. The results of this study will not influence or change the care you receive at the clinic. By signing this consent form you are saying it is okay for the study team to collect, use and disclose information from your personal health record for the purpose of this study as described above.

Costs:

There is no cost to you for any of the procedures involved in the study.

Voluntary Participation:

Participation in this study is voluntary. If you choose not to participate, you will continue to access care at the Edmonton Musculoskeletal Clinic. If you choose to participate in this study, you can withdraw from the study at any time. You do not have to give a reason for withdrawing from the study.

Please contact the individual identified below if you have any questions or concerns:Principle Investigator:Mary ForhanPhone: 780-492-0300

The plan for this study has been reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines and approved by the Health Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. For questions regarding participant rights and ethical conduct of research, contact the Research Ethics Office at (780)492-2615.

Research Study

Sarcopenia screening and risk assessment in adults with osteoarthritis and obesity

Consent Form

Principal Investigator:

Dr. Mary Forhan Department of Occupational Therapy University of Alberta, Edmonton AB T6G 2G4 Email: <u>forhan@ualberta.ca</u> Phone: 780-492-0300

	Yes	No
Do you understand that you have been asked to be in a research study?		
Have you read and received a copy of the attached information sheet?		
Do you understand the benefits and risks involved in taking part in this research study?		
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions and discuss this study?		
Do you understand that you are free to leave the study at any time, without having to give a reason and without affecting your future health care?		
Has the issue of confidentiality been explained to you?		
Do you understand who will have access to your records, including personally identifiable health information?		
Who explained this study to you?		
I agree to participate in this study:		
Signature of Research Participant		
Printed		
Name		
Contact phone/email		
Date(DD/MM/YYYY)		

THE INFORMATION SHEET MUST BE ATTACHED TO THIS CONSENT FORM AND A COPY GIVEN TO THE STUDY PARTICIPANT

APPENDIX B - DXA Scan Information and Consent

DXA Scan: Body Composition Testing

Information Sheet

Test Background:

Dual Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry (DXA) is a simple test that provides a very accurate measurement of bone density, lean tissue mass, and total and regional body fat (ie. abdominal body fat). This test uses very low dose x-rays of two different levels to distinguish between bone and soft tissue.

DXA is a painless, non-invasive test. The test requires that you put on a hospital gown and lie on an x-ray bed. The scan takes about 5 minutes and is very low dose radiation (equivalent to approximately 1 day of natural background radiation). This dosage is 1000 times less than the limit for trivial exposure, and is classified as a negligible individual dose according to the standards of the National Council of Radiation Protection and Measurements.

Preparation for the Test:

No special preparation is necessary. Pregnant women and individuals who have recently undergone barium tests/exams (within 2 weeks), or who have had a nuclear medicine scan or been injected with an X-ray dye (within 1 week) cannot have a DXA scan. We ask that you do not wear anything metal (metal may affect bone density values). We will ask you to remove all jewelry.

PREGNANT WOMEN CANNOT PARTICIPATE IN A DXA SCAN. Prior to taking part in the scan, women will be asked to provide a urine sample to verify that they are not pregnant. The pregnancy test that we are using meets WHO guidelines for pregnancy testing, and can detect pregnancy within 1 week after conception. No pregnancy test is, however, 100% accurate, and there is always the possibility of an incorrect result. All results should be confirmed by your physician. You may choose not to undergo this test if you are pre-pubertal (no regular menstrual cycle), taking oral/injection contraceptives, post-menopausal (no menstrual cycle for ≥ 6 months), or if you have had a hysterectomy. All other women must undergo a pregnancy test.

Purpose and Time Commitment:

The purpose of the DXA scan is to assess body composition by quantifying bone, muscle, and fat mass. This information helps researchers to monitor changes in body composition over time. An experienced certified Medical X-Ray Technologist will be conducting the scan. The total time required to complete a total body scan is 20 minutes, including the time required to change into the gown, get positioned on the table and complete the scan. Women will be asked to provide a urine sample for a pregnancy test prior to the DXA scan, and thus the test may take up to 30 minutes.

Potential Benefits

After participating in this DXA scan, you will find out information about your body composition; that is – details about your lean body mass, fat mass and/or bone mass.

Potential Risks

The x-ray dose associated with a total body scan is very low and safe for repeated measurements. With the exception of pregnant women, there are no known risks associated with a DXA scan. The potential risks associated with radiation exposure to an unborn fetus are not known, and therefore we ask that you undergo a pregnancy test to verify that you are not pregnant. Having a DXA scan does not make it unsafe for you to have other x-rays taken in the near future.

Stopping the Test

You may ask the technologist to stop the test at any time without jeopardy to you.

Confidentiality

Your scan will be saved in our database using an identification number known only to the researcher for your study. The results of your scan will only be disclosed to the researcher for your study and will be saved in our database for one year.

DXA Scan: Body Composition Testing

Consent Form

Consent: (Please ci	rcle your answers)				
Sex			Μ	F	
Females: Are you pregnant? Y					
Females: Do you agr	Yes	No			
If No, circle reason:					
	Taking oral/injection	contraceptives			
	Post-menopausal (no	menstrual cycle for ≥ 6 months)			
	Hysterectomy				
Have you had a bariu	Yes	No			
Have you had a nucl	ear medicine scan or in	jection of an X-ray dye in the past we	eek?		
Have you read and re	Yes Yes	No No			
Do you understand the	Yes	No			
Have you had an opp	portunity to ask question	ns and discuss testing procedures?	Yes	No	
Do you understand th why?	hat you can stop the DX	XA testing at any time and that you de	o not ha Yes	ive to say No	
Has confidentiality been explained to you?					
Date		Date of Last Menstrual Period (If	f applic	able)	
Name of Participan	t	Signature of Participant		_	
Name of Witness Signature of Witness					
Name of Investigator Signature of Investigator					

150

APPENDIX C - Participant Information and Map for DXA Scan Appointment

Research Study

Sarcopenia screening and risk assessment in adults with osteoarthritis and obesity

DXA body scan preparation

Dual Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry (DXA) is a simple test that provides a very accurate measurement of the bone, muscle, and fat in your body. This test uses very low dose x-rays of two different levels to distinguish between bone and soft tissue. DXA is a painless, non-invasive test. The test requires that you put on a hospital gown and lie on an x-ray bed. The scan takes about 5 minutes and is very low dose radiation (equivalence to approximately 1 day of natural background radiation). This dosage is 1000 times less than the limit for trivial exposure, and is classified as a negligible dose according to the standards of the National Council of Radiation Protection and Measurement. This test will be conducted by a Medical X-ray Technologist. The total time required to complete a body scan is 20 minutes, including the time required to change into the gown, get positioned on the table, and complete the scan.

The DXA test will be completed at the University of Alberta Human Nutrition Research Unit (HNRU) in the Li Ka Shing Centre for Health Research Innovation. Parking is available directly outside the south side of the building. <u>Do not pay for parking</u>, instead **bring your license plate number up to the clinic** and we will arrange payment for parking costs.

Your appointment will be scheduled to provide time to complete any documentation required and get changed into a gown before the scan.

Your appointment is scheduled for:

Address of HNRU: 2-004 Li Ka Shing Centre, 8602 - 112 Street, Edmonton, Alberta

The building can be accessed by taking 87 Avenue to 112 Street, and turning south onto 112 Street. Then turn right into the parking lot off of 112 St. The main entrance to the Li Ka Shing Centre is on 112 St, and there is a ramp to access the front door. Please take the elevator to the 2nd floor, where the HNRU is located. A map and location of parking is provided on the back side of this page.

Females should drink water ahead of time so you would be able to produce a urine sample for the pregnancy test if required. There will be washrooms available on site to use before your scan.

All metal will need to be removed for the scan (jewelry, watches, bobby pins, etc), so if possible, please leave excess jewelry at home on the day of the scan. If a certain jewelry item cannot be removed, then please let the technician know ahead of time.

Please contact our research team if you have any questions or concerns about your appointment.



APPENDIX D - Participant Demographic Information Form

Sarcopenia screening in osteoarthritis
Study ID # Date //// dd mm yyyy
DEMOGRAPHICS
Date of Birth / / / Age Sex Male Female
Marital Status (please check one)
Never Legally Married Legally Married Separated
Divorced Widowed Living with common law partner
Ethnicity (please check one)
Aboriginal (First Nations/North American Indian, Metis, or Inuk/Inuit)
White Black Filipino Latin American
Chinese Korean Japanese Arab
South Asian (e.g. East Asian, Pakistani, Sri Lankan, etc.)
Southeast Asian (e.g. Vietnamese, Cambodian, Laotian, Thai, etc.)
West Asian (e.g. Iranian, Afghan, etc.) Other, specify
Highest Level of Education (please check one)
Less than high school High school diploma/equivalency certificate
Registered apprentice certificate/diploma
College or non-university certificate/diploma
University certificate/diploma/degree
Current Employment Status (please check one)
Employed full-time Homemaker full-time Employed part-time

Unemployed	On short-term disabilit	y 🗌 On long-term disability
Retired	Other, specify	
Average Household Yearly Inc	ome (please check one)	
Less than \$10,000	> \$10,000	> \$15,000
> \$20,000	> \$25,000	> \$30,000
> \$35,000	> \$40,000	> \$45,000
> \$50,000	> \$60,000	> \$70,000
>\$80,000	> \$90,000	> \$100,000
> \$150,000	> \$200,000	> \$250,000
Living Arrangements (please c	heck one)	
By yourself With	others In a nurs	sing/retirement home
If you are living with others, w	ho are the other household n	nembers?
Spouse/partner Child	ren Parents Gra	ndchildren Grandparents
HEALTH BEHAVIOURS		
Smoking status (please check of	one)	
Non-smoker		
Current smoker (<i>i.e. smo</i>	king within past 12 months)	
Former smoker (i.e. >10	0 cigarettes or 20 cigars in a	ı lifetime)
Alcohol Intake (please check o	ne)	
0 drinks/month	1-15 drinks/month	>15 drinks/month

WEIGHT HISTORY

What was your weight one year ago? lbs or kg (circle) weight stable in past year weight gained in past year weight lost in past year Were you trying to lose weight? Y N If yes, what methods you were using (circle all that apply)? Ate less food (amount) • Switched to foods with lower calories • Ate less fat ٠ Ate fewer carbohydrates • Exercised • Skipped meals • Ate "diet" foods or products ٠ Used a liquid diet formula such as Slimfast or Optifast Joined a weight loss program such as Weight Watchers, Jenny Craig, or TOPS • Followed a special diet such as Atkins, South Beach, other high protein or low carbohydrate diets, • cabbage soup diet, Body for Life Took diet pills prescribed by a doctor • Took other pills, medicines, herbs or supplements not needing a prescription • Started to smoke or began to smoke again • Took laxatives or vomited • Had weight loss surgery Drank a lot of water • Ate more fruits, vegetables, salads ٠ Ate less sugar, candy, sweets • Changed eating habits (didn't eat late at night, ate several small meals a day) • Ate less junk food or fast food Other (specify) Don't know • How many times in your life have you lost 10 lbs or more because you were trying to lose weight? 1 to 2 • 3 to 5 6 to 10 11 times or more

• Never

How much did you weigh 10 years ago? (If don't know exact, what is best guess. If was pregnant, what was

weight before pregnancy) _____lbs or kg (circle)

How much did you weigh at age 25? (If don't know exact, provide best guess)_____ lbs or kg (circle)

How tall were you at age 25? ______ ft/in or cm (circle)

What is the most you have ever weighed? (excluding pregnancy) _____lbs or kg (circle)

How old were you at that time?

Has your family doctor recommended weight loss to help your osteoarthritis? Yes No

MEDICAL CONDITIONS

Has a physician	<i>i ever told you that you had:</i>		Yes	No
Type I diabetes				
Type II diabetes	5			
Dyslipidemia				
Cardiovascular	disease			
Heart failure				
Hypertension				
Chronic obstruc	ctive pulmonary disease (COPD)			
Liver disease (i	e. non-alcoholic fatty liver diseas	e)		
Kidney disease				
Sleep apnea				
Cancer				
Polycystic ovar	ian syndrome (PCOS)			
Other (specify)				
Age at menopaus	se (if occurred)			I
Have you taken l	normone replacement therapy? (pl	ease check one	e)	
No	Yes, currently	Yes	, previously	
MEDICATION	S			
Do you take <u>pres</u>	cription pain medication most day	ys for osteoarth	ritis pain?	
No No	Yes, 1 medication	Yes	, more than	1 medication
Do you take over	r the counter pain medication mos	t days for osted	parthritis pai	in (i.e. Tylenol)?
No	Yes, 1 medication	Yes	, more than	1 medication

List all currently prescribed medications (including statins):

APPENDIX E - Data Collection Form

Sarcopenia screening in osteoarthritis

Study ID #	Date of Te	esting / / / dd mm yyyy	
SURVEYS			
Participant survey completed? Yes N	0		
EQ-5D survey completed? Yes No			
WOMAC survey completed? Yes No			
ANTHROPOMETRICS			
Weightkg Height	cm BMI	kg/m ²	
Waist circumferencecm	cm	_cm Average :	_cm
Hip circumferencecm	cm	_cm Average :	_cm
PHYSICAL FUNCTION ASSESSMENT			
Gait speed (over 4 metres)			
1 st attemptseconds 2 nd atte	mpt	seconds	
Walking assistive aids used? If so, list:			
Grip strength			
Dominant hand: Right Left			
1 st attempt kg 2 nd attempt	kg	3 rd attempt	_kg
Circle highest score			
6 Minute Walk Test			
# of full laps:			
Partial distance:			
Walking assistive aids used? If so, list:			
DXA SCAN date and time booked			

APPENDIX F - Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index

The following questions concern the amount of <u>pain</u> you are currently experiencing in your <u>knee(s)</u>. For each situation, please mark the amount of pain you have experienced in the <u>past 48 hours</u>.

]	How much pain do you have?	None	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Extreme
1.	Walking on a flat surface					
2.	Going up and down stairs					
3.	At night while in bed					
4.	Sitting or lying					
5.	Standing upright					

For the next questions, think about the <u>stiffness</u> (not pain) you have had in your <u>knee(s)</u> in the <u>past 48 hours</u>. Stiffness is a sensation of decreased ease in moving your joint.

	Stiffness	None	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Extreme
6.	How severe is your stiffness after first awakening in the morning?					
7.	How severe is your stiffness after sitting, lying or resting in the day?					

The following questions concern your <u>physical function</u>. By this we mean your ability to move around and to look after yourself. For each of the following activities, please indicate the degree of difficulty you have experienced in the <u>past 48 hours</u> due to your <u>knee(s)</u>.

How much difficulty do you have?	None	Mild	Moderate	Severe	Extreme
8. Descending stairs					
9. Ascending stairs					
10. Rising from sitting					
11. Standing					
12. Bending to the floor					
13. Walking on flat surfaces					
14. Getting in and out of a car/bus					
15. Going shopping					
16. Putting on socks/stockings					
17. Rising from the bed					
18. Taking off socks/stockings					
19. Lying in bed					
20. Getting in or out of the bath					
21. Sitting					
22. Getting on or off the toilet					
23. Performing heavy domestic duties (lawn mowing, lifting heavy items)					
24. Performing light domestic duties (tidying a room, dusting, cooking)					

APPENDIX G - EuroQol Foundation EQ-5D-5L

Under each heading, please tick the ONE box that best describes your health TODAY.

MOBILITY

USUAL ACTIVITIES (e.g. work, study, housework, family or leisure	activities)
I have no problems doing my usual activities	
I have slight problems doing my usual activities	
I have moderate problems doing my usual activities	
I have severe problems doing my usual activities	
I am unable to do my usual activities	
PAIN / DISCOMFORT	
I have no pain or discomfort	
I have slight pain or discomfort	
I have moderate pain or discomfort	
I have severe pain or discomfort	
I have extreme pain or discomfort	
ANXIETY / DEPRESSION	
I am not anxious or depressed	
I am slightly anxious or depressed	
I am moderately anxious or depressed	
I am severely anxious or depressed	
I am extremely anxious or depressed	

The best health you can imagine

- We would like to know how good or bad your health is TODAY.
- This scale is numbered from 0 to 100.
- 100 means the <u>best</u> health you can imagine.
 0 means the <u>worst</u> health you can imagine.
- Mark an X on the scale to indicate how your health is TODAY.
- Now, please write the number you marked on the scale in the box below.

YOUR HEALTH TODAY =